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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Form 10-K of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, other than historical facts, may be considered forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue,”
“predict,” or other similar words identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements appear in a number of places in this report, including 
without limitation, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and include statements regarding our 
intent, belief or current expectation about, among other things, trends affecting the markets in which we operate, our business, financial condition and 
growth strategies. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, 
forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those 
predicted in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including but not limited to those set forth in “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” If any of 
the events described in “Risk Factors” occur, they could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

When considering forward-looking statements, our risk factors, as well as the other cautionary statements in this report and in our Form S-1 
Registration Statement should be kept in mind. Do not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement. We are not obligated to update forward-
looking statements.

3



PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We were organized in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania in 2007 under the name 84 RE Partners, LLC and changed our name to Shepherd’s 
Finance, LLC on December 2, 2011. We converted to a Delaware limited liability company on March 29, 2012. Our business is focused on commercial 
lending to participants in the residential construction and development industry. We believe this market is underserved because of the lack of traditional 
lenders currently participating in the market. We are located in Jacksonville, Florida. Our operations are governed pursuant to our operating agreement.

From 2007 through the majority of 2011, we were the lessor in three commercial real estate leases (which were treated as direct financing leases
for accounting purposes) with an affiliate, 84 Lumber Company. Beginning in late 2011, we began commercial lending to residential homebuilders. Our 
current loan portfolio is described more fully in this section under the sub heading “Our Loan Portfolio Secured by Real Estate.” We have a limited 
operating history as a finance company. We currently have one paid employee, our Vice President of Operations. Our only executive officer is our Chief 
Executive Officer, Daniel M. Wallach. Our Board of Managers is comprised of Mr. Wallach and two independent Managers–Bill Myrick and Kenneth 
R. Summers. Our officers are responsible for our day-to-day operations, while the Board of Managers is responsible for overseeing our business.

The commercial loans we extend are secured by first mortgages on the underlying real estate. We extend and service commercial loans to 
small-to-medium sized homebuilders for the purchase of lots and/or the construction of homes thereon. We also extend and service loans for the 
purchase of undeveloped land and the development of that land into residential building lots. In addition, we may, depending on our cash position and 
the opportunities available to us, do none, any or all of the following: purchase defaulted unsecured debt from suppliers to homebuilders at a discount 
(and then secure that debt with real estate or other collateral), purchase defaulted secured debt from financial institutions at a discount, and purchase real 
estate in which we will operate our business.

Our Chief Executive Officer, Daniel M. Wallach, has been in the housing industry since 1985. He was the CFO of a multi-billion dollar 
supplier of building materials to home builders for 11 years. He also was responsible for that company’s lending business for 20 years. During those 
years, he was responsible for the creation and implementation of many secured lending programs to builders. Some of these were performed fully by that 
company, and some were performed in partnership with banks. In general, the creation of all loans, and the resolution of defaulted loans, was his 
responsibility whether the loans were company loans or loans in partnership with banks. Through these programs, he was responsible for the creation of 
$2 billion in loans which generated interest spread of $50 million after deducting for loan losses. Through the years, he managed the development of 
systems for reducing and managing the risks and losses on defaulted loans. Mr. Wallach also was responsible for that company’s unsecured debt to 
builders, which reached over $300 million at its peak. He also gained experience in securing defaulted unsecured debt at that company.

To fund our business, we have three sources of capital - senior secured borrowings; our Notes offering, in which we are offering to the public 
up to $700 million of Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes pursuant to a Form S-1 Registration Statement (SEC File No. 333-181360), and other unsecured 
borrowings; and equity capital. We intend to advertise to solicit investors for our Notes offering using primarily, but not limited to, print advertising. 
This advertising is expected to commence in the first quarter of 2013.

Investment Objectives and Opportunity

Background and Strategy

Finance markets are highly fragmented, with numerous large, mid-size and small lenders and investment companies, such as banks, savings and 
loan associations, credit unions, insurance companies and institutional lenders, all competing for investment opportunities. Many of these market 
participants have experienced, as a result of the current credit environment, losses over the last six years from this type of lending, and, as a result of 
credit losses and restrictive government oversight, are not participating in this market to the extent they had before the credit crisis (as evidenced by the 
general lack of availability of construction financing and the higher cost of financing for the few deals actually done). We believe that these lenders will 
be unable to satisfy the current demand for residential construction financing, creating attractive opportunities for niche lenders such as us for many 
years to come. Additionally, while we believe the current credit environment will be temporary, we believe the many participants in the finance markets 
will significantly alter their lending standards (including percentages loaned on collateral value, cash required up front from the builder, and the number 
of speculatively built homes allowed at any given time), which will also create attractive, long-term opportunities for us. Our goal is not to be a 
customer’s only source of commercial lending, but an extra, more user-friendly piece of their financing.

We create and service construction loans differently than most lenders have done in the past, in that we:

 Focus on long term lending relationships with customers, and only on this type of lending;

 Are a specialist in this type of lending;
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We believe that while creating speculative construction loans is a high risk venture, the reduction in competition, the differences in our lending 
versus typical bank lending (listed above); and our loss mitigation techniques (covered below) will all help to make this a profitable business.

The housing market has recently been plagued by declining values and a lack of housing starts. We believe that, despite the resulting issues in 
the speculative construction industry, it is a good time for this type of lending because:

Additionally, most financial institutions are highly regulated. In exchange for that regulation, they offer FDIC insurance to their investors. We 
are not highly regulated, nor do we offer FDIC insurance to our investors. While we are subject to some regulation, such as anti-terrorism and 
commercial lending laws, currently, we are not subject to consumer lending rules or federal banking regulations. We believe this provides us with the 
opportunity to learn from the positive aspects of banking regulations while avoiding costly regulatory compliance.

Since we are not a tightly regulated company, we feel that we have a competitive edge that allows us to make prudent, business-minded 
decisions. While regulators are restricting investments by regulated financial institutions in commercial construction loans, our business plan emphasizes 
commercial construction lending as our main line of business. We believe this to be an opportunity as the regulatory environment and resulting 
contraction in commercial lending has resulted in this segment of the market having fewer lenders. We also believe the real estate market recently 
reached historically low levels, and feel, based on recent data relating to housing starts and home values, that the market has stabilized and is beginning 
to recover. Finally, while we have instituted many of the underwriting requirements and activities used by regulated financial institutions, we believe 
being unregulated provides us with more flexibility in our underwriting process and procedures.

 Intend to have a national footprint for lending without having the overhead of a national footprint of branches;

 Generally use appraisers who are experts in the specific market (rather than simply using the cheapest or most readily available);

 Will work out defaulted loans with the same person that created that loan, which will help both control the creation of bad loans, and the 
losses on bad loans;

 Will pursue customers with defaulted loans faster and more aggressively than typical lenders; and

 While pursuing those customers, will offer creative solutions to help them sell their home while in default (such as offering cash 
allowances for the purchase of furniture or appliances or paying extra up-front costs on behalf of the buyers in order to lower their 
mortgage interest rates and monthly payments).

 Many traditional lenders to this market have exited or cut back, reducing competition and allowing large spreads (the difference between 
our cost of funds and the rate we charge our borrowers). Better builders can be obtained as customers, with higher spreads;

 The number of housing starts and the value of homes built are both low but improving. We believe that we were recently at the bottom of 
the housing cycle, and it is likely that housing starts and values will both increase over time. Increases in both of these items should have a 
positive effect on our performance;

 There are fixed costs involved in running this kind of operation, such as some payroll and the costs of being subject to public company 
reporting requirements. These require a fixed interest rate spread in dollars to cover these costs. Because insured financial institution 
deposit rates are at historic lows, we hope to be able to attract enough funds to reach this required spread before these rates go up, and 
before competition significantly increases on our lending; and

 We do various things to try to mitigate the risks inherent in this type of lending by:

o Keeping the loan-to-value ratio, or LTV, between 60% and 75% on a portfolio basis, however, individual loans may, from time to 
time, have a greater LTV;

o Generally using deposits from the builder on home construction loans to ensure the completion of the home. Lending losses on 
defaulted loans are usually a higher percentage when the home is not built, or is only partially built;

o Having a higher yield than other forms of secured real estate lending;

o Paying major subcontractors and suppliers directly, which reduces the frequency of liens on the property (liens generally hurt the 
net realized value of loss mitigation techniques);

o Aggressively working with builders who are in default on their loan before and during foreclosure. This technique generally yields 
a reduced realized loss; and

o Market grading. We review all lending markets, analyzing their historic housing start cycles. Then, the current position of housing 
starts is examined in each market. Markets are classified into volatile, average, or stable, and then graded based on that 
classification and our opinion of where the market is in its housing cycle. This grading is then used to determine the builder 
deposit amount, the LTV, and the yield.
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Outside of differences in our lending policies, we believe the benefits to not being regulated include:

In addition, our Note holders will have greater risks than depositors in a regulated financial institution, since their investments will not be 
insured.

To help mitigate the risks associated with not being regulated, we:

So, while we, in our opinion, improve on some policies and procedures historically used by banks, which we would not be able to do if we were 
regulated, we follow many of the policies and procedures set up by the various bank regulators. We believe this balanced approach helps us mitigate risk 
while providing us the opportunity to enter into what we believe to be an underserved market. One example of an improvement on a policy historically 
used by banks is appraiser selection. Many times banks use a random process to select an appraiser, or a process which uses a middle man. We generally 
select one of the most qualified appraisers in the specific portion of the market in which we are having the appraisal prepared. We believe this provides 
for a more consistent result. Another example is geographic diversity. Banks generally do not lend outside of their branch footprint. This does not give 
regional or local banks enough exposure to most of the United States, but gives them too much exposure in a smaller area. We are not constrained by the 
policies that prevent better geographic diversity.

Our loans will likely be marketed by lending representatives who work for us and are driven to maintain long-term customer relationships. As 
of December 31, 2012, we have retained only one employee in addition to our Chief Executive Officer. Hiring and retaining high quality lending 
representatives should not be difficult in the short-term banking environment, where construction loan officers will have a hard time finding and keeping 
employment with traditional lenders. In his previous experience, our Chief Executive Officer had a nationwide staff of 20 lenders working in the field. 
Compensation will be focused on the profitability of loans originated, not simply the volume of loans originated.

While our business has initially been focused on transactions originating in the Pittsburgh area, we expect to expand into other geographic 
regions over time as we build or acquire market expertise that will allow us to successfully finance transactions in those areas. Our goal is to market our 
loans on a nationwide basis. We believe that this goal can only be achieved with sufficient funds from our Notes offering. Currently, our loan portfolio 
consists of loans made to one customer, but, as we grow our loan assets, we intend to diversify our customer base.

 our ability to better manage our outflow of funds because our Notes have a stated term. Banks must offer demand deposit accounts 
(checking accounts) and other accounts, which provide that funds can be withdrawn at any time;

 avoiding FDIC insurance and other regulatory fees;

 not being subject to the Community Reinvestment Act; and

 eventually having less leverage than a bank.

Conversely, our lack of regulation introduces us to other risks which may harm us. For example:

 we are not well diversified in our product risk;

 we cannot benefit from government programs designed to protect regulated financial institutions;

 we are not subject to periodic examinations by federal or state banking regulators; and

 our cost of funds is higher.

 follow many of the same underwriting principals historically used by banks, including:

o Collateralizing loans;

o Using LTV’s to control risk;

o Controlling the number of loans in one subdivision;

o Underwriting appraisals; and

o Conducting property inspections;

 maintain loan files which will, generally, contain similar information as a bank loan file;

 secure our loans with mortgages and other documents like banks do; and

 monitor many of the same ratios bank regulators monitor.
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Lines of Business

We seek to create a portfolio that includes some or all of the following investment characteristics: (i) provides current income; (ii) is well 
secured by residential real estate; (iii) is short term in nature; and (iv) provides high interest spreads. While we primarily intend to provide commercial 
construction loans to homebuilders (for residential real estate), we may also purchase defaulted unsecured debt from suppliers to homebuilders at a 
discount (and then secure that debt with real estate or other collateral), purchase defaulted secured debt from financial institutions at a discount, and 
purchase real estate in which we will operate our business. Our investment policies may be amended or changed at any time by our Board of Managers.

Commercial Construction Loans to Homebuilders

We plan on extending and servicing commercial loans to small-to-medium sized homebuilders for the purchase of lots and/or the construction 
of homes thereon. We also extend and service loans for the purchase of undeveloped land and the development of that land into residential building lots. 
Most of the loans will be for “spec homes” or “spec lots,” meaning they are built or developed speculatively (with no specific end-user home owner in 
mind). The loans are secured, and the collateral is the land, lots, and constructed items thereon, as well as additional collateral, as we deem appropriate. 
Generally, our loans are secured by a first priority mortgage lien; however, we may make loans secured by a second or other lower priority mortgage 
lien. The loans are demand loans, but the typical length of a home construction loan will range between six months and two years and is expected to 
average 10 months; the typical length of a development project ranges between three and six years. Larger developments are usually developed in 
phases.

In a typical home construction transaction, a homebuilder obtains a loan to purchase a lot and build a home on that lot. In some cases the builder
has a contract with a customer to purchase the home upon its completion. In other cases, the home is built as a spec home, meaning there is no specific 
customer it is being built for, but the homebuilder believes it will sell before or shortly after completion, and that therefore building the home before it is 
under contract will increase the homebuilder’s sales and profitability. The builder may also believe that the construction of a spec home will increase the 
number of contract sales he will have in a given year, as it may be easier to sell contract homes when the customer can see the builder’s work in the spec 
home. In some cases, these speculatively built homes are constructed with the intention to keep them as a model for a period of time, to increase contract 
sales, and then be sold. These are called model homes. While we may lend to a homebuilder for any of these types of new construction homes, we 
believe that we will generally be lending on spec homes.

In a typical development transaction, a homebuilder/developer purchases a specific parcel or parcels of land. Developers must secure financing 
in order to pay the purchase price for the land as well as to pay expenses incurred while developing the lots. This is the financing we provide. Once 
financing has been secured, the lot developers create individual lots. Developers secure permits allowing the property to be developed and then design 
and build roads and utility systems for water, sewer, gas and electricity to service the property. The individual lots are then sold before a home is built on 
them; paid off, built on and then sold; or built on, then sold and paid off (in these cases, we may subordinate our loan to the home construction loan). 
Our current loan portfolio is made up of development loans and is more fully described in “Our Loan Portfolio Secured By Real Estate” in this section.

We fund the loans we originate using available cash resources that are generated primarily from borrowings, net operating cash flow and 
proceeds of the Notes.

There is a seasonal aspect to home construction, and this affects monthly cash flow. In general, since the home construction loans we create will 
last 10 months on average, and since we intend to be geographically diverse, we expect the seasonality impact to be somewhat mitigated, if we are 
successful.

We expect that our real estate loans will be secured by one or more of the following:

 the parcels of land to be developed;

 finished lots;

 model homes and new single-family homes;

 a pledge of some or all of the equity interests in the borrower entity or other parent entity that owns the borrower entity;

 additional assets of the borrower, including parcels of undeveloped and developed real property; and

 in certain cases, personal guarantees of the principals of the borrower entity.

7



Our Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the oversight of all aspects of our commercial construction loan business, including:

Our customers are typically small-to-medium sized home builders that are currently building in the markets in which we will lend to them. 
Generally, they benefit from doing business with us not just because they are able to sell additional homes (which we finance), but because as they build 
additional homes, they are able to increase homes that are built as contracted homes, where the eventual home owner supplies the loan. Builders 
generally have more success selling homes when a model or spec home is available for customers to see. We anticipate that most of our lending will be 
based on the following general policies:

We may change these policies at any time based on then-existing market conditions or otherwise, at the discretion of our Chief Executive 
Officer and Board of Managers.

Purchases and Securitization of Unsecured Debt from Suppliers to Homebuilders 

Homebuilders generally buy their construction materials from building supply companies, which offer unsecured credit lines for these 
purchases. Sometimes the builder is unable to pay the principal on their line of credit when due, and in a small percentage of these cases, the builder 
owns unencumbered real estate. When this is the case, the building supply company may convert the unsecured line of credit to secured, using this real 
estate as security. In some of these situations, the building supply company is unwilling to complete this type of transaction, and is willing to take a 
payment of a percentage of the balance of the unsecured line as full payment. If we pay the building supply company a percentage of this debt, and then 
take the real estate as collateral for the whole amount of the original debt, management’s experience indicates we will be able to eventually collect from 
the builder, or from the sale of the property through foreclosure or otherwise, creating a profit for ourselves. We have not completed any of these 
transactions, but may choose to do so if the opportunity presents itself.

 closing and recording of mortgage documents;

 collecting principal and interest payments;

 enforcing loan terms and other borrower’s requirements;

 periodic review of each loan file; and

 exercising our remedies in connection with defaulted or non-performing loans.

Customer Type Small-to-Medium Size Homebuilders
Loan Type Commercial
Loan Purpose Construction of Homes or Development of Lots
Security Homes, Lots, and/or Land
Priority Generally, our loans will be secured by a first priority mortgage lien; however, we may make 

loans secured by a second or other lower priority mortgage lien.
Loan-to-Value Averages 60-75%
Loan Amounts Average home construction loan $200,000, development loans vary greatly 
Term Demand
Rate Cost of Funds plus 2%, minimum rate of 7%
Origination Fee 5% for home construction loans, development loans on a case by case basis
Title Insurance Only on high loan risks
Hazard Insurance Only on high loan risks
General Liability Insurance Always
Credit Builder should have significant building experience in the market, be building in the market 

currently, be able to make payments of interest, be able to make the required deposit,  have 
acceptable personal credit, and have open lines of credit (unsecured) with suppliers reasonably 
within terms.  We will generally not advertise to find customers, but will use our loan 
representatives.  We believe this approach will allow us to focus our efforts on builders that 
meet our acceptable risk profile.

Third Party Guarantor None
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Purchases of Defaulted Secured Debt from Financial Institutions

Many financial institutions made loans to homebuilders when lot and home values were higher than they are today. In many cases, these loans 
defaulted, and eventually these loans result in collateral foreclosure. After the foreclosure proceeding, the properties usually become the property of the 
financial institution, which then sells the property, generally at a loss. While the loan is in the foreclosure process, and after the process while the real 
estate is owned and for sale, the bank holds a nonperforming asset. Sometimes these nonperforming assets negatively impact the banks’ profitability and 
regulatory ratios. Some banks choose to cleanse their books of these items at a severe loss, allowing them to, while taking a loss, get back to their 
commercial lending business. There are opportunities to purchase some portfolios of defaulted loans, and/or real estate owned through foreclosure at 
deep discounts compared to the actual value of the property. We have not completed any of these transactions, but may choose to do so if the opportunity
presents itself.

Purchases of Real Estate

In limited circumstances, the commercial construction loans described above may result in us owning commercial real property as a result of a 
loan workout, foreclosure or similar circumstances. In addition, although making direct investments in commercial real property at this time will not be a 
significant focus of our investment strategy, we may make investments in commercial real property in which we operate. We intend to manage and 
dispose of any real property assets we acquire in the manner that our management determines is most advantageous to us. We have not completed any of 
these transactions, but may choose to do so if the opportunity presents itself.

Our Loan Portfolio Secured by Real Estate

Our assets are generally cash and loans receivable. From 2007 through September 2011, our assets were commercial real estate leases. We were 
the lessor in three commercial real estate leases (which were treated as direct financing leases for accounting purposes) with an affiliate, 84 Lumber 
Company. The lessee had purchase options, which were eventually exercised in May and September 2011, thereby terminating the leases. From 
September 2011 through December 30, 2011, our only asset was cash, which we held waiting for the creation of new loans.

On December 30, 2011, pursuant to a credit agreement by and between us, Benjamin Marcus Homes, LLC (“BMH”), Investor’s Mark 
Acquisitions, LLC (“IMA”) and Mark L. Hoskins (“Hoskins”) (collectively, the “Hoskins Group”) (the “Credit Agreement”), we originated two new 
loan assets, one to BMH as borrower (the “BMH Loan”) and one to IMA as borrower (the “New IMA Loan”). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement and 
simultaneously with the origination of the BMH Loan and the New IMA Loan, we also assumed the position of lender on an existing loan to IMA (the 
“Existing IMA Loan”) and assumed the position of borrower on another existing loan in which IMA serves as the lender (the “SF Loan”). When we 
assumed the position of the lender on the Existing IMA Loan, we purchased a loan which was originated by the borrower’s former lender, and assumed 
that lender’s position in the loan and maintained the recorded collateral position in the loan. The borrower’s former lender and the seller of the property 
securing the BMH Loan are the same party, 84 Financial L.P., an affiliate of 84 Lumber Company. The BMH Loan, the New IMA Loan and the Existing 
IMA Loan are all cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with each other. Further, IMA and Hoskins serve as guarantors of the BMH Loan, and BMH 
and Hoskins serve as guarantors of the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan. The terms and conditions of these loans are set forth in further detail 
below. During 2012, we serviced the Hoskins Group loans. In 2013, we anticipate using proceeds from the Notes and other sources to generate 
additional loans, mostly spec home construction loans.

BMH Loan

The BMH Loan is a revolving demand loan in the original principal amount of up to $4,164,000, of which $3,568,000 was funded at closing. 
We collected a fee of $750,000 upon closing of the BMH Loan, which fee was funded from proceeds of the loan. Additionally, $450,000 of the loan 
proceeds was allocated to an interest escrow account (the “Interest Escrow”). Interest on the BMH Loan accrues annually at 2% plus the greater of (i) 
5.0% or (ii) the weighted average price paid by us on or in connection with all of our borrowed funds (such weighted average price includes interest 
rates, loan fees, legal fees and any and all other costs paid by us on our borrowed funds, and, in the case of funds borrowed by us from our affiliates, the 
weighted average price paid by such affiliate on or in connection with such borrowed funds). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, interest payments on the 
BMH Loan are funded from the Interest Escrow, with any shortfall funded by BMH. Payments of principal on the BMH Loan are due upon our demand 
and in accordance with the payment schedule and other terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement obligates BMH to 
make payoffs to us in varying amounts upon the sale or transfer of, or obtaining construction financing for, all or a portion of the property securing the 
BMH Loan. The BMH Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty; provided, however, that prepayments will not relieve BMH 
of its obligation to continue to make payments on the BMH Loan as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The BMH Loan is secured by a first priority mortgage in residential property consisting of building lots (four as of December 31, 2012), and an 
unimproved parcel of land of approximately 34 acres, all located in the subdivision commonly known as the Hamlets of Springdale in Peters Township, 
Pennsylvania, a suburb of Pittsburgh, as well as the Interest Escrow. The borrower currently intends to develop the property for residential use, including 
the construction of homes thereon. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the borrower is required to maintain adequate general liability insurance covering 
both its business and its properties, and is required to provide us 30 days’ advance notice of the termination of any such policy of insurance. The seller of 
the property securing the BMH Loan has retained a second mortgage in the amount of $400,000, with a balance of approximately $351,000 as of 
December 31, 2012.
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Existing IMA Loan

The Existing IMA Loan is a demand loan in the original principal amount of $1,686,767, of which $1,686,767 was outstanding on both 
December 31, 2012 and 2011. Interest on the Existing IMA Loan accrues annually at a rate of 7.0%. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, interest payments 
on the Existing IMA Loan are funded from the Interest Escrow, with any shortfall funded by IMA. Payments of principal on the Existing IMA Loan are 
due upon the earlier of our demand or the satisfaction in full of the indebtedness related to the BMH Loan and the New IMA Loan. The Credit 
Agreement obligates IMA to make payoffs to us in varying amounts upon the sale or transfer of, or obtaining construction financing for, all or a portion 
of the property securing the Existing IMA Loan. The Existing IMA Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty; provided, 
however, that prepayments will not relieve IMA of its obligation to continue to make payments on the Existing IMA Loan as set forth in the Credit 
Agreement.

The Existing IMA Loan is secured by a mortgage in the residential property that also secures the New IMA Loan, which is described in more 
detail below.

New IMA Loan

The New IMA Loan is a demand loan in the original principal amount of up to $2,225,000, of which $250,000 was funded at closing. We 
collected a fee of $250,000 upon closing of the New IMA Loan, which was funded from proceeds of the loan. Interest on the New IMA Loan accrues 
annually at 2.0% plus the greater of (i) 5.0% or (ii) the weighted average price paid by us on or in connection with all of our borrowed funds (such 
weighted average price includes interest rates, loan fees, legal fees and any and all other costs paid by us on our borrowed funds, and, in the case of 
funds borrowed by us from our affiliates, the weighted average price paid by such affiliate on or in connection with such borrowed funds). Pursuant to 
the Credit Agreement, interest payments on the New IMA Loan are funded from the Interest Escrow, with any shortfall funded by IMA. Payments of 
principal on the New IMA Loan are due upon our demand and in accordance with the payment schedule and other terms and conditions set forth in the 
Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement obligates IMA to make payoffs to us in varying amounts upon the sale or transfer of, or obtaining construction 
financing for, all or a portion of the property securing the New IMA Loan. The New IMA Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without 
penalty; provided, however, that prepayments will not relieve IMA of its obligation to continue to make payments on the New IMA Loan as set forth in 
the Credit Agreement.

The New IMA Loan is secured by a mortgage in residential property consisting of approximately 54 acres of undeveloped land, all located in 
the subdivision commonly known as the Tuscany Subdivision in Peters Township, Pennsylvania, a suburb of Pittsburgh. The borrower currently intends 
to develop the property for residential use, including the construction of homes thereon. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the borrower is required to 
maintain adequate general liability insurance covering both its business and its properties, and is required to provide us 30 days’ advance notice of the 
termination of any such policy of insurance. The property securing the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan is subject to a mortgage in the 
amount of $1,290,000 which is held by an unrelated third party and is subordinate to our mortgage, as described further below. In connection with the 
closing of the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan, the holder of this mortgage entered into an agreement to amend, restate and further 
subordinate such mortgage. This subordination agreement also provides that, in the event of a foreclosure on and liquidation of the property securing the 
New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan, we are entitled to receive liquidation proceeds up to $2,225,000, which excludes the collateral securing the 
BMH Loan, at which point the holder of the subordinate mortgage is entitled to receive liquidation proceeds up to the amount necessary to satisfy its 
outstanding mortgage, and we are then entitled to any remainder of the liquidation proceeds. Development of this property commenced in December of 
2012.

SF Loan

The SF Loan, under which we are the borrower, is an unsecured loan in the original principal amount of $1,500,000, of which $1,500,000 was 
outstanding on both December 31, 2012 and 2011. Interest on the SF Loan accrues annually at a rate of 5.0%. Payments of interest only are due on a 
monthly basis, with the principal amount due on the date that the BMH Loan and the New IMA Loan are paid in full. We may prepay the SF Loan in 
part or in full at any time without penalty, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the underlying promissory note. Pursuant to the Credit 
Agreement, payments on the SF Loan are used to fund the Interest Escrow. Further, pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Commercial Pledge 
Agreement by and between us, IMA and BMH, IMA has pledged its interest in the SF Loan as collateral for IMA’s obligations under the New IMA 
Loan and the Existing IMA Loan. The SF Loan was created to both increase our net interest income, and to better secure the BMH Loan.
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Interest Escrow

To the extent the balance is available in the Interest Escrow, interest due on the BMH Loan, New IMA Loan, and Existing IMA Loan is 
deducted from the Interest Escrow on the date due. The Interest Escrow is increased by 10% of lot payoffs on the same loans, and by interest on the SF 
Loan. All of these transactions are noncash to the extent that the total escrow amount does not need additional funding. The Interest Escrow is also used 
to contribute to the reduction of the $400,000 subordinated mortgage upon certain lot sales of the collateral of the BMH Loan. In the twelve month 
period ended December 31, 2012, the Interest Escrow was reduced by $341,000 for interest on the BMH Loan, New IMA Loan, and the Existing IMA 
Loan, and $18,000 to reduce the balance on the $400,000 subordinated mortgage. The Interest Escrow was increased by $69,000 for interest on the SF 
Loan and $169,000 from lot payoffs. The balance of the interest escrow at December 31, 2012 was $329,000.

Initial Funding

On December 30, 2011 we purchased the Existing IMA Loan from the original lender with a cash payment of $186,000 and the assumption of 
that lender’s obligations under the SF Loan. We also loaned our borrower $2,368,000 in funded cash for its purchase of the land and lots securing the 
BMH Loan. Our borrower’s loan balances were increased by the $750,000 loan fee on the BMH Loan, the $250,000 loan fee on the New IMA Loan, and 
the $450,000 Interest Escrow, all of which were funded with loan proceeds (not funded with cash).

As of December 31, 2012, the details of our loan portfolio were as follows:

(All dollar [$] amounts shown in thousands.)

*These are the stated terms; however, in practice, we anticipate that principal will be repaid upon the sale of each developed lot.
**These are the stated terms; however, in practice, we anticipate that principal will be repaid upon the sale of each developed lot after the BMH Loan 
and the New IMA Loan are satisfied.

Competition

Historically, our industry has been highly competitive. We compete for opportunities with numerous public and private investment vehicles, 
including financial institutions, specialty finance companies, mortgage banks, pension funds, opportunity funds, hedge funds, REITs and other 
institutional investors, as well as individuals. Many competitors are significantly larger than us, have well established operating histories and may have 
greater access to capital, resources and other advantages over us. These competitors may be willing to accept lower returns on their investments or to 
modify underwriting standards and, as a result, our origination volume and profit margins could be adversely affected.

Item Term Interest Rate
Funded to 
borrower

Collateral 
amount

BMH Loan Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor)
4 Lots and land for phases 3, 4, and 5 $ 1,095 $ 2,385
Interest Escrow 450 329
Loan Fee 750 –

Total BMH Loan 2,295 2,714
IMA Loans

New IMA Loan (all loan fee) Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor) 250 –
New IMA Loan (advances) Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor) 80 –
Existing IMA Loan Demand** 7% 1,687 1,910

Total IMA Loans 2,017 1,910

Unearned loan fee (708) –
SF Loan – 1,500
Total $ 3,604 $ 6,124
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We believe that this is a good time to extend commercial loans to builders in the residential real estate market because, currently, this market 
appears underserved, home values are low, and many of our competitors have sustained losses due to declines in home values and, therefore, are 
reluctant to lend in this space at this time. We expect our loans to be different than other lenders in the markets in which we are active. Typically the 
differences are:

Regulatory Matters

Financial Regulation

Our operations are not subject to the stringent regulatory requirements imposed upon the operations of commercial banks, savings banks, and 
thrift institutions, and are not subject to periodic compliance examinations by federal or state banking regulators.

Further, our Notes are not certificates of deposit or similar obligations or guaranteed by any depository institution and are not insured by the 
FDIC or any governmental or private insurance fund, or any other entity.

The Investment Company Act of 1940

An investment company is defined under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”) to include any issuer 
engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities. Absent an exemption, investment companies are required to register 
as such with the SEC and to comply with various governance and operational requirements. If we were considered an “investment company” within the 
meaning of the Investment Company Act, we would be subject to numerous requirements and restrictions relating to our structure and operation. If we 
were required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act and to comply with these requirements and restrictions, we may 
have to make significant changes in our proposed structure and operations to comply with exemption from registration, which could adversely affect our 
business. Such changes may include, for example, limiting the range of assets in which we may invest. We intend to conduct our operations so as to fit 
within an exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act for purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and 
interest in real estate. In order to satisfy the requirements of such exemption, we may need to restrict the scope of our operations.

Environmental Compliance

We do not believe that compliance with federal, state, or local laws relating to the protection of the environment will have a material effect on 
our business in the foreseeable future. However, loans we extend or purchase are secured by real property. In the course of our business, we may own or 
foreclose and take title to real estate that could be subject to environmental liabilities with respect to these properties. We (or our loan customers) may be 
held liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for property damage, personal injury, investigation and clean-up costs incurred by these parties in 
connection with environmental contamination or may be required to investigate or clean up hazardous or toxic substances or chemical release at a 
property. The costs associated with the investigation or remediation activities could be substantial. In addition, if we become the owner of or discover 
that we were formerly the owner of a contaminated site, we may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting 
from environmental contamination emanating from the property. To date, we have not incurred any significant costs related to environmental 
compliance and we do not anticipate incurring any significant costs for environmental compliance in the future. Generally, when we are lending on 
property which is being developed into single family building lots, an environmental assessment is done by the builder for the various governmental 
agencies. When we lend for new construction on newly developed lots, the lots have generally been reviewed while they were being developed. We also 
perform our own physical inspection of the lot, which includes assessing potential environmental issues. Before we take possession of a property through
foreclosure, we again assess the property for possible environmental concerns, which, if deemed to be a significant risk compared to the value of the 
property, could cause us to forego foreclosure on the property and to seek other avenues for collection.

 our loans may have a higher fee;

 our loans may include an interest free period (whereas other lenders typically charge interest); and

 some of our loans may have lower costs as a result of not requiring title or hazard insurance.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Below are risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our operations that we believe are material to investors. Other risks and 
uncertainties may exist that we do not consider material based on the information currently available to us at this time. 

Risks Related to Our Structure

Payment on the Notes is subordinate to the payment of our outstanding present and future senior debt. Since there is no limit on the amount of 
senior debt we may incur, our present and future senior debt may make it difficult to repay the Notes.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $1,108,091 of senior debt outstanding. The Notes are subordinate and junior in priority to any and all of our 
senior debt and equal to any and all non-senior debt, including other Notes. There are no restrictions in the indenture regarding the amount of senior debt 
or other indebtedness that we may incur. Upon the maturity of our senior debt, by lapse of time, acceleration or otherwise, the holders of our senior debt 
have first right to receive payment, in full, prior to any payments being made to our Note holders or to other non-senior debt. Therefore, upon such 
maturity of our senior debt,our Note holders would only be repaid in full if the senior debt is satisfied first and, following satisfaction of the senior debt, 
if there is an amount sufficient to fully satisfy all amounts owed under the Notes and any other non-senior debt.

If we are unable to raise substantial funds, we will be limited in our ability to diversify the loans we make, and our ability to repay the Notes that 
have been sold will be dependent on the performance of the specific loans we make. 

We are conducting this offering of Notes ourselves without any underwriter or placement agent. We have no experience in conducting a notes 
offering or any other securities offering. Although we intend to sell up to the maximum offering amount of the Notes, there is no minimum amount of 
proceeds that must be received from the sale of the Notes in order to accept proceeds from Notes actually sold. As a result, the amount of proceeds we 
raise in this offering may be substantially less than the amount we would need to achieve a broadly diversified portfolio of loans. If we are unable to 
raise a substantial amount of funds, we will make fewer loans, resulting in less diversification in terms of the number of loans we make, the borrowers 
on such loans, and the geographic regions in which our collateral is located. In such event, the likelihood of our profitability being affected by the 
performance of any one of our loans will increase. Our ability to repay the Notes will be subject to greater risk to the extent that we lack a diversified 
portfolio of loans.

We are controlled by Daniel M. Wallach, as, currently, he is our only executive officer and beneficially owns all of our outstanding membership 
interests.

Daniel M. Wallach, our Chief Executive Officer (who is also on our Board of Managers) constructively or beneficially owns all of the equity 
interests in our Company. As our only executive officer, Mr. Wallach is responsible for all aspects of our day-to-day operations. Though the approval of 
the independent Managers is required for all affiliate transactions, Mr. Wallach will, nonetheless, be able to exercise significant control over our affairs 
as the independent Managers may be removed by a vote of holders of 80% of our outstanding voting membership interests.

If we lose or are unable to hire or retain key personnel, we may be delayed or unable to implement our business plan, which would adversely affect 
our ability to repay the Notes.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of Daniel M. Wallach, our Chief Executive Officer and Manager. We do not 
have an employment agreement with Mr. Wallach and cannot guarantee that he will remain affiliated with us. If he were to cease his affiliation with us, 
our operating results would suffer. We believe that our future success depends, in part, upon our ability to hire and retain additional personnel. We 
cannot assure our Note holders that we will be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel, which could hinder our ability to implement our 
business plan.

We are an “emerging growth company” under the federal securities laws and will be subject to reduced public company reporting requirements.

In April 2012, President Obama signed into law the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act. We are an “emerging growth 
company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from, or reduced disclosure obligations relating to, 
various reporting requirements that are normally applicable to public companies.

We will remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of (1) the last day of the first fiscal year in which we have total annual gross 
revenues of $1 billion or more, (2) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our common equity 
securities pursuant to an effective registration statement, (3) the date on which we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the 
Exchange Act (which would occur if the market value of our common equity held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million, measured as of the last 
business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, and we have been publicly reporting for at least 12 months) or (4) the date on which 
we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three-year period. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies 
are not required to (1) provide an auditor’s attestation report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (2) comply with new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board, or the PCAOB, which require mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor must provide additional 
information about the audit and the issuer’s financial statements, (3) comply with new audit rules adopted by the PCAOB after April 5, 2012 (unless the 
SEC determines otherwise), (4) provide certain disclosures relating to executive compensation generally required for larger public companies or (5) hold 
shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation.
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Additionally, the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” may take advantage of an extended transition period for complying 
with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies. This means an “emerging growth 
company” can delay adopting certain accounting standards until such standards are otherwise applicable to private companies. We intend to take 
advantage of such extended transition period. Since we will not be required to comply with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on 
which adoption of such standards is required for other public companies, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of 
companies that comply with public company effective dates. If we were to subsequently elect to instead comply with these public company effective 
dates, such election would be irrevocable pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act.

If we are unable to meet our Note maturity and redemption obligations, and we are unable to obtain additional financing or other sources of capital, 
we may be forced to sell off our operating assets or we might be forced to cease our operations, and our Note holders could lose some or all of their 
investments.

                Our Notes have maturities ranging from one year to four years.  In addition, holders of our Notes may request redemption upon 
death.  We intend to pay our Note maturity and redemption obligations using our normal cash sources, such as collections on our loans to customers, as 
well as proceeds from the sale of the Notes.  We may experience periods in which our Note maturity and redemption obligations are high. Since our 
loans are generally repaid when our borrower sells a real estate asset, our operations and other sources of funds may not provide sufficient available cash 
flow to meet our continued Note maturity and redemption obligations.  Therefore, we will be substantially reliant upon the net offering proceeds we 
receive from the sale of the Notes to pay these obligations.  If we are unable to repay or redeem the principal amount of the Notes when due, and we are 
unable to obtain additional financing or other sources of capital, we may be forced to sell off our operating assets or we might be forced to cease our 
operations, and our Note holders could lose some or all of their investments.

Management has broad discretion over the use of proceeds from this offering, and it is possible that the funds will not be used effectively to generate 
enough cash for payment of principal and interest on the Notes.

We expect to use the proceeds from this offering for purposes detailed in our prospectus under the “Questions and Answers” and “Use of 
Proceeds” sections. Because no specific allocation of the proceeds is required in the indenture, our management will have broad discretion in 
determining how the proceeds of the offering will be used.

Our Note holders will not have the opportunity to evaluate our investments before they are made.

We intend to use the net offering proceeds in accordance with the “Use of Proceeds” section of our prospectus, including investment in secured 
real estate loans for the acquisition and development of parcels of real property as single-family residential lots and/or the construction of single-family 
homes. Since we have not identified any investments that we will make with the net proceeds of this offering, we are generally unable to provide our 
Note holders with information to evaluate the potential investments we may make with the net offering proceeds before purchasing the Notes. Our Note 
holders must rely on our management to evaluate our investment opportunities, and we are subject to the risk that our management may not be able to 
achieve our objectives, may make unwise decisions or may make decisions that are not in our best interest.

There is no sinking fund to ensure repayment of the Notes at maturity, so our Note holders are totally reliant upon our ability to generate adequate 
cash flows.

We do not contribute funds to a separate account, commonly known as a sinking fund, to repay the Notes upon maturity. Because funds are not 
set aside periodically for the repayment of the Notes over their respective terms,our Note holders must rely on our consolidated cash flows from 
operations, investing and financing activities and other sources of financing for repayment, such as funds from the sale of the Notes, loan repayments, 
and other borrowings. To the extent cash flows from operations and other sources are not sufficient to repay the Notes our Note Holders may lose all or 
part of their investments.

If we default in our Note payment obligations, the indenture agreement provides that the trustee could accelerate all payments due under the Notes, 
which would further negatively affect our financial position. 

Our obligations with respect to the Notes are governed by the terms of indenture agreement with U.S. Bank, as trustee. Under the indentures, in 
addition to other possible events of default, if we fail to make a payment of principal or interest under any Note and this failure is not cured within 30 
days, we will be deemed in default. Upon such a default, the trustee or holders of 25% in principal of the outstanding Notes could declare all principal 
and accrued interest immediately due and payable. If our total assets do not cover these payment obligations, we would most likely be unable to make all 
payments under the Notes when due, and we might be forced to cease our operations.

The portion of our business plan utilizing a note offering for a source of funds for commercial lending purposes is new to us. This may decrease the 
likelihood that we will be successful and able to pay principal and interest on the Notes.

We have no experience with managing a notes offering as a source of funds for our business activities. This decreases the likelihood that the 
results from our new business plan will be similar to or better than the results we obtained under our prior business plan. If we are not successful, our 
ability to pay principal and interest on the Notes may be adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Our Business

We have a limited operating history and limited experience operating as a company, so we may not be able to successfully operate our business or 
generate sufficient revenue.

We were organized in May 2007 and, in the past, we were the lessor in three commercial real estate leases (which were treated as direct 
financing leases for accounting purposes) with an affiliate, 84 Lumber Company. At the time of the initial leases, our Chief Executive Officer, Daniel M. 
Wallach, was the Chief Financial Officer of 84 Lumber Company. Mr. Wallach’s employment with 84 Lumber Company ended in April of 2011, and 
the leased properties were sold to 84 Lumber Company affiliates in May and September 2011, thereby terminating the leases. In December 2011, we 
made our first real estate loan of the type described in our “Business” section. Therefore, we have a limited operating history and limited experience 
operating as a company from which to evaluate our business or our likelihood of future success in operating our business, generating revenues, or 
achieving profitability. We cannot assure our Note holders that we will be able to operate our business successfully or implement our operating policies 
and strategies described in the business section.

We have incurred a significant amount of secured debt, which consists of two loans from affiliates collateralized by a lien against all of our assets, 
and expect to incur a significant amount of additional debt in the future, including issuance of the Notes, which will subject us to increased risk of 
loss.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $1,108,091 of secured debt outstanding, which consists of the two loans from affiliates. The affiliate loans 
are collateralized by a lien against all of our assets. In addition, we expect to incur a significant amount of additional debt in the future, including 
issuance of the Notes, borrowing under credit facilities and other arrangements. The Notes will be subordinated in right of payment to all secured debt, 
including the affiliate loans. Therefore, in the event of a default on the secured debt, affiliates of our Company, including Mr. Wallach, have the right to 
receive payment ahead of our Note holders. Accordingly, our business is subject to increased risk of a total loss of our Note holders’ investments if we 
are unable to repay all of our secured debt, including the affiliate loans.

Currently, we are reliant on a single developer and homebuilder, the Hoskins Group, for all of our revenues and a portion of our financing.

As of December 31, 2012, our loan portfolio consists of loans made to Benjamin Marcus Homes, LLC and Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, 
both of which are owned by Mark Hoskins (collectively all three parties referred to herein as the “Hoskins Group”). We also have an unsecured loan 
payable to Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC. Therefore, currently, we are substantially reliant upon a single developer and homebuilder for all of our 
revenues and a portion of our financing. Any event of bankruptcy, insolvency or general downturn in the business of this developer and homebuilder will
have a substantial adverse financial impact on our business and our ability to pay back our Note holders’ investments in the Notes.

Our operations are not subject to the stringent banking regulatory requirements designed to protect investors, so repayment of our Note holders’
investments is completely dependent upon our successful operation of our business.

Our operations are not subject to the stringent regulatory requirements imposed upon the operations of commercial banks, savings banks, and 
thrift institutions, and are not subject to periodic compliance examinations by federal or state banking regulators. For example, we will not be well 
diversified in our product risk and we cannot benefit from government programs designed to protect regulated financial institutions. Therefore, an 
investment in our Notes does not have the regulatory protections that the holder of a demand account or a certificate of deposit at a bank does. The return 
on Notes purchased by a Note holder is completely dependent upon our successful operations of our business. To the extent that we do not successfully 
operate our business, our ability to pay interest and principal on the Notes will be impaired.

Most of our assets will be commercial construction loans to homebuilders and/or developers which are a higher than average credit risk, and 
therefore could expose us to higher rates of loan defaults, which could impact our ability to repay amounts owed to our Note holders.

Our primary business will be extending commercial construction loans to homebuilders, along with some loans for land development. These 
loans are considered higher risk because the ability to repay depends on the homebuilder’s ability to sell a newly built home. These homes typically are 
not sold by the homebuilder prior to commencement of construction. Therefore, we may have a higher risk of loan default among our customers than 
other commercial lending companies. If we suffer increased loan defaults, in any given period, our operations could be materially adversely affected and 
we may have difficulty making our principal and interest payments on the Notes.

We depend on the availability of significant sources of credit to meet our liquidity needs and our failure to maintain these sources of credit could 
materially and adversely affect our liquidity in the future.

We plan to maintain a line of credit with a financial institution in the future, so that we may draw funds when necessary to meet our obligation 
to redeem maturing Notes, pay interest on the Notes, meet our commitments to lend money to our customers, and for other general corporate purposes. 
Although we discussed the possibility of obtaining a line of credit with approximately 20 financial institutions in September and October of 2011 (while 
we had no loan assets), and more recently began discussing with five potential lenders the possibility of secured financing, we do not have a financial 
institution line of credit at this time. If we fail to obtain such a line of credit or maintain one, we will be more dependent on the proceeds from the Notes 
for our continued liquidity. If the sale of the Notes is significantly reduced or delayed for any reason and we fail to obtain or renew a line of credit, or we 
default on our line of credit, our ability to meet our obligations, including our Note obligations, could be materially adversely affected and we may not 
have enough cash to pay back our Note holders’ investments. Also, the failure to maintain an active line of credit (and therefore using cash for liquidity 
instead of a borrowing line), even though we have liquidity from the Notes, will reduce our earnings, because we will be paying interest on the Notes, 
while we are holding cash instead of reducing our borrowings.
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Our business plan is to rapidly grow commercial lending, and a team of employees will need to be hired and perform at a high level for us to be 
successful. We do not have experience in this type of capital structure (using Notes).

There are many risks in running this business plan, including but not limited to rapid growth, liquidity and capital structure issues, and changing 
markets. We believe that we have effectively created a start-up financial institution. Most start-up financial institutions grow to the level that we are 
anticipating over a long period of time, typically measured in years. In contrast, we anticipate rapid expansion to our desired portfolio size. We cannot be 
sure that we will be successful in managing our growth. In order to successfully manage our growth, we must:

The strains posed by these demands are magnified by the start-up nature of our operations. Our failure to operate profitably or with enough 
liquidity could prevent us from being able to pay interest or principal on the Notes.

If the proceeds from the issuance of the Notes exceed the cash flow needed to fund the desirable business opportunities that are identified, we may 
not be able to invest all of the funds in a manner that generates sufficient income to pay the interest and principal on the Notes.

Our ability to pay interest on our debt, including the Notes, pay our expenses, and cover loan losses is dependent upon interest and fee income 
we receive from loans extended to our customers. If we are not able to lend to a sufficient number of customers at high enough interest rates, we may not 
have enough interest and fee income to meet our obligations, which could impair our ability to pay interest and principal to our Note holders. If money 
brought in from new Notes and from repayments of loans from our customers exceeds our short term obligations such as expenses, Note interest and 
redemptions, and line of credit principal and interest, then it is likely to be held as cash, which will have a lower return than the interest rate we are 
paying on the Notes. This will lower earnings and may cause losses which could impair our ability to repay the principal and interest on the Notes.

The collateral securing our mortgage loans may not be sufficient to pay back the principal amount in the event of a default by the borrowers.

In the event of default, our mortgage loan investments are generally dependent entirely on the loan collateral to recover our investment. Our 
loan collateral consists primarily of a mortgage on the underlying property. In the event of a default, we may not be able to recover the premises 
promptly and the proceeds we receive upon sale of the property may be adversely affected by risks generally related to interests in real property, 
including changes in general or local economic conditions and/or specific industry segments, declines in real estate values, increases in interest rates, real
estate tax rates and other operating expenses including energy costs, changes in governmental rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including 
environmental legislation, acts of God, and other factors which are beyond our or our borrowers’ control. Current market conditions may reduce the 
proceeds we are able to receive in the event of a foreclosure on our collateral. Our remedies with respect to the loan collateral may not provide us with a 
recovery adequate to recover our investment.

Currently, we are substantially reliant on the local homebuilding industry in the Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania market. 

Our loan investments are currently not diversified geographically. As of December 31, 2012, all of our loan investments are concentrated in the 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania market. We believe that home values are the predominant factor which impact the amount of money we may lose on loans 
which default. Even during the recent recession, home prices in the Pittsburgh market have steadily risen, increasing by 42% since 2000. Housing starts, 
however, have decreased by almost 50% since 2000. It is still possible that the Pittsburgh housing market could become subject to the same negative 
conditions that have affected home values nationally. Because of our reliance on the Pittsburgh housing market, any adverse conditions affecting the 
local housing market in this area will have a magnified adverse effect on our loan portfolio and adversely affect our ability to pay back our Note holders’
investments in the Notes. Adverse conditions affecting the local housing market could include, but are not limited to, declines in new housing starts, 
declines in new home prices, declines in new home sales, increases in the supply of available building lots or built homes available for sale, increases in 
unemployment, and unfavorable demographic changes.

Our business is not industry-diversified and the homebuilding industry has undergone a significant downturn. Further deterioration in industry or 
economic conditions could further decrease demand and pricing for new homes and residential home lots. A decline in housing values similar to the 
recent national downturn in the real estate market would have a negative impact on our business. Smaller value declines will also have a negative 
impact on our business. These factors may decrease the likelihood we will be able to generate enough cash to repay the Notes.

Developers and homebuilders to whom we may make loans will use the proceeds of our loans to develop raw land into residential home lots 
and construct homes. The developers obtain the money to repay our development loans by selling the residential home lots to homebuilders or 
individuals who will build single-family residences on the lots, or by obtaining replacement financing from other lenders. A developer’s ability to repay 
our loans is based primarily on the amount of money generated by the developer’s sale of its inventory of single-family residential lots. Homebuilders 
obtain the money to repay our loans by selling the homes they construct or by obtaining replacement financing from other lenders, and thus, the 
homebuilders’ ability to repay our loans is based primarily on the amount of money generated by the sale of such homes.

 hire, train, manage and retain employees;

 create loan products that are attractive to customers, protect us, and are profitable;

 manage the duration and amounts of both our assets (loans to customers) and liabilities (our line of credit, Notes, and other debt);

 create systems to track both our investors’ and our customers’ accounts; and

 control our expenses.

16



The homebuilding industry is cyclical and is significantly affected by changes in industry conditions, as well as in general and local economic 
conditions, such as:

These conditions may occur on a national scale or may affect some of the regions or markets in which we operate more than others.

We anticipate that we will generally lend a percentage of the values of the homes and lots. These values are determined shortly prior to the 
lending. If the values of homes and lots in markets in which we lend drop fast enough to cause the builders losses that are greater than their equity in the 
property, we will be forced to liquidate the loan in a fashion which will cause us to lose money. If these losses when combined and added to our other 
expenses are greater than our revenue from interest charged to our customers, we will lose money overall, which will hurt our ability to pay interest on 
the Notes and repay the principal on the Notes. Values are typically affected by demand for homes, which can change due to many factors, including but 
not limited to, demographics, interest rates, overall economy, cost of building materials and labor, availability of financing for end-users, inventory of 
homes available and governmental action or inaction. The tightening credit markets have made it more difficult for potential homeowners to obtain 
financing to purchase homes. If housing prices continue to decline or sales in the housing market continue to decline, our customers may have a hard 
time selling their homes at a profit. This could cause the amount of defaulted loans that we will own to increase. An increase in defaulted loans would 
reduce our revenue and could lead to losses on our loans. A decline in housing prices will further increase our losses on defaulted loans. If the amount of 
defaulted loans or the loss per defaulted loan is large enough, we will operate at a loss, which will decrease our equity. This could cause us to become 
insolvent, and we will not be able to pay back our Note holders’ investments in the Notes.

We expect to be substantially reliant upon the net offering proceeds we receive from the sale of our Notes to meet principal and interest obligations 
on previously issued Notes.

We intend to use the net offering proceeds from the sale of Notes to, among other things, make payments on other borrowings, fund redemption 
obligations, make interest payments on the Notes, and to run our business to the extent that other sources of liquidity from our operations (e.g., 
repayment of loans we have previously extended to our customers) and our credit line are inadequate. However, these other sources of liquidity are 
subject to risks. Our operations alone may not produce a sufficient return on investment to repay interest and principal on our outstanding Notes. We 
may not be able to obtain or retain a line of credit. We may not be able to attract new investors, have sufficient loan repayments, or have sufficient 
borrowing capacity when we need additional funds to repay principal and interest on our outstanding Notes or redeem our outstanding Notes. If any of 
these things occur, our liquidity and capital needs may be severely affected and we may be forced to sell off our loan receivables and other operating 
assets, or we might be forced to cease our operations.

Additional competition may decrease our profitability, which would adversely affect our ability to repay the Notes.

We may experience increased competition for business from other companies and financial institutions that are willing to extend the same types 
of loans that we extend at lower interest rates and/or fees. These competitors also may have substantially greater resources, lower cost of funds, and a 
better established market presence. If these companies increase their marketing efforts to our market niche of borrowers, or if additional competitors 
enter our markets, we may be forced to reduce our interest rates and fees in order to maintain or expand our market share. Any reduction in our interest 
rates, interest income or fees could have an adverse impact on our profitability and our ability to repay the Notes.

Additional competition for investment dollars may decrease our liquidity, which would adversely affect our ability to repay the Notes.

We could experience increased competition for investment dollars from other companies and financial institutions that are willing to offer 
higher interest rates. We may be forced to increase our interest rates in order to maintain or increase the issuance of Notes. Any increase in our interest 
rates could have an adverse impact on our liquidity and our ability to meet a debt covenant under our line of credit and/or to repay the Notes.

 employment level and job growth;

 demographic trends, including population increases and decreases and household formation;

 availability of financing for homebuyers;

 interest rates;

 affordability of homes;

 consumer confidence;

 levels of new and existing homes for sale, including foreclosed homes and homes held by investors and speculators; and

 housing demand generally.
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Our real estate loans are illiquid, which could restrict our ability to respond rapidly to changes in economic conditions.

The real estate loans we currently hold and intend to make are illiquid. As a result, our ability to sell under-performing assets in our portfolio or 
respond to changes in economic or other conditions may be very limited.

Because we require a substantial amount of cash to service our debt, we may not be able to pay our obligations under the Notes.

To service our total indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors, including 
our successful financial and operating performance. We cannot assure our Note holders that our business plans will succeed or that we will achieve our 
anticipated financial results, which may prevent us from being able to pay our obligations under the Notes.

If we, our ownership, or any of our future employees suffer from severe negative publicity, we could be faced with significantly greater payments on 
Note redemption obligations than we have cash available for such payments or redemptions.

If we, our ownership, or any of our future employees suffer from severe negative publicity, our rate of new Note issuances could be negatively 
impacted, which would reduce the amount of cash available to make interest and principal payments on our debt including the Notes. In such event, we 
could be declared in default on the Notes and other debt instruments, and our Note holders could lose their entire investments.

If we do not achieve our anticipated financial results, we may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows from operating, investing and 
financing activities or to obtain sufficient funding to satisfy all of our obligations, including our obligations under the Notes.

We are subject to risk of significant losses on our loans because we do not require our borrowers to insure their collateral for our loans.

It is customary for lenders extending loans secured by real estate to require the borrower to provide title insurance and hazard insurance with 
minimum coverage amounts set by the lender. We do not plan to require some or all of our homebuilders to provide either title or hazard insurance on 
their collateral for our loans to them. This represents an additional risk to us as the lender. The homebuilder may have a fire or other property damage 
claim, which normally would be covered by insurance, but may result in a loss on the loan because insurance proceeds are not available.

Increases in interest rates, reductions in mortgage availability or increases in other costs of home ownership could prevent potential customers from 
buying new homes and adversely affect our business and financial results.

Most new home purchasers finance their home purchases through lenders providing mortgage financing. Prior to the recent volatility in the 
financial markets, interest rates were at historically low levels and a variety of mortgage products were available. As a result, home ownership became 
more accessible. The mortgage products available included features that allowed buyers to obtain financing for a significant portion or all of the 
purchase price of the home, had very limited underwriting requirements or provided for lower initial monthly payments. Accordingly, more people were 
qualified for mortgage financing.

Since 2007, the mortgage lending industry has experienced significant instability, beginning with increased defaults on subprime loans and 
other nonconforming loans and compounded by expectations of increasing interest payment requirements and further defaults. This, in turn, resulted in a 
decline in the market value of many mortgage loans and related securities. Lenders, regulators and others questioned the adequacy of lending standards 
and other credit requirements for several loan products and programs offered in recent years. Credit requirements tightened, and investor demand for 
mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities declined. In general, fewer loan products, tighter loan qualifications and a reduced willingness of lenders 
to make loans make it more difficult for many buyers to finance the purchase of homes. These factors serve to reduce the pool of qualified homebuyers 
and made it more difficult to sell to first time and move-up buyers.

A reduction in the demand for new homes may reduce the amount and price of the residential home lots sold by the developers and 
homebuilders to which we loan money and/or increase the amount of time such developers and homebuilders must hold the home lots in inventory. 
These factors increase the likelihood of defaults on our loans, which would adversely affect our business and financial results.

In the event we foreclose on the property securing certain of our loans, we have agreed to provide a limited preference in our foreclosure proceeds to 
a third party, which could reduce the amount of proceeds that we would receive on a foreclosure of the property.

The property securing the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan (as such terms are defined under “Business — Our Loan Portfolio 
Secured by Real Estate”) is subject to a mortgage in the amount of $1,290,000, which is held by an unrelated third party. In connection with the closing 
of the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan, the holder of this mortgage entered into an agreement to amend, restate and further subordinate such 
mortgage. This subordination agreement also provides that, in the event of a foreclosure on and liquidation of the property securing the New IMA Loan 
and the Existing IMA Loan, we are entitled to receive liquidation proceeds up to $2,225,000, which excludes the collateral securing the BMH Loan (as 
such term is defined below). The holder of this mortgage is then entitled to receive liquidation proceeds up to the amount necessary to satisfy its 
outstanding mortgage, and we are then entitled to any remainder of the liquidation proceeds.
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If a large number of our current and prospective borrowers are unable to repay their loans within a normal average number of months, we will 
experience a significant reduction in our income and/or liquidity, and may not be able to repay the Notes as they become due.

Construction loans that we extend are expected to be repaid in a normal average number of months, typically 10 months, depending on the size 
of the loan. Development loans are expected to last for many years. We have interest paid on a monthly basis, but also charge a fee which will be earned 
over the life of the loan. If these loans are repaid over a longer period of time, the amount of income that we receive on these loans expressed as a 
percentage of the outstanding loan amount will be reduced, and fewer loans with new fees will be able to be made, since the cash will not be available. 
This will reduce our income as a percentage of the Notes, and if this percentage is significantly reduced it could impair our ability to pay our Note 
holders principal and interest on the Notes.

The homebuilding industry’s strategies in response to the adverse conditions in the industry have had limited success, and the continued 
implementation of these and other strategies may not be successful.

Since the downturn began, most homebuilders have been focused on generating positive operating cash flow, resizing and reshaping their 
product for a more price-conscious consumer and adjusting finished new home inventories to meet demand, and did so in many cases by significantly 
reducing the new home prices and increasing the level of sales incentives. Notwithstanding these strategies, homebuilders continued to experience an 
elevated rate of sales contract cancelations. Many of the factors that affect new sales and cancelation rates are beyond the control of the homebuilding 
industry. It is uncertain how long the reduction in sales and the increased level of cancelations will continue. Continued decreases in new home sales 
would increase the likelihood of defaults on our loans and, consequently, reduce our ability to repay our Note holders’ investments in the Notes.

Our cost of funds will be substantially higher than that of banks.

Because we do not offer FDIC insurance, and because we want to grow our Note program faster than most banks want to grow their CD base, 
our Notes will offer significantly higher rates than bank CDs. As a result, our cost of funds will be higher than banks’ cost of funds. This may make it 
more difficult for us to compete against banks when they rejoin our niche lending market in large numbers. This could result in losses which could 
impair or eliminate our ability to pay interest and principal on our outstanding Notes.

We are exposed to risk of environmental liabilities with respect to properties which we take title. Any resulting environmental remediation expense 
may reduce our ability to repay the Notes.

In the course of our business, we may foreclose and take title to real estate that could be subject to environmental liabilities. We may be held 
liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for property damage, personal injury, investigation and clean-up costs incurred by these parties in 
connection with environmental contamination, or may be required to investigate or clean up hazardous or toxic substances or chemical release at any 
property. The costs associated with investigation or remediation activities could be substantial. In addition, as the owner or former owner of a 
contaminated site, we may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination 
emanating from the property. If we ever become subject to significant environmental liabilities, our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of 
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We will be subject to the general market risks associated with real estate construction and development.

Our financial performance will depend on the successful construction and/or development and sale of the homes and real estate parcels that 
serve as security for the loans we make to homebuilders and developers. As a result, we will be subject to the general market risks of real estate 
construction and development, including weather conditions, the price and availability of materials used in construction of homes and development of 
lots, environmental liabilities and zoning laws, and numerous other factors that may materially and adversely affect the success of the projects.

We may be subject to changes in our business as a result of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010. These 
changes may restrict our ability to pursue or limit the feasibility of pursuing our business plan.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 represents a comprehensive overhaul of the financial services 
industry within the United Sates and will require a number of federal agencies to implement numerous new rules, many of which may not be 
implemented for several months or years. At this time, it is difficult to predict the extent to which the Dodd-Frank Act or the resulting regulations will 
impact our business. However, compliance with these laws and regulations may impact our lending operations and/or result in additional costs and 
expenses, which may impact our consolidated results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.
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We will be required to devote resources to comply with various provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including Section 404 relating to internal 
controls testing, and this may reduce the resources we have available to focus on our core business.

Pursuant to Section 404 (“Section 404”) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and the related rules adopted by the 
SEC and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, beginning with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 2013, our management 
will be required to report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. We may encounter problems or delays in completing any 
changes necessary to our internal controls over financial reporting. Among other things, we may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we 
have effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404. Any failure to comply with the various requirements of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act may require significant management time and expenses and divert attention or resources away from our core business. In addition, 
we may encounter problems or delays in completing the implementation of any requested improvements provided by our independent registered public 
accounting firm.

If we do not meet the requirements to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, our ability to raise new capital will be harmed.

If we do not maintain effective internal controls of our financial reporting in accordance with Section 404, it could result in delaying future SEC 
filings or future offerings. If future SEC filings or future offerings are delayed, it could have an extreme negative impact on our cash flow causing us to 
default on our obligations.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

Our Chief Executive Officer (who is also on our Board of Managers) will face conflicts of interest as a result of the secured affiliated loans made to 
us, which could result in actions that are not in the best interests of our Note holders.

As of December 31, 2012, we had borrowed $250,000 from The 2007 Daniel M. Wallach Legacy Trust and $858,091 from Daniel M. Wallach, 
our Chief Executive Officer (who is also on our Board of Managers), and his wife, Joyce Wallach. These affiliate loans are collateralized by a lien 
against all of our assets. The Notes will be subordinated in right of payment to all secured debt, including these affiliate loans. Pursuant to each 
promissory note, the affiliates have the option of funding any amount up to the face amount of the note, in the lender’s sole and absolute discretion. 
Therefore, Mr. Wallach will face conflicts of interest in deciding whether and when to exercise any rights pursuant to the promissory notes and pledge 
agreement. If these Wallach affiliates exercise their rights to collect on their collateral upon a default by us, we could lose some or all of our assets, 
which could have a negative effect on our ability to repay the Notes.

Our Chief Executive Officer will face conflicts of interest as a result of his equity ownership in the Company, which could result in actions that are 
not in the best interests of our Note holders.

Our Chief Executive Officer beneficially owns all of the voting and non-voting equity of the Company. Since the Company is taxed as a 
partnership for federal income tax purposes, all profits and losses flow through to the equity owners. Therefore, Mr. Wallach and his affiliated equity 
owners of the Company will be motivated to distribute profits to the equity owners on an annual basis, rather than retain earnings in the Company for 
Company purposes. There is currently no limit in the indenture or otherwise on the amount of funds that may be distributed by the Company to its equity 
owners. If substantial funds are distributed to the equity owners, the liquidity and capital resources of the Company will be reduced and our ability to 
repay the Notes may be negatively impacted.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2012, we operate an office in Jacksonville, Florida on a nominal lease with a thirty day cancelation clause.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

(a) As of the date of this filing, we are not aware that we or our members are a party to any pending or threatened legal proceeding or proceeding 
by a governmental authority that would have a material adverse effect on our business.

(b) None.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCK HOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES

(All dollar [$] amounts shown in thousands.)

As of December 31, 2012, we had 2,629 Class A Common Units outstanding, held by our two members. There is no established trading market 
for our membership Units. As of December 31, 2012, all of our outstanding membership interests are beneficially owned by our Chief Executive Officer 
(who is also on our Board of Managers), Daniel M. Wallach, and his wife, Joyce S. Wallach. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, 
we declared and paid distributions to our owners of $50 and $955, respectively.

We registered up to $700,000 in Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes in our public offering (SEC File No. 333-181360, effective October 4, 2012). 
As of December 31, 2012, we had issued $2 in Notes pursuant to our public offering. From October 4, 2012 through December 31, 2012, we incurred 
expenses of $2 in connection with the issuance and distribution of the Notes, which were paid to third parties.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(All dollar [$] amounts shown in thousands.)

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes 
and “Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” appearing elsewhere in this document. The selected 
consolidated financial data in this section is not intended to replace our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. Our historical 
results and information are not necessarily indicative of our future results.

The summary consolidated financial data as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 is derived from our audited 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this document. The summary consolidated financial data as of and for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2010 is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this document. The summary consolidated financial 
data as of and for the fiscal years ended 2009, 2008 and 2007 is derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements not included in this 
document.

As of, and for, the years ended December 31, 

1 Fiscal 2011 includes in this amount ($250) for the redemption of the ownership interests of two of our former members; ($383) was a return of 
capital to certain of the remaining members; and ($322) was earnings distributed to the members.

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Operations Data (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Interest income $               581 $                5 $                 - $                 - $                 - $                 -
Interest expense 115 - - - - -
Net interest income 466 5 - - - -
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 344 5 - - - -
Income from continuing operations 122 - - - - -
Income from discontinued operations - 309 578 550 512 214
Net income $               122 $            309 $            578 $            550 $            512 $            214
Balance Sheet Data
Cash $               646 $              50 $                 - $                 - $                 - $                 -
Accrued interest 26 2 - - - -
Deferred financing costs, net 596 - - - - -
Other assets 10 26 - - - -
Loans receivable, net 3,604 4,580 - - - -
Assets of discontinued operations - - 10,339 10,328 10,329 10,327
Total assets 4,882 4,658 10,339 10,328 10,329 10,327
Customer interest escrow 329 450 - - - -
Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses 41 - - - - -
Notes payable unsecured 1,502 1,500 - - - -
Notes payable related parties 1,108 878 - - - -
Liabilities of  discontinued operations - - 7,863 8,253 8,691 9,088
Total liabilities         2,980       2,828           7,863           8,253            8,691           9,088
Members’ capital         1,902       1,830           2,476           2,075            1,638           1,239
Members’ contributions - - - - - 1,138
Members’ distributions1 $            (50) $          (955) $          (177) $          (113) $          (113) $          (113)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(All dollar [$] amounts shown in thousands.)

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with our 
financial statements and the notes thereto contained elsewhere in this report. See also “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”
preceding Part I.

Overview

Shepherd’s Finance, LLC and subsidiary (the “Company”, “we” or “our”) was originally formed as a Pennsylvania limited liability company on 
May 10, 2007. In conjunction with the change in strategic direction discussed more fully below, the Company changed its name from 84 RE Partners, 
LLC (“84 RE Partners”) on December 2, 2011 and converted to a Delaware limited liability company on March 29, 2012. We are the sole member of a 
consolidating subsidiary, 84 REPA, LLC. The Company operated pursuant to an operating agreement by and among Daniel M. Wallach (the “Manager”) 
and the members of the Company from its inception through March 29, 2012, at which time it adopted an amended and restated operating agreement.

Prior to March 2012, we were managed by Daniel M. Wallach, as our sole Manager. Therefore, prior to that time, Mr. Wallach had direct and 
exclusive control over the management of the Company’s operations. In March 2012, we assembled a Board of Managers, which includes two 
independent Managers in addition to Mr. Wallach. Our officers are responsible for our day-to-day operations, while the Board of Managers is 
responsible for overseeing our business. The independent Managers, acting through the nominating and corporate governance committee, must approve 
all affiliate transactions. All of our outstanding membership interests are owned beneficially by Mr. Wallach and his wife; therefore, Mr. Wallach is able 
to exercise significant control over our business, including with respect to the composition of our Board of Managers. A Manager may be removed by a 
vote of holders of 80% of our outstanding voting membership interests.

During 2007 and continuing through portions of 2011, we were the lessor in three commercial real estate leases (which were treated as direct 
financing leases for accounting purposes) with an affiliate, 84 Lumber Company. During the majority of time of the business relationship between us and
84 Lumber, Mr. Wallach was employed by 84 Lumber, while also operating as our sole Manager. The leased properties were sold to 84 Lumber in May 
and September of 2011, and the leases were thereby terminated. This business model generated consistent profits, positive cash flows and returns to the 
members for the duration of these financings. The results of operations, cash flows and financial position related to the commercial real estate leases are 
presented as Discontinued Operations in management’s discussion and analysis and the accompanying consolidated financial statements and footnotes.

In late 2011, management elected to transform our business model. The Company intends to focus most of our future efforts on commercial
lending to residential homebuilders, to finance construction of single family residential properties. The single family residential construction loans will
be extended to residential homebuilders and, as such, are commercial loans. The Company also lends money to residential homebuilders to develop
undeveloped land into residential building lots known as acquisition and development loans, which are also considered commercial loans.

We anticipate expanding our lending capacity and funding our business operations by continued extension of notes to the general public, which 
notes are unsecured subordinated debt. On October 4, 2012 our notes offering was declared effective by the SEC. We are currently effective in 37 states 
and the District of Columbia. Eventually, the Company intends to repay the debt from affiliates with secured debt from a bank or through other liquidity.
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From September 2011 through December 30, 2011, our only asset was cash, which we held waiting for the creation of new loans. On December 
30, 2011, we originated three new loan assets, which are commercial loans for residential development in a suburb of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. One loan 
is collateralized by building lots (4 on December 31, 2012) and an unimproved parcel of land of approximately 34 acres. The other two loans are 
collateralized by approximately 54 acres of undeveloped land. These three loans are to borrowers who are affiliated with each other and are cross-
collateralized. We also assumed a note payable of $1,500 to the borrower from its prior lender. The builder was funded to pay us our loan fee, and also to
create an account with an Interest Escrow. The note payable and Interest Escrow are collateral for the loans. The total advanced on these loans was 
$4,312 and $5,504 on December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The estimated value of the total collateral for these loans was $6,124 and $7,550 on 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, which is based on an appraisal of the collateral prepared for us in March 2012, and verified with a broker’s 
opinion of value in October 2012.

To assist in financing these opportunities, on December 30, 2011, we obtained funding from two demand loans from our members. The total 
outstanding balance on these loans on December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $1,108 and $878, respectively. These demand loans are collateralized by a lien 
against all of our assets and are senior in right of payment to our Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes.

Economic and Industry Dynamics

Demand for residential construction loans has been negatively impacted by the decrease in housing starts (a key driver relative to commercial 
lending to residential homebuilders) over the past six years. See “Inflation, Interest Rates, and Housing Starts” later in this section. This decrease 
followed 15 years of increases in housing starts. Home values also decreased during the housing start decline. The combination of these events, along 
with others, presented significant hurdles to residential homebuilders. In 2012, housing starts and home values were moving off their lows, staging the 
beginning of a recovery.

Due to the need to fund either part or all of the costs of their construction projects, homebuilders often have to work with lending institutions. 
The normal lending institutions (banks, S&L, credit unions, etc.) have all been negatively impacted by these same recent trends, which have raised 
default rates and losses related to commercial lending loans issued to residential homebuilders. In fact, many state and federal regulators are 
discouraging community banks and lending institutions from lending to residential homebuilders.

We believe all the factors above present three significant opportunities. The first opportunity, and our primary focus, is to become the lender of 
choice or secondary lender to residential homebuilders during the absence of lending at the homebuilder’s local financial institution or community bank. 
Another is to purchase and securitize the loans made by building supply companies to those homebuilders. Finally, we may acquire deeply discounted 
defaulted debt from other financial institutions. While we have not entered into any transactions related to the final two opportunities, we will remain 
mindful of those opportunities to generate a return from such transactions. 

Perceived Challenges and Anticipated Responses

The following is not intended to represent a comprehensive list or description of the risks or challenges facing the Company. Currently, our 
management is most focused on the following challenges along with the corresponding actions to address those challenges:
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Opportunities

Although we can give no assurance as to our success in our efforts, in the future, our management intends to focus its efforts on the following 
opportunities:

Understanding and Evaluating Our Operating Results

Our results of operations are driven by three major factors - interest spread, loan losses, and selling, general and administrative (SG&A) 
expenses.

Perceived Challenges and Risks Anticipated Management Actions/Response
Start-up operations Our management has experience in commercial lending to residential 

homebuilders.  However, this represents management’s first attempt to 
create a stand-alone operation of this type with a capital structure of this 
type.  Management believes possessing experience in business, track 
record in this type of lending, and the contacts made in previous 
endeavors will assist with staffing and other challenges it will face with 
this new endeavor.

Concentration of loan portfolio (i.e. how many of the loans are of one 
type, with any particular customer, or within any particular geography)

Our management plans to extend loans to multiple lenders in multiple 
geographies across the U.S. in order to diversify this risk to the degree 
possible while continuing to focus on residential homebuilder customers.

Potential loan value-to-collateral value issues (i.e. being underwater on 
particular loans)

Our management  manages this challenge by risk-rating both the 
geographic region and the builder, then adjusting the loan-to-value (i.e. 
the loan amount versus the value of the collateral) based on the risk 
assessments.  Additionally, for construction loans, we collect a deposit 
up-front.

Potential increases in interest rates, which would reduce operating 
income

We offer variable rate loans that incorporate a spread (i.e. profit) above 
the Company’s costs of funds to insulate it against this risk.  A more 
detailed description is included in Interest Spread below.

Liquidity Our management has short and long term plans including, but not limited 
to:

Short term – issue public debentures; and

Long-term – execute a form of bank financing to replace the 
demand loans from affiliates.

 receiving money from the Notes, sufficient enough to operate our business and allow for diversification in our loan portfolio;

 growing loan assets and the staffing and operations to handle it. We anticipate hiring office staff as loan volume grows, and hiring the 
origination staff, which will be field based, as our liquidity allows for new loan originations. The goal for the field staff is to have a 
geographic coverage that eventually covers most of the continental U.S.;

 replacing our existing lines of credit from our affiliates with lines of credit from financial institutions. We would like the maximum amount 
(the credit limit) to be 20% of our asset size, and our outstanding amounts to average 10% of our asset size;

 producing a profit, and making distributions to our members to cover their tax burden from our operations, and, if possible, to give them a 
return on their investment; and

 retaining earnings to grow the equity of the Company.
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Interest Spread

Interest spread is generally made up of the following three components:

Difference between the interest rate received (on our loan assets) and the interest rate paid (on our borrowings).

Fee income. This fee is generally recognized over the life of the loan, based on the maximum allowed loan balance over the expected life 
of the loan. The amount of interest spread on these loans will depend on the life of the loans, as well as the fee percentage. As more competition comes 
into the residential construction lending market, we expect this portion of spread income to decrease.

Amount of nonperforming assets. Since we are paying interest on all money we borrow, any asset created or funded with borrowed funds 
that does not have an interest return costs us money. There is an interest expense for us, with no interest income to offset it. Generally there are two types 
of nonperforming assets. The first is nonperforming loans, which do not generate interest income unless actually received in cash. We currently do not 
have any nonperforming loans. The second nonperforming asset type is money borrowed which is not invested in loans. We typically carry a small cash 
balance, so this has not been a factor in our existence except in the fourth quarter of 2011. While this cash was funded with equity, had it been funded 
with debt we would have lost the potential earning power of this cash balance. For a period of seven days including December 31, 2012, we borrowed 
money on our affiliate line of credit which boosted our cash on our balance sheet to $646. This temporary carrying of cash did not significantly increase 
our interest cost, nor decrease our interest spread. To mitigate the negative spread on unused borrowed funds (idle cash), we will try to maximize future 
line of credit borrowings just before our Notes are first offered. Ideally, we would like to have a secured line of credit with a credit limit of 20% of our 
loan assets, and generally carry a balance of 10% of our loan assets on that line. This way, as money comes in from Notes or loan payoffs, it can be used 
to pay down the line, and as money goes out for Note redemptions and new loans created, money can be drawn on the line. This will help reduce any 
negative spread on idle cash.

We calculate interest spread by taking the difference between interest income and expense, and dividing it by our weighted average outstanding 
loan balance. As we increase our operations, we anticipate that this spread initially will be higher, while our competitors remain on the construction 
lending sidelines, and then decrease as competition for these loan assets increases.

Loan Losses

The second major factor in determining our profitability is loan losses. During our existence to date, we have not held nonperforming loans and 
have incurred no loan losses, but this is unlikely to continue. We anticipate lending to the residential construction industry, which is in a weak position 
today. Losses on loans occur with nonperforming loans (i.e. when customers are unable to repay their interest and/or principal). Normally, the loss in this
situation is the difference between the collateral value and the loan value, less any costs of disposal. Homes recently constructed during the past several 
years have created significant losses because many homes are worth less than the appraised value at the time the loan was created. Losses also occur in 
loans when homes are partly built at the point of default, or never built. Generally, a declining real estate market will be the primary driver for loan 
losses. We believe that while current values may fall in some real estate markets, in general, values are low and represent a lower risk than at other times 
over the last six years.

SG&A Expenses

SG&A expenses for us are almost all of the expenses that are not interest and loan losses. Through 2011, our SG&A expenses had been very 
low, since our business required very little oversight to operate in the past. In 2012, we experienced increases in SG&A as we started our lending 
operations, including, among others, payroll. We anticipate these expenses increasing as our loan balance increases.

Our SG&A expenses have increased significantly because of our public company status. We must comply with federal securities laws, 
regulations and requirements, including certain provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Compliance with the requirements of being a public company will 
continue to increase our general and administrative expenses to pay our employees, legal counsel, accountants, and other advisors to assist us in, among 
other things, external reporting, instituting and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and preparing and distributing periodic public reports in compliance with our obligations under the federal securities laws.

Critical Accounting Estimates

To assist in evaluating our consolidated financial statements, we describe below the critical accounting estimates that we use. We consider an 
accounting estimate to be critical if: (1) the accounting estimate requires us to make assumptions about matters that were highly uncertain at the time the 
accounting estimate was made, and (2) changes in the estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, or use of different estimates that 
we reasonably could have used, would have a material impact on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

25



Loan Losses

Nature of estimates required

Loan losses, as applicable, are accounted for both on the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of operations. On the 
consolidated statements of operations, management estimates the amount of losses to capture during the current year; this current period amount incurred 
is referred to as the loan loss provision. The calculation of our allowance for loan losses, which appears on our consolidated balance sheets, requires us 
to compile relevant data for use in a systematic approach to assess and estimate the amount of probable losses inherent in our commercial lending 
operations and to reflect that estimated risk in our allowance calculations. The risk of losses occurs when customers cannot pay their principal and 
interest due. In the past, we have estimated that risk to be minimal, and therefore we have not proceeded to compare the value of the collateral versus the 
amount loaned. For current and future loans, we use the policy summarized as follows:

For loans to one borrower with committed balances less than 10% of our total committed balances on all loans extended to all customers, we 
analyze for impairment all loans which are more than 60 days past due at the end of a quarter.  For loans to one borrower with committed balances equal 
to or greater than 10% of our total committed balances on all loans extended to all customers, we analyze all loans for impairment.  The analysis on 
loans, if required, develops a collateral value to be compared to the principal amount of the loan.  If the value determined is less than the principal 
amount due (less any builder deposit), then the difference is included in the loan loss.  As values change, estimated loan losses may be provided for more 
or less than the previous period, and some loans may not need a loss provision based on payment history.  For homes which are partially complete, we 
appraise on an as-is and completed basis, and use the one that more closely aligns with our planned method of disposal for the property.

For loans that are individually evaluated for impairment, appraisals have been prepared within the last 13 months.  There are also broker’s
opinions of value (“BOV”) prepared, if the appraisal is more than six months old.  The lower of any BOV prepared in the last six months, or appraisal
done in the last 13 months, is used, unless we determine a BOV to be invalid based on the comparable sales used.  If we determine a BOV to be invalid,
we will use the appraised value.  Appraised values are adjusted down for estimated costs associated with asset disposal.

Appraisers are state certified, and are selected by first attempting to utilize the appraiser who completed the original appraisal report. If that 
appraiser is unavailable or not affordable, we use another appraiser who appraises routinely in that geographic area. BOVs are created by real estate 
agents. We try to first select an agent we have worked with, and then, if that fails, we select another agent who works in that geographic area.

Fair Value

Nature of estimates required

Currently, fair value has the potential to impact the calculation of the loan loss provision most heavily. Specifically relevant to the loan loss 
reserve is the fair value of the underlying collateral supporting the outstanding loan balances. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, no allowance for loan 
loss was necessary as our outstanding loans were performing and the collateral value (fair value) was more than sufficient to recover the value of the 
outstanding loans. Fair value measurements are an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants. Due to a rapidly changing economic market, an erratic housing market, the various methods that 
could be used to develop fair value estimates, and the myriad of assumptions that could be used, determining the collateral’s fair value requires 
significant judgment.

Sensitivity analysis

* Increases in the fair value of the collateral do not impact the loan loss provision, as the value generally is not “written up.”

**If the loans were nonperforming, assuming a gross amount of the loans outstanding of $4,312 and the fair value of the total collateral on all 
outstanding loans was reduced by 31%, a loan loss provision of $86 would be required.

Other Loss Contingencies

Other loss contingencies are recorded as liabilities when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss is reasonably 
estimable. Disclosure is required when there is a reasonable possibility that the ultimate loss will exceed the recorded provision. Contingent liabilities are 
often resolved over long time periods. Estimating probable losses requires analysis of multiple forecasts that often depend on judgments about potential 
actions by third parties such as courts, arbitrators, juries, or regulators.

Change in Fair Value Assumption
December 31, 2012 

Loan Loss Provision Higher/(Lower)
Increasing fair value of the total collateral by 31%* $ -
Decreasing fair value of the total collateral by 31%** $ 86
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Accounting and Auditing Standards Applicable to “Emerging Growth Companies”

We are an “emerging growth company” under the recently enacted JOBS Act. For as long as we are an “emerging growth company,” which 
may be up to five fiscal years, we are not required to (1) comply with any new or revised financial accounting standards that have different effective 
dates for public and private companies until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies, (2) provide an auditor’s attestation report on 
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (3) comply 
with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the PCAOB, requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a 
supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide additional information about the audit and the financial statements 
of the issuer or (4) comply with any new audit rules adopted by the PCAOB after April 5, 2012, unless the SEC determines otherwise. We intend to take 
advantage of such extended transition period. Since we will not be required to comply with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on 
which adoption of such standards is required for other public companies, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of 
companies that comply with public company effective dates. If we were to subsequently elect to instead comply with these public company effective 
dates, such election would be irrevocable pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act.

Other Significant Accounting Policies

Other significant accounting policies, not involving the same level of measurement uncertainties as those discussed above, are nevertheless 
important to an understanding of the financial statements. Policies related to credit quality information, discontinued operations, fair value 
measurements, offsetting assets and liabilities, related party transactions and revenue recognition require difficult judgments on complex matters that are 
often subject to multiple and recent changes in the authoritative guidance. Certain of these matters are among topics currently under reexamination by 
accounting standard setters and regulators. Specific conclusions have not been reached by these standard setters, and outcomes cannot be predicted with 
confidence. Also, see Notes 1 and 2 to our consolidated financial statements, as they discuss accounting policies that we have selected from acceptable 
alternatives.

Consolidated Results of Operations

Key financial and operating data for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are set forth below. For a more complete understanding of 
our industry, the drivers of our business, and our current period results, this discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial 
statements, including the related notes and the other information contained in this document.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) require that the Company report financial and 
descriptive information about reportable segments and how these segments were determined. Our management determines the allocation and 
performance of resources based on operating income, net income and operating cash flows. Segments are identified and aggregated based on the 
products sold or services provided and the market(s) they serve. Based on these factors, management has determined that the Company’s ongoing 
operations are in one segment, commercial lending.

Additionally, our consolidated financial statements reflect the information regarding the direct finance, commercial real estate lease asset 
disposal group as discontinued operations. Unless otherwise indicated, the consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations and cash flows 
associated with the disposal group have been presented in the consolidated financial statements separately from continuing operations.

Our operations for most of 2011 are classified as discontinued operations. Our operations from the fourth quarter of 2011 and all of 2012 are 
classified as continuing operations. Our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 are not indicative of those expected in the future 
periods as we expect that our SG&A expenses, interest income, and interest expense will each increase in future periods as a result of anticipated future 
sales in our Notes offering and increased lending activity.

The following is a summary of our income statement for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

For the years ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Interest Income
Interest and fee income on loans $ 581 $ 5
Interest expense 115 –
Net interest income 466 5
Less:  Loan loss provision – –

Net interest income 466 5
Non-Interest Expense

Selling, general and administrative 344 5
Total non-interest expense 344 –

Income from continuing operations 122 –
Income from discontinued operations, net – 309
Net income $ 122 $ 309
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Interest Spread

The following table displays a comparison of our interest income and our interest spread for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011: 

*annualized number as percentage of weighted average outstanding loan balance

Additional detail regarding the information in the table above is as follows:

We derive interest income and pay interest expense related to the loans originated and demand loans obtained from our members, respectively. 
We calculate interest spread by taking the difference between interest income (including fee income) and expense and dividing it by our weighted 
average outstanding loan balance. We anticipate interest spread for 2013 to continue at roughly the same percentage (9%).

Loan Loss Provision

To date, we have not held any nonperforming loans and have incurred no loan losses, however, this is unlikely to continue. We anticipate a loan 
loss provision in the future.

SG&A Expenses

The following table displays a comparison of our SG&A Expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011: 

During the year ended December 31, 2011, SG&A expenses incurred reclassified to discontinued operations totaled $69. Increases in our 
SG&A expenses during the year ended December 31, 2012 are largely attributable to changing our business model and becoming subject to public 
company reporting requirements. In the future, we anticipate that these expenses will continue to increase due to increases in our operational costs, 
including anticipated additions of personnel related to lending, underwriting, salaries and benefits, and other administrative costs.

For the years ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Interest Income * *
Interest income on loans $ 365 7% $ 3 9%
Fee income on loans 216 4% 1 4%
Interest and fee income on loans 581 11% 4 13%
Interest expense 115 2% –
Net interest income (spread) 466 9% 4 13%

Weighted average outstanding loan balance $ 5,174 $ 30

 Difference between the interest rate received (on our loan assets) and the interest rate paid (on our borrowings). The loans originated in 
December of 2011 have interest rates which are based on our cost of funds, with a minimum cost of funds of 5%. The margin is fixed at 2%. 
Future loans are anticipated to be originated at approximately the same 2% margin.

 Fee income. The two loans originated in December 2011 had a net origination fee of $924. This fee is being recognized over the life of the
loans. The fee income recognized was $216 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. In the future, we anticipate
creating loans with fees ranging between 4 and 5% of the maximum loan amount.

 Amount of nonperforming assets. During the fourth quarter of 2011, we carried cash (approximately $1,800) for the bulk of the quarter, which 
returned very little interest to us. For a period of seven days including December 31, 2012, we borrowed money on our affiliate line of credit 
which boosted our cash on our balance sheet to $646. This temporary carrying of cash did not significantly increase our interest cost, nor 
decrease our interest spread. We had $0 of nonperforming loan assets at both December 31, 2012 and 2011.

For the years ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Legal and accounting $ 179 $ –
Salaries and related expenses 60 –
Board related expenses 60 –
Other 45 5

Total SG&A $ 344 $ 5
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Income from Discontinued Operations, Net

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, our income from discontinued operations consisted of the following:

All of the operations and assets and liabilities associated with the direct financing, commercial real estate leases were sold for a sales price that 
approximated net carrying value at the time of sale; therefore, there was no gain or loss on the disposal of the discontinued operations in 2011. The 
commercial real estate leases we originated in 2007 had no fee income but earned an interest rate spread of 3%. As stated above, our operations from the 
fourth quarter of 2011 and all of 2012 are classified as continuing operations, therefore, we do not anticipate that we will have any income from 
discontinued operations in the future.

Consolidated Financial Position

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We typically carry a small cash balance. During almost the entire third quarter of 2011, however, we carried $1,830 in cash as our only asset as 
we shifted to our current business plan. On December 30, 2011, we invested most of that cash in loans, and ended 2011 with $50 in cash. For a period of 
seven consecutive days including December 31, 2012, we borrowed money on our affiliate line of credit which boosted our cash on our balance sheet to 
$646. This temporary carrying of cash did not significantly increase our interest cost, nor decrease our interest spread.

Deferred Financing Costs, Net

On October 4, 2012 our notes offering was declared effective by the SEC. We are currently effective in 37 states and the District of Columbia. 
The expenses for the offering are deferred when paid and expensed over the life of the debt associated with the offering using the effective interest 
method. The total amount of financing cost expected to be expensed over the life of the offering is approximately $900, of which $598 has been incurred 
through December 31, 2012. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 the deferred financing costs recognized as interest expense was $2 and $0 
respectively.

The following is a roll forward of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

The following is a roll forward of the accumulated amortization of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Loans Receivable

In December 2011, we originated two new loans and assumed a lender’s position on a third loan, which, net of unearned loan fees, had total 
balances of $3,604 and $4,580 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. These loans were all to third party borrowers that are affiliated with 
each other, and are cross-collateralized. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the aggregate loan balance on these loans decreased due to lot 
payoffs, partially offset by draws for development and the reduction in unearned loan fee. No allowance has been deemed necessary for these loans. We 
expect that we will increase our loans receivable as we raise funds from the issuance of Notes. 

For the years ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011
Interest income on direct financing leases $ – $ 638
Selling, general and administrative expenses – 69
Interest expense – 260
Income from discontinued operations $ – $ 309

2012 2011

Deferred financing costs, beginning balance $ – $ –
   Additions 598 –

Deferred financing costs, ending balance $ 598 $ –

   Less accumulated amortization (2) –

Deferred financing costs, net $ 596 $ –

2012 2011

Accumulated amortization, beginning balance $ – $ –
   Additions 2 –

Accumulated amortization, ending balance $ 2 $ –
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These loans created in 2011 had a $1,000 loan fee. The expenses incurred related to issuing the loan were approximately $76, which were 
netted against the loan amount. The remaining $924, which is netted against the gross loan amount, is being recognized over the expected life of the 
loans using the straight-line method. The aggregate unearned loan fee was $708 and $924 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. While the 
remaining balance of the unearned loan fee related to our existing loans will decline to $0 over the life of those loans, we expect total unearned loan fees 
to increase in the future along with our commercial lending program.

The table below depicts the roll forward of commercial loans for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Below is an aging schedule of gross loans receivable as of December 31, 2012, on a recency basis:

Below is an aging schedule of gross loans receivable as of December 31, 2012, on a contractual basis:

For the years ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Beginning balance $ 4,580 $ –
     Additions 355 4,580
     Repayments (from payoffs/sales) (1,547) –
     Earned loan fee 216 –
Ending balance $ 3,604 $ 4,580

No. 
Accts.

Unpaid
Balances %

Current loans (current accounts and accounts on which more than 50% of an 
original contract payment was made in the last 59 days) 3 $ 4,312 100%

60-89 days – – 0%
90-179 days – – 0%
180-269 days – – 0%

Subtotal 3 $ 4,312 100%

Interest only accounts (Accounts on which interest, deferment, extension and/or 
default charges were received in the last 60 days) – $ – 0%

Partial Payment accounts (Accounts on which the total received in the last 60 days 
was less than 50% of the original contractual monthly payment. “Total received”
to include interest on simple interest accounts, as well as late charges on 
deferment charges on precomputed accounts.) – $ – 0%

Total 3 $ 4,312 100%

No. 
Accts.

Unpaid 
Balances %

Contractual Terms - All current Direct Loans and Sales Finance Contracts with 
installments past due less than 60 days from due date. 3 $ 4,312 100%

60-89 days – – 0%
90-179 days – – 0%
180-269 days – – 0%

Subtotal 3 $ 4,312 100%

Interest only accounts (Accounts on which interest, deferment, extension and/or 
default charges were received in the last 60 days) – $ – 0%

Partial Payment accounts (Accounts on which the total received in the last 60 days 
was less than 50% of the original contractual monthly payment.  “Total received”
to include interest on simple interest accounts, as well as late charges on 
deferment charges on precomputed accounts.) – $ – 0%

Total 3 $ 4,312 100%
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Below is an aging schedule of gross loans receivable as of December 31, 2011, on a recency basis:

Below is an aging schedule of gross loans receivable as of December 31, 2011, on a contractual basis:

No. 
Accts.

Unpaid
Balances %

Current loans (current accounts and accounts on which more than 50% of an 
original contract payment was made in the last 59 days) 3 $ 5,504 100%

60-89 days – – 0%
90-179 days – – 0%
180-269 days – – 0%

Subtotal 3 $ 5,504 100%

Interest only accounts (Accounts on which interest, deferment, extension and/or 
default charges were received in the last 60 days) – $ – 0%

Partial Payment accounts (Accounts on which the total received in the last 60 days 
was less than 50% of the original contractual monthly payment. “Total received”
to include interest on simple interest accounts, as well as late charges on 
deferment charges on precomputed accounts.) – $ – 0%

Total 3 $ 5,504 100%

No. 
Accts.

Unpaid 
Balances %

Contractual Terms - All current Direct Loans and Sales Finance Contracts with 
installments past due less than 60 days from due date. 3 $ 5,504 100%

60-89 days – – 0%
90-179 days – – 0%
180-269 days – – 0%

Subtotal 3 $ 5,504 100%

Interest only accounts (Accounts on which interest, deferment, extension and/or 
default charges were received in the last 60 days) – $ – 0%

Partial Payment accounts (Accounts on which the total received in the last 60 days 
was less than 50% of the original contractual monthly payment.  “Total received”
to include interest on simple interest accounts, as well as late charges on 
deferment charges on precomputed accounts.) – $ – 0%

Total 3 $ 5,504 100%
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Customer Interest Escrow

The loans we extended in December 2011 called for a funded Interest Escrow account, with funds borrowed against the properties as part of the 
loan balance. The initial funding on that Interest Escrow was $450. The balance as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $329 and $450, respectively. To 
the extent the balance is available in the Interest Escrow, interest due on certain loans is deducted from the Interest Escrow on the date due. The Interest 
Escrow is increased by 10% of lot payoffs on the same loans, and by interest on the $1,500 note payable to the borrower. All of these transactions are 
noncash to the extent that the total escrow amount does not need additional funding. The Interest Escrow is also used to contribute to the reduction of the 
$400 subordinated mortgage upon certain lot sales of the collateral of that loan. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Interest Escrow was 
reduced by $341 for interest due on loans, and $18 to reduce the balance on the $400 subordinated mortgage. During the year ended December 31, 2012, 
the Interest Escrow was increased by $69 for interest on the note payable, unsecured and $169 from lot payoffs.

Note Payable Unsecured

At the same time that we extended the new loans in December 2011, we assumed a note payable to our borrowing customer for $1,500, which 
was the balance at both December 31, 2012 and 2011. This loan is unsecured and has the same priority as the Notes. It is also collateral for the loans we 
extended to this customer. After our public offering of Notes was declared effective by the SEC and certain states on October 4, 2012, we did not 
advertise, and we received $2 in investments in the Notes. We expect our Note payable unsecured balance to increase as we raise funds in our Notes 
offering after we begin to advertise, which we anticipate will occur in the first quarter of 2013.

Note Payable Related Party

In order to minimize the amount of idle cash on our balance sheet and maximize the loans receivable which create interest spread, we have two 
lines of credit from affiliates, which had a combined balance as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 of $1,108 and $878, respectively. Had we not increased 
our cash position just before the end of 2012, we would have had only $512 in affiliate debt on December 31, 2012. This reduction would have been 
from loan paydowns, partially offset by increases in deferred financing costs. We intend to have a line of credit or multiple lines of credit in the future, 
and intend to eventually replace these lines from affiliates with lines from unrelated financial institutions. However, we can make no assurance that we 
will obtain a line of credit with an unrelated financial institution on favorable terms or at all.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have a limited operating history with our current business model, and our operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, 
particularly related to the concentration of our current operations to a single customer and geographic region, as well as the evolution of the current 
economic environment and its impact on the United States real estate and housing markets. Both the concentration of risk and the economic environment 
could directly or indirectly impact losses related to certain transactions and access to and cost of adequate financing.

Our anticipated primary source of liquidity going forward is interest income and/or principal repayments related to the loans, as well as funds 
borrowed from creditors, substantially all of whom are currently members and affiliates.  While our public Notes offering is currently effective with the 
SEC, which allows us to borrow money in many of the states, we have not advertised yet and have only received an immaterial amount of notes 
proceeds. We anticipate beginning to advertise in the first quarter of 2013. Therefore, our ability to fund our operations remains dependent upon the sole 
borrower’s ability to continue paying interest and/or principal and our ability to obtain additional financing, as needed, from the members, general public 
and other entities. 

We generated income from continuing operations of $122 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Cash provided 
by (used in) continuing operations during these years was approximately $596 and ($2,735), respectively. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, 
we had cash on hand of $646 and $50, and our outstanding debt totaled $2,610 and $2,378, which was unsecured or payable to related parties. As of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the amount that we have not loaned, but are obligated to potentially lend to our customers based on our agreements with 
them, was $588 and $296, respectively. While we generated profits from continuing operations as listed above, the cash flows provided by (used in) 
continuing operations for 2012 were ($174) from operations, $1,184 from investing, and ($414) from financing, for a total of $596. We had significant 
loan paydowns and proceeds from related party notes which increased our cash, and changes in deferred loan fees and customer interest escrow, as well 
as significant payments for debt issuance costs which decreased our cash. In 2011 our cash flows provided by (used in) continuing operations were $422 
from operations, ($4,579) from investing, and $1,422 from financing, for a total of ($2,735). We had a major investment in new loans and distributions 
to owners, which were partially offset by increases in deferred loan fees, proceeds from unsecured notes, proceeds from related party notes, and 
customer interest escrow. We generated $0 and $2,773 of cash from discontinued operations in 2012 and 2011 respectively.
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Our current plan is to expand the commercial lending program by using current liquidity and available funding (including funding from our
notes program). We have anticipated the costs of this expansion and the continuing costs of maintaining our public company status, and we anticipate
generating, through normal operations, the cash flows necessary to meet our operating, investing and financing requirements. As noted above, the two
most significant factors driving our current plans are the continued payments of principal and interest by our sole homebuilder customer and the public
offering of notes. If actual results differ materially from our current plan or if expected financing is not available, we believe we have the ability to
reduce future cash outlays by withdrawing our public company status, which would reduce our audit and legal expenses. We also believe we have the
ability and intent to obtain funding and generate net worth through additional debt or equity infusions of cash, if needed. There can be no assurance,
however, that we will be able to implement our strategies or obtain additional financing under favorable terms, if at all.

Historically, we have funded our business through credit facilities with banks, borrowings from related parties, equity investments by our 
members and payments made pursuant to our commercial real estate leases.

Our business of borrowing money and re-lending it to generate interest spread will be a primary use of capital resources. There are several risks 
in any financing company of this nature, and we will discuss significant risks here and how they relate to our Company and what, if any, mitigation 
techniques we have or may employ.

First, any financial institution needs to match the maturities of its borrowings with the maturities of its assets. The bulk of most financial 
institutions’ borrowings are in the form of public investments or deposits. These generally have maturities that are either set periods of time, or upon the 
demand of the investor/depositor. The risk is that either obligations come due before funds are available to be paid out (a shortage of liquidity) or that 
funds are repaid before the obligation comes due (idle cash, as described herein). To mitigate these risks, we are not offering demand deposits (for 
instance, a checking account). Instead, we are offering Notes with varying maturities between one and four years, which we believe will be longer than 
the average life of the loans we will extend. However, we have the option to repay the Notes early if we wish without penalty. These items protect us 
against this risk of matching of debt and asset maturity.

Second, financial institutions must have daily liquidity on their debt side, to offset variations in loan balances on a daily basis. Borrowers can 
repay their Notes at any time, and they will request draws as they are ready for them. Further, construction loans are not funded 100% initially, so there 
are contractual obligations on the lender’s part to fund loans in the future. Most financial institutions mitigate this risk by having a secured line of credit 
from the Federal Reserve Bank. We have the same risk from customer repayments and draws as banks, and we intend to mitigate this risk by obtaining a 
secured line of credit with a bank. Our current debt financing consists of the two demand loans from our members and the SF Loan. The loan balance 
from our members on December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $1,108 and $878, respectively. The loan balance on the SF Loan was $1,500 on both December 
31, 2012 and 2011. If we are able to refinance the demand loans with a bank line of credit, we intend to maintain the outstanding balance on the line at 
approximately 10% of our committed loan amount. Failure to refinance the demand loans in the future with a larger bank line of credit may result in a 
lack of liquidity, or low loan production. Future lines of credit from banks will have expiration dates or be demand loans, which will have risks 
associated with those maturities.

Third, financial institutions have the risk of swings in market rates on borrowing and lending, which can make borrowing money to fund loans 
to their customers or fund their operations costly. The rates at which institutions can borrow are not necessarily tied to the rates at which they can lend. 
In our case, we are lending to customers using a rate which varies monthly with our cost of funds. So while we somewhat mitigate this risk, we are still 
open to the problem of, at the time of originating loans, wanting to originate new loans at a rate that would make us money, but that rate not being 
competitive in the market. Lack of lending may cause us to repay Notes early and lose interest spread dollars, hurting our profitability and ability to 
repay.

In the past, we have been able to manage our liquidity, as our borrowings coincided on a one-to-one basis with our investments, but as we grow 
our operations, we do not anticipate this trend will continue.

We intend to generate liquidity from:

 borrowings in the form of the demand loans from our members;

 proceeds from the Notes;

 repayments of loan receivables;

 interest and fee income;

 borrowings from lines of credit with banks (not in place yet);

 sale of property obtained through foreclosure; and

 other sources as we determine in the future.

33



We intend to use liquidity to:

The Company’s anticipated primary sources of liquidity going forward are interest income and principal repayments related to loans it extends, 
as well as funds borrowed from creditors, including affiliates and Note holders. Therefore, the Company’s ability to fund its operations is dependent 
upon these sources of liquidity.

Inflation, Interest Rates, and Housing Starts

Since we are in the housing industry, we are affected by factors that impact that industry. Housing starts impact our customers’ ability to sell 
their homes. Faster sales mean higher effective interest rates for us, as the recognition of fees we charge is spread over a shorter period. Slower sales 
mean lower effective interest rates for us. Slower sales are likely to increase the default rate we experience.

Housing inflation has a positive impact on our operations. When we lend initially, we are lending a percentage of a home’s expected value, 
based on historical sales. If those estimates prove to be low (in an inflationary market), the percentage we loaned on the value actually decreases, 
reducing potential losses on defaulted loans. The opposite is true in a deflationary housing price market. It is our opinion that values are low in many of 
the housing markets in the U.S. today, and our lending against these values is much safer than loans made by financial institutions in 2006 to 2008. 
Below is a graph showing monthly median new home sales prices in the U.S. This does not represent an exact display of what happened to any particular 
home over 11 years. The numbers not only vary based on inflation and deflation, but also based on size of home and areas of the country where sales 
prices are better or worse.

 make payments on other borrowings, including loans from affiliates;

 pay Notes on their scheduled due date and Notes that we are required to redeem early;

 make interest payments on the Notes; and

 to the extent we have remaining net proceeds and adequate cash on hand, fund any one or more of the following activities:

o to extend commercial construction loans to homebuilders to build single or multi-family homes or develop lots;

o to make distributions to equity owners;

o for working capital and other corporate purposes;

o to purchase defaulted secured debt from financial institutions at a discount;

o to purchase defaulted unsecured debt from suppliers to homebuilders at a discount and then secure it with real estate or 
other collateral;

o to purchase real estate, in which we will operate our business; and

o to redeem Notes which we have decided to redeem prior to maturity.
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

Interest rates have several impacts on our business. First, rates affect housing (starts, home size, etc.). High long term interest rates may 
decrease housing starts, having the effects listed above. Higher interest rates will also affect our investors. We believe that there will be a spread between 
the rate our Notes yield to our investors and the rates the same investors could get on deposits at FDIC insured institutions. We also believe that the 
spread may need to widen if these rates rise. For instance, if we pay 2% above average CD rates when CD’s are paying 0.5%, when CD’s are paying 3%, 
we may have to have a larger than 2% difference. This may cause our lending rates, which are based on our cost of funds, to be uncompetitive. High 
interest rates may also increase builder defaults, as interest payments may become a higher portion of operating costs for the builder. Below is a chart 
showing average CD rates.

 Source: Derivation of Rates Reported by Federal Reserve Board

Housing prices are also generally correlated with housing starts, so that increases in housing starts usually coincide with increases in housing 
values, and the reverse is generally true. Below is a graph showing single family housing starts from 2000 through 2012.

Certificates of Deposit Index
Month 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Jan 3.363% 1.688% 1.132% 1.693% 3.674% 5.217% 5.145% 2.730% 0.488% 0.319% 0.313% 0.268%
Feb 3.077% 1.643% 1.113% 1.836% 3.837% 5.266% 4.958% 2.572% 0.407% 0.327% 0.315%
Mar 2.828% 1.586% 1.098% 1.996% 3.996% 5.301% 4.748% 2.428% 0.337% 0.331% 0.316%
Apr 2.607% 1.533% 1.085% 2.163% 4.158% 5.324% 4.543% 2.265% 0.288% 0.325% 0.321%
May 2.423% 1.483% 1.083% 2.332% 4.318% 5.338% 4.323% 2.091% 0.278% 0.305% 0.328%
Jun 2.263% 1.419% 1.118% 2.492% 4.483% 5.336% 4.108% 1.893% 0.288% 0.280% 0.336%
Jul 2.107% 1.358% 1.162% 2.658% 4.640% 5.324% 3.898% 1.690% 0.293% 0.266% 0.341%
Aug 1.961% 1.303% 1.212% 2.833% 4.774% 5.333% 3.673% 1.483% 0.295% 0.263% 0.338%
Sep 1.868% 1.247% 1.277% 3.000% 4.897% 5.343% 3.517% 1.204% 0.298% 0.268% 0.331%
Oct 1.820% 1.194% 1.355% 3.174% 4.997% 5.323% 3.453% 0.864% 0.300% 0.276% 0.319%
Nov 1.767% 1.171% 1.451% 3.345% 5.081% 5.293% 3.236% 0.685% 0.305% 0.288% 0.304%
Dec 1.726% 1.151% 1.563% 3.512% 5.153% 5.268% 2.965% 0.556% 0.312% 0.304% 0.283%

Copyright 2013 MoneyCafe.com
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

To date, changes in housing starts, CD rates, and inflation have not had a material impact on our business.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for a description of new or recent accounting pronouncements.

Subsequent Events

See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for subsequent events.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not required to provide the
information under this item.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and supplementary data filed as part of this annual report are set forth beginning on page F-1 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report our chief executive officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial officer)
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon, and as of the date of, the evaluation, our
chief executive officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial officer) concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this report to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and when required. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer (our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer), as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2012 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. This annual report does not include a report 
of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to a 
transition period established by rules of the SEC for smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

During the fourth quarter of 2012, there was no information required to be disclosed in a report on Form 8-K which was not disclosed in a 
report on Form 8-K.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Managers and Executive Officers

Included below is certain information about our managers and executive officers. Pursuant to our operating agreement, which was adopted on 
March 29, 2012, Messrs. Wallach, Myrick and Summers were appointed to initial terms of one year, two years and three years, respectively. Following 
the expiration of these initial terms, our Managers will be elected to three-year staggered terms.

Daniel M. Wallach, age 45, is our Chief Executive Officer and a Manager. He has been our Chief Executive Officer since our Company was 
founded and, prior to the addition of the two independent Managers in March 2012, he was our sole Manager. Mr. Wallach has over 20 years of 
experience in finance and real estate. Most recently, from May 2011 to July 2011, Mr. Wallach was an Executive Vice President for ProBuild Holdings, 
a building material supplier to homebuilders. Before that, from 1985 to1989, and 1990 to April 2011, Mr. Wallach held various positions with 84 
Lumber Company and affiliates, including Chief Financial Officer and Director. 84 Lumber is a building material supplier to homebuilders and was, at 
that time, one of our affiliates. At 84 Lumber, Mr. Wallach oversaw the company’s financial and accounting function, including all aspects related to 
financial reporting, debt financing, customer financing, customer credit and management information systems. Mr. Wallach was also intimately involved 
with the creation of 84 Financial L.P., a finance company affiliated with and owned by 84 Lumber, which had investment objectives similar to ours. Mr. 
Wallach has also held operational and finance positions with a mortgage brokerage firm and a building contractor. He graduated from Washington and 
Jefferson College in Washington, Pennsylvania with a B.A. in Business Administration.

Bill Myrick, age 50, is one of the independent Managers, to which he was elected in March 2012. He has been involved in lumber and building 
materials for nearly 30 years. In July 2012, Mr. Myrick became the Chief Executive Officer of American Builders Supply, a building material supplier to 
homebuilders, where he is responsible for all aspects of the management of that business. From January 2007 to July 2011, he held various executive 
officer positions with ProBuild Holdings, including, most recently, Chief Executive Officer, and was responsible for all aspects of the management of 
ProBuild’s business. From 1982 to January 2007, Mr. Myrick was with 84 Lumber Company, where he held positions including, most recently, Chief 
Operating Officer. Mr. Myrick served as a director of ProBuild from July 2010 to July 2011, and currently serves as a director of American Builders 
Supply, a position he has held since July 2012. He is a graduate of the Advanced Management Program from Harvard Business School.

Kenneth R. Summers, age 67, is one of the independent Managers, to which he was elected in March 2012. Mr. Summers retired from United 
Bank, Inc. of Morgantown, West Virginia in July 2011, but continues to be associated with United Bank, a regional bank. Prior to retirement, he had 
been an Executive Vice President for United Bank since 2001. In that role he was responsible for the expansion and recognition of the bank’s franchise 
in north central West Virginia. Mr. Summers has over 30 years of experience as a community bank executive. He graduated from the University of 
Charleston with a B.S. in Accounting and Management.

Code of Ethics

Our Board of Managers adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct on August 9, 2012 (the “Code of Ethics”), which contains general 
guidelines applicable to our employees, executive officers and the members of our Board of Managers with the purpose of promoting the following: (1) 
honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships; (2) 
full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that we file with, or submit to, the SEC and in other public 
communications made by us; (3) compliance with applicable laws and governmental rules and regulations; (4) the prompt internal reporting of violations 
of the Code of Ethics to an appropriate person or persons identified in the Code of Ethics; and (5) accountability for adherence to the Code of Ethics. A 
copy of the Code of Ethics is posted on our website at www.shepherdsfinance.com.
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Audit Committee

Our Board of Managers has established a separately-designated Audit Committee, whose charter was adopted on August 9, 2012. The purpose 
of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Company’s accounting and financial reporting processes and the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. Our Audit Committee consists of Messrs. Myrick and Summers, the two independent Managers. We have no “audit committee financial 
expert” (as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K). We believe the cost to retain a financial expert at this time is prohibitive. 
However, our Board of Managers believes that each member of the Audit Committee has sufficient knowledge and relevant background experience to 
serve on the Audit Committee.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive Officer Compensation

Currently, our only executive officer is our Chief Executive Officer, Daniel M. Wallach. We currently do not compensate our executive officer 
for services rendered to us, but we may elect in the future to compensate our executive officer and future executive officers. This discussion describes 
our anticipated compensation philosophy and policies with respect to Mr. Wallach and any executive officers we hire in the near term.

Objectives of Executive Officer Compensation Program

The objectives of our executive compensation program will be to attract, retain and motivate highly talented executives and to align each 
executive’s incentives with our short-term and long-term objectives, while maintaining a healthy and stable financial position. Specifically, our 
executive compensation program will be designed to accomplish the following goals and objectives:

Determining Executive Officer Compensation

The compensation committee of our Board of Managers shall be responsible for determining all aspects of our executive compensation 
program. We expect the determination and assessment of executive compensation will be primarily driven by the following three factors: (1) market 
data based on the compensation levels, programs and practices of other comparable companies for comparable positions, (2) our financial performance, 
and (3) executive officer performance. We believe these three factors provide a reasonably measurable assessment of executive performance in light of 
building value and creating a healthy financial position for us. We will rely upon the judgment of the members of the compensation committee and not 
on rigid formulas or short-term changes in business performance in determining the amount and mix of compensation elements and whether each 
element provides the appropriate incentive and reward for performance that sustains and enhances our long-term growth.

Executive Officer Compensation Components

Base Salary

We expect to provide each of our executive officers with a base salary to compensate such officer for services rendered throughout the year. 
Salaries will be established annually based on the individual’s position, experience, performance, past and potential contribution to us, and level of 
responsibility, as well as our overall financial performance. No specific weighting will be applied to any one factor considered, and we expect that the 
independent Managers will use their judgment and expertise in determining appropriate salaries within the parameters of the compensation philosophy. 

Membership Interests 

As the beneficial owner of all of our outstanding membership interests, Mr. Wallach’s interests are closely aligned with our success. As we 
hire additional executive officers, we may use membership interests in some fashion as part of their compensation.

 maintain a compensation program that is equitable in our marketplace;

 provide opportunities that integrate pay with the short-term and long-term performance goals;

 encourage and reward achievement of strategic objectives, while properly balancing a controlled risk-taking behavior; and

 maintain an appropriate balance between base salary and short-term and long-term incentive opportunity.
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Board of Managers Compensation

The following table provides a summary of the compensation received by our managers for the year ended December 31, 2012:

We pay each of the independent Managers a retainer of $30,000 per year. Our independent Managers also receive fees of $2,000 for the first 
day and $1,200 for any additional days for meetings of the Board of Managers and committees attended in person, all or a portion of which may be 
allocated as reimbursement of expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings. The independent Managers do not receive separate 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings. Mr. Wallach receives no compensation for his services as 
a Manager.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS

The following table sets forth the ownership of our outstanding membership interests as of December 31, 2012.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Transactions with Affiliates

As previously described, on December 30, 2011, we obtained two demand loans from our members to finance our operations. These demand 
loans are collateralized by a lien against all of our assets and are senior in right of payment to the Notes. Daniel M. Wallach, our Chief Executive Officer 
(who is also on our Board of Managers), is the beneficial owner of all of our outstanding membership interests.

The first loan, in the original principal amount of $1,250,000, is payable to Daniel M. Wallach and Joyce S. Wallach, as tenants by the entirety 
(the “Wallach Loan”). The second loan, in the original principal amount of $250,000, is payable to the 2007 Daniel M. Wallach Legacy Trust (the “Trust 
Loan”). The total outstanding balance on these loans as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $1,108,091 and $878,091, respectively. Each of the demand 
loans is evidenced by a promissory note, is payable upon demand of the lender and bears an interest rate equal to the lender’s cost of funds (defined in 
the promissory note as the weighted average price paid by the lender on or in connection with all of its borrowed funds). Pursuant to each promissory 
note, the affiliate has the option of funding any amount up to the face amount of the note, in the lender’s sole and absolute discretion. As of December 
31, 2012 and 2011, the interest rate was 3.93% and 3.73%, respectively for both the Wallach Loan and the Trust Loan.

These transactions were approved by Mr. Wallach in his capacity as sole Manager prior to the time we had independent Managers. As the 
demand loans were made at rates equal to the lenders’ cost of funds, Mr. Wallach determined the terms of the demand loans to be as favorable to us as 
those generally available from unaffiliated third parties. The independent Managers ratified and approved these transactions subsequent to the formation 
of the Board of Managers. See “Risk Factors - Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest - Our Chief Executive Officer (who is also one of our Managers) 
will face conflicts of interest as a result of the secured affiliated loans made to us, which could result in actions that are not in the best interests of our 
Note holders.”

Name

Fees 
Earned or 

Paid in
Cash

Stock
Awards

Option
Awards

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan 
Compensation

Change in 
Pension Value 

and 
Nonqualified 

Deferred 
Compensation

All Other 
Compensation Total

Daniel M. Wallach $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – $ –
Kenneth R. Summers 30,500 – – – – – 30,500
William Myrick 28,500 – – – – – 28,500
Total $ 59,000 $ 59,000

Title of Class Name and Address(1) of Owner
Number of

Units(2)
Percent of

Class
Class A Common Units Daniel M. Wallach and Joyce S. Wallach 648 24.6%
Class A Common Units 2007 Daniel M. Wallach Legacy Trust 1,981 75.4%

2,629 100%

(1) The address of each owner listed is 3508 Washington Road, McMurray, Pennsylvania 15317.

(2) The units listed above are owned directly by the owners listed above. All of our outstanding membership interests are beneficially owned by our 
Chief Executive Officer (who is also on our Board of Managers), Daniel M. Wallach, and his wife, Joyce S. Wallach.
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Affiliate Transaction Policy

Our operating agreement provides that any future transaction involving the Company and an affiliate must be approved by a majority vote of 
independent Managers not otherwise interested in the transaction upon a determination of such independent Managers that the transaction is on terms no 
less favorable to the Company than could be obtained from an independent third party. An approval pursuant to this policy shall be set forth in the 
minutes of the Company and shall include a description of the transaction approved. The responsibility for reviewing and approving affiliate transactions 
has been delegated to the nominating and corporate governance committee of our Board of Managers, which is comprised entirely of independent 
Managers.

Pursuant to our operating agreement, we must provide the independent Managers with access, at our expense, to our legal counsel or 
independent legal counsel, as needed.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC (“CRI”) served as our independent auditors and provided 
certain other services. CRI has served as our independent auditors since 2011. The Audit Committee currently anticipates that it will engage CRI as our 
independent auditors to audit our financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2013, subject to agreeing on fee estimates for the audit work. 
The Audit Committee reserves the right, however, to select new auditors at any time in the future in its discretion if it deems such decision to be in our 
best interests. Any such decision would be disclosed in accordance with applicable securities laws.

Our Audit Committee reviewed the audit and non-audit services performed by CRI, as well as the fees charged by CRI for such services. In its 
review of the non-audit service fees, the Audit Committee considered whether the provision of such services is compatible with maintaining the 
independence of CRI. The aggregate agreed upon and billed fees for professional accounting services provided by CRI, including the audits of our 
annual consolidated financial statements, for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, are set forth in the table below.

* Public offering assistance

Pre-Approval Policies 

The Audit Committee charter imposes a duty on the Audit Committee to pre-approve all auditing services performed for us by our independent 
auditors, as well as all permitted non-audit services (including the fees and terms thereof) in order to ensure that the provision of such services does not 
impair the auditor’s independence. In determining whether or not to pre-approve services, the Audit Committee considers whether the service is 
permissible under applicable SEC rules. The Audit Committee may, in its discretion, delegate one or more of its members the authority to pre-approve 
any services to be performed by our independent auditors, provided such pre-approval is presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled 
meeting.

CRI was initially engaged to perform the year end 2011 audit and the review of the first quarter of 2012 by Mr. Wallach, then our only 
Manager, before the Board of Managers was established in March of 2012. At the initial Board meeting in March of 2012, the Board approved and 
ratified the engagement of CRI. The Board has since pre-approved all engagements of CRI in accordance with the policies set forth above.

2012 2011
Audit Fees $ 135,190 $ –
Audit-Related Fees* 109,928 –
Tax Fees – –
All Other Fees – –
Total $ 245,118 –
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) List of Documents Filed.

1. The list of the financial statements contained herein is set forth on page F-1 hereof.

2. All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under the related 
instructions or are not applicable and therefore have been omitted.

3. The Exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed on the Exhibit Index below.

(b) See (a)3 above.

(c) See (a)2 above.
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

The following exhibits are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 (and are numbered in accordance 
with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

Exhibit No. Name of Exhibit
3.1 Certificate of Conversion, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on 

May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360
3.2 Certificate of Formation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 

11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360
3.3 Amended and Restated Operating Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on 

Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360
4.1 * Indenture Agreement (including Form of Note) dated October 4, 2012 
10.1 Mortgage dated July 21, 2010 between Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, Mark L. Hoskins, Louis E. Menichi, Jennie Menichi, Erma 

Grego, and Anna Marie Corrado, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, 
filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.2 Subordinated Promissory Note dated December 29, 2010 between 84 Financial L.P. and Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission 
File No. 333-181360

10.3 Credit Agreement dated December 30, 2011 by and between Benjamin Marcus Homes, L.L.C., Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC 
and Mark L. Hoskins, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 
11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.4 Open-End Mortgage dated December 30, 2011 between Benjamin Marcus Homes, L.L.C. and Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, related to the 
Hamlets of Springdale, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 
11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.5 Open-End Mortgage dated December 30, 2011 between Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC and Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, related to 
the Tuscany Subdivision, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on 
May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.6 Commercial Guaranty dated December 30, 2011 by Mark L. Hoskins, Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, and Benjamin Marcus 
Homes, L.L.C. in favor of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.7 Amended and Restated Commercial Pledge Agreement dated December 30, 2011 by Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC and 
Benjamin Marcus Homes, L.L.C. in favor of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.8 Assignment, Assumption, Amendment, and Restatement of Mortgage dated December 30, 2011 between 84 Financial L.P., 
Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, and Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.9 Assignment, Assumption, and Amendment of Promissory Note dated December 30, 2011 between 84 Financial L.P., Shepherd’s 
Finance, LLC, and Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.10 Promissory Note dated December 30, 2011 from Shepherd’s Finance, LLC to 2007 Daniel M. Wallach Legacy Trust, incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-
181360

10.11 Promissory Note dated December 30, 2011 from Shepherd’s Finance, LLC to Daniel M. Wallach and Joyce S. Wallach, incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 
333-181360

10.12 Commercial Pledge Agreement dated December 30, 2011 by Shepherd’s Finance, LLC in favor of 2007 Daniel M. Wallach Legacy 
Trust and Daniel M. Wallach and Joyce S. Wallach, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-181360

10.13 Amended and Restated Subordination of Mortgage dated December 31, 2011 between Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, Mark L. 
Hoskins, Louis E. Menichi, Jennie Menichi, Erma Grego, Anna Marie Corrado, and Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission File No. 333-
181360

10.14 Amendment of Promissory Note dated January 31, 2012 between Shepherd’s Finance, LLC and Investor’s Mark Acquisitions, LLC, 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on May 11, 2012, Commission 
File No. 333-181360

10.15 * First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated December 26, 2012
21.1 * Subsidiaries of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC
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___________________
* Filed herewith.
**Pursuant to Regulation 406T of Regulation S-T, these Interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for 
purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are 
otherwise not subject to liability.

31.1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002

32.1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS ** XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH ** XBRL Schema Document
101.CAL ** XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF ** XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB ** XBRL Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE ** XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

SHEPHERD’S FINANCE, LLC
(Registrant)

Dated: March 8, 2013 By: /s/ Daniel M. Wallach
Daniel M. Wallach
Chief Executive Officer and Manager

Signature Title Date

/S/ Daniel M. Wallach
Daniel M. Wallach

Chief Executive Officer and Manager
(Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer)

March 8, 2013

/S/ Bill Myrick
Bill Myrick

Manager March 8, 2013

/S/ Kenneth Summers
Kenneth Summers

   Manager March 8, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Managers and
Members of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 
and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in members’ capital, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period 
ended December 31, 2012. The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included 
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
the Company as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period 
ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC

March 7, 2013

Enterprise, Alabama
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Shepherd’s Finance, LLC
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.                

(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 646 $ 50
Accrued interest on loans 26 2
Deferred financing costs, net 596 –
Other assets 10 26
Loans receivable, net 3,604 4,580

Total assets $ 4,882 $ 4,658

Liabilities and Members’ Capital
Customer interest escrow $ 329 $ 450
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 41 –
Notes payable unsecured 1,502 1,500
Notes payable related party 1,108 878

Total liabilities 2,980 2,828

 Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9)

 Members’ capital 1,902 1,830

Total liabilities and members’ capital $ 4,882 $ 4,658
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Shepherd’s Finance, LLC
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.                

(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Interest Income
Interest and fee income on loans $ 581 $ 5
Interest expense 115 –

Net interest income 466 5
Less:  Loan loss provision – –

Net interest income 466 5

Non-Interest Expense
Selling, general and administrative 344 5

Income from continuing operations 122 –

Income from discontinued operations, net – 309

Net income $ 122 $ 309
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Shepherd’s Finance, LLC
Consolidated Statements of Changes In Members’ Capital

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Members’ capital, beginning balance $ 1,830 $ 2,476
Net income 122 309
Distributions to members (50) (955)

Members’ capital, ending balance $ 1,902 $ 1,830
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Shepherd’s Finance, LLC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.           

(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011

Cash flows from operations

Net income $ 122 $ 309
(Income) from discontinued operations – (309)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Deferred loan fees (216) –
Net change in operating assets and liabilities

Other operating assets 24 (26)
Accrued interest receivable (24) (2)
Customer interest escrow (121) 450
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 41 –

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities – continuing operations (174) 422
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities – discontinued operations – 57

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (174) 479

Cash flows from investing activities
Loan originations and principal collections, net 1,192 (4,579)
Other investing activity (8) –

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities – continuing operations 1,184 (4,579)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities – discontinued operations – 4,497

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,184 (82)

Cash flows from financing activities
Distributions to members (50) (955)
Proceeds from related party notes 230 877
Proceeds from unsecured notes 2 1,500
Payments of deferred financing costs (596) –

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities – continuing operations (414) 1,422
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities – discontinued operations – (1,781)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (414) (359)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 596 38

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period 50 12

End of period $ 646 $ 50

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 36 $ 512

F-6



Shepherd’s Finance, LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Information presented throughout these notes to the consolidated financial statements is in thousands of dollars.

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

Structure and Control Environment
Shepherd’s Finance, LLC and subsidiary (the “Company”, “we” or “our”) was originally formed as a Pennsylvania limited liability company on May 10,
2007. In conjunction with the change in strategic direction discussed more fully below, the Company changed its name from 84 RE Partners, LLC (“84
RE Partners”) on December 2, 2011 and converted to a Delaware limited liability company on March 29, 2012. We are the sole member of a
consolidating subsidiary, 84 REPA, LLC. The Company operated pursuant to an operating agreement by and among Daniel M. Wallach and the
members of the Company from its inception through March 29, 2012, at which time it adopted an amended and restated operating agreement. Under the
amended and restated operating agreement, we have three Managers, Daniel M. Wallach (who is also our CEO), and our independent Managers -
Kenneth Summers and Bill Myrick.

The Managers, through the CEO when appropriate, have direct and exclusive control over the management of the Company’s operations. With respect to
new loans, the CEO locates potential customers, conducts due diligence, and negotiates and completes the transactions in which the loans are originated.
Loans are either approved by the loan committee of the Board of Managers, or fit within guidelines created by that committee. The independent
Managers comprise the audit committee and approve affiliate transactions. The Managers also deal with governance issues. The Managers, through the
CEO when appropriate, perform, or arrange for the performance of, the management, advisory and administrative services required for Company
operations. Such services include, without limitation, the administration of investor accounts, investor relations, accounting, and the preparation, review
and dissemination of tax and other financial information. They also engage and manage the contractual relations with depositories, accountants,
attorneys, insurers, banks and others, as required.

Historical Operations
During 2007 and continuing through portions of 2011, the Company was the lessor in three commercial real estate leases (which were accounted for as
direct financing leases) with an affiliate, 84 Lumber Company (“84 Lumber”). During the majority of time of the business relationship between 84 RE
Partners and 84 Lumber, Daniel M. Wallach was employed by 84 Lumber, while also operating as the Manager of 84 RE Partners. The leased properties
were sold to 84 Lumber Company in May and September of 2011, and the leases were thereby terminated. See Note 8. This business model generated
consistent profits, positive cash flows and returns to the members for the duration of these financings. 

Change in Strategy
In late 2011, management elected to transform our business model. The Company lends money to residential homebuilders to develop undeveloped land
into residential building lots known as acquisition and development loans. The Company intends to focus most of our future efforts on commercial
lending to residential homebuilders, to finance construction of single family homes. The single family residential construction loans will be extended to
residential homebuilders and, as such, are commercial loans.

We anticipate expanding our lending capacity and funding our business operations by continued extension of notes to the general public, which notes are
unsecured subordinated debt. Eventually, the Company intends to repay the debt from affiliates with secured debt from a bank or through other liquidity.

December 2011 Transactions
On December 30, 2011, the Company originated two new loans and purchased a performing loan to finance construction of single family residential
properties.

On that same date and to finance the extension of the commercial loans noted above, we executed three new credit facilities. Two of the new credit
facilities are secured lines of credit from affiliates; the third is subordinated debt from a borrowing customer of the Company.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has a limited operating history with our current business model, and our operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties,
particularly related to the concentration of our current operations to a single customer and geographic region, as well as the evolution of the current
economic environment and its impact on the United States real estate and housing markets. Both the concentration of risk and the economic environment
could directly or indirectly impact losses related to certain transactions and access to and cost of adequate financing.

The Company’s anticipated primary source of liquidity going forward is interest income and/or principal repayments related to the loans, as well as
funds borrowed from creditors, substantially all of whom are currently members and affiliates.  While our public Notes offering is currently effective
with the SEC, which allows us to borrow money in many of the states, we have not advertised yet and have only received an immaterial amount of notes
proceeds. We anticipate beginning to advertise in the first quarter of 2013. Therefore, the Company’s ability to fund its operations remains dependent
upon the sole borrower’s ability to continue paying interest and/or principal and our ability to obtain additional financing, as needed, from the members,
general public and other entities. 

We generated income from continuing operations of $122 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Cash provided by (used
in) continuing operations during these years was approximately $596 and ($2,735), respectively. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, we had
cash on hand of $646 and $50, and our outstanding debt totaled $2,610 and $2,378, which was unsecured or payable to related parties. As of December
31, 2012 and 2011, the amount that we have not loaned, but are obligated to potentially lend to our customers based on our agreements with them, was
$588 and $296, respectively. While we generated profits from continuing operations as listed above, the cash flows provided by (used in) continuing
operations for 2012 were ($174) from operations, $1,184 from investing, and ($414) from financing, for a total of $596. We had significant loan
paydowns and proceeds from related party notes which increased our cash, and changes in deferred loan fees and customer interest escrow, as well as
significant payments for debt issuance costs which decreased our cash. In 2011 our cash flows provided by (used in) continuing operations were $422
from operations, ($4,579) from investing, and $1,422 from financing, for a total of ($2,735). We had a major investment in new loans and distributions
to owners, which were partially offset by increases in deferred loan fees, proceeds from unsecured notes, proceeds from related party notes, and
customer interest escrow. We generated $0 and $2,773 of cash from discontinued operations in 2012 and 2011 respectively.

Our current plan is to expand the commercial lending program by using current liquidity and available funding (including funding from our notes
program). We have anticipated the costs of this expansion and the continuing costs of maintaining our public company status, and we anticipate
generating, through normal operations, the cash flows necessary to meet our operating, investing and financing requirements. As noted above, the two
most significant factors driving our current plans are the continued payments of principal and interest by our sole homebuilder customer and the public
offering of notes. If actual results differ materially from our current plan or if expected financing is not available, we believe we have the ability to
reduce future cash outlays by withdrawing our public company status, which would reduce our audit and legal expenses. We also believe we have the
ability and intent to obtain funding and generate net worth through additional debt or equity infusions of cash, if needed. There can be no assurance,
however, that we will be able to implement our strategies or obtain additional financing under favorable terms, if at all.

Basis of Presentation

Principles of Consolidation These consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of each of the Company’s subsidiaries and reflect
all adjustments (all of which are normal recurring accruals) which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the
consolidated financial position, operating results, and cash flows for the periods. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. Our
consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of what our results will be for future years.

Classification The consolidated balance sheets of the Company are presented as unclassified to conform to industry practice for lending entities.

Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. It is reasonably possible that market conditions could deteriorate, which
could materially affect our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Among other effects, such changes could result in the
need to establish an allowance for loan losses.
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Operating Segments ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, requires that the Company report financial and descriptive information about reportable
segments and how these segments were determined. We determine the allocation of resources and performance of business units based on operating
income, net income and operating cash flows.  Segments are identified and aggregated based on products sold or services provided and the market(s)
they served.  Based on these factors, we have determined that the Company’s ongoing operations are in one segment, commercial lending.

Discontinued Operations Unless otherwise indicated, information in these notes to consolidated financial statements relates to continuing operations.
The direct financing lease asset disposal group was deemed to represent a component of the Company. During 2011, we sold these properties and, as a
result, they are classified in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes as discontinued operations.

The historical presentation of the accounts included in the consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations and cash flows and accompanying
footnotes which related to the disposal group has been reclassified to reflect discontinued operations treatment.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

Interest income generally is recognized on an accrual basis. The accrual of interest is generally discontinued on all loans past due 90 days or more. All
interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual or charged off is reversed against interest income, unless management believes
that the accrued interest is recoverable through liquidation of collateral. Interest received on nonaccrual loans is applied against principal. Interest on
accruing impaired loans is recognized as long as such loans do not meet the criteria for nonaccrual status.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative. Advertising expenses were $4 and $0 for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Management considers highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company has established a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP using a hierarchy, which requires the Company to maximize the
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Fair value measurements are an exit price, representing the amount that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. Three levels of inputs are used to measure
fair value, as follows:

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability; or

Level 3 – unobservable inputs, such as discounted cash flow models or valuations.

The determination of where assets and liabilities fall within this hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. See Note 3.

Loans Receivable

Loans are stated at the amount of unpaid principal, net of any allowances for loan losses, and adjusted for the net amount of direct costs and
nonrefundable loan fees associated with lending. The net amount of nonrefundable loan origination fees and direct costs associated with the lending
process, including commitment fees, is deferred and accreted to interest income over the lives of the loans using a method that approximates the interest
method. Substantially all of the Company’s loans are secured by real estate, currently all in a suburb of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Accordingly, the
ultimate collectability of a substantial portion of these loans is susceptible to changes in market conditions in that area.

F-9



Past due loans are loans contractually past due 30 days or more as to principal or interest payments. A loan is classified as nonaccrual, and the accrual of
interest on such loan is discontinued, when the contractual payment of principal or interest becomes 90 days past due. In addition, a loan may be placed
on nonaccrual at any other time management has serious doubts about further collectability of principal or interest according to the contractual terms,
even though the loan is currently performing. A loan may remain on accrual status if it is in the process of collection or well-secured (i.e. the loan has
sufficient collateral value). Loans are restored to accrual status when the obligation is brought current or has performed in accordance with the
contractual terms for a reasonable period of time and the ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer in doubt.

A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect the scheduled
payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Impaired loans, or portions thereof, are charged off
when deemed uncollectible. Once a loan is 90 days past due, management begins a workout plan with the borrower or commences its foreclosure
process on the collateral.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses, when determined to be necessary, is maintained at a level believed adequate by management to absorb probable losses
inherent in the loan portfolio.

For loans to one borrower with committed balances less than 10% of our total committed balances on all loans extended to all customers, we analyze for
impairment all loans which are more than 60 days past due at the end of a quarter.  For loans to one borrower with committed balances equal to or
greater than 10% of our total committed balances on all loans extended to all customers, we analyze all loans for impairment.  The analysis on loans, if
required, includes a comparison of estimated collateral value to the principal amount of the loan.  If the value determined is less than the principal
amount due (less any builder deposit), then the difference is included in the loan loss.  As values change, estimated loan losses may be provided for more
or less than the previous period, and some loans may not need a loss provision based on payment history.  For homes which are partially complete, we
appraise on an as-is and completed basis, and use the one that more closely aligns with our planned method of disposal for the property.

For loans that are individually evaluated for impairment, appraisals have been prepared within the last 13 months.  There are also broker’s opinions of
value (“BOV”) prepared, if the appraisal is more than six months old.  The lower of any BOV prepared in the last six months, or appraisal done in the
last 13 months, is used, unless we determine a BOV to be invalid based on the comparable sales used.  If we determine a BOV to be invalid, we will use
the appraised value.  Appraised values are adjusted down for estimated costs associated with asset disposal.

Deferred Financing Costs, Net

We defer certain costs associated with financing activities related to the issuance of debt securities (Deferred financing costs). These costs consist
primarily of professional fees incurred related to the transactions. Deferred financing costs are amortized into interest expense over the life of the related
debt.

The following is a roll forward of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Deferred financing costs, beginning balance $ – $ –
   Additions 598 –
Deferred financing costs, ending balance $ 598 $ –
   Less accumulated amortization (2) –
Deferred financing costs, net $ 596 $ –
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The following is a roll forward of the accumulated amortization of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Amortization recorded as interest expense totaled $2 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Income Taxes

The entities included in the consolidated financial statements are organized as pass-through entities under the Internal Revenue Code. As such, taxes are
the responsibility of the members. Other significant taxes for which the Company is liable are recorded on an accrual basis.

The Company applies ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). ASC 740 provides guidance for how uncertain tax positions should be recognized,
measured, presented and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and requires the evaluation of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in
the course of preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements to determine whether the tax positions are “more-likely-than-not” to be
sustained by the applicable tax authority. Tax positions with respect to income tax at the LLC level not deemed to meet the “more-likely-than-not”
threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the appropriate period. Management concluded that there are no uncertain tax positions that
should be recognized in the consolidated financial statements. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations for
years prior to 2009.

The Company’s policy is to record interest and penalties related to taxes in interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations. There were no
significant interest or penalties assessed or paid in the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to many of the risks common to the commercial lending and real estate industries, such as general economic conditions, the
decreases in home values, decreases in housing starts, and high unemployment. These risks, which could have a material and negative impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows include, but are not limited to, declines in housing starts, significant
decreases in home values, unfavorable changes in interest rates, and competition from other lenders. At December 31, 2012, our loans were concentrated
in a suburb of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, so the housing starts and prices in that area are more significant to our business than other areas until and if
more loans are created in other markets.

Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of loans receivable. The loans created in
2011 and existing at December 31, 2012 are all to one borrower, and the collateral is in one real estate market.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11, Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities which creates new disclosure requirements about
the nature of an entity’s rights of setoff and related arrangements associated with its financial instruments and derivative instruments. The disclosures
will be limited to financial instruments and derivatives subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements and excludes loans
unless they are netted in the statement of financial condition. The amendments will affect all entities that have financial instruments and derivatives that
are either offset in the balance sheet or subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement regardless of whether they are offset in
the balance sheet. The ASU will require entities to disclose, separately for financial assets and liabilities, including derivatives, the gross amounts of
recognized financial assets and liabilities; the amounts offset under current U.S. GAAP; the net amounts presented in the balance sheet; the amounts
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that were not included in the offset amount above, and the reconciling
amount. The disclosure requirements are effective for annual and interim reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with retrospective
application required. The Company is evaluating the impact of this amendment.

2012 2011
Accumulated amortization, beginning balance $ – $ –
   Additions 2 –
Accumulated amortization, ending balance $ 2 $ –
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In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS, to provide a consistent definition of fair value and ensure that the fair value measurement and
disclosure requirements are similar between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. ASU 2011-04 changes certain fair value measurement principles and enhances the
disclosure requirements particularly for Level 3 fair value measurements. The most significant change will require entities, for their recurring Level 3
fair value measurements, to disclose quantitative information about unobservable inputs used, a description of the valuation processes used by the entity,
and a qualitative discussion about the sensitivity of the measurements. In addition, entities must report the level in the fair value hierarchy of assets and
liabilities not recorded at fair value but where fair value is disclosed. The amendment was effective for annual and interim reporting periods which began
after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this guidance had no significant effect on the amounts presented in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements or notes to the consolidated financial statements, as the Company currently has no assets measured at fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring
basis. See Note 3.

Subsequent Events

Management of the Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 8, 2013, the date these consolidated financial statements were issued. See
Note 11.

3. Fair Value 

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had no assets measured at fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring basis. The Company has determined
that the carrying value of financial instruments approximates fair value, as outlined below:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Loans Receivable and Commitments to Extend Credit

For variable rate loans that reprice frequently with no significant change in credit risk, estimated fair values are based on carrying values at
December 31, 2012 and 2011. The estimated fair values for other loans are estimated by discounting the future cash flow using current rates at
which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and the same remaining maturities and approximate carrying values of
these instruments at December 31, 2012 and 2011. For unfunded commitments to extend credit, because there would be no adjustment between fair
value and carrying amount for the amount if actually loaned, there is no adjustment to the amount before it is loaned. The number for commitments
to extend credit is blank in the tables below because there is no difference between carrying value and fair value, and the amount is not recorded on
the consolidated balance sheets as a liability.

Customer Interest Escrow 

The customer interest escrow does not yield interest to the customer, but because 1) the customer loans are demand loans, 2) there is no way to
estimate how long the escrow will be in place, and 3) the interest rate which could be used to discount this amount is negligible, the fair value
approximates the carrying value at both December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Borrowings under Credit Facilities

The fair value of the Company’s borrowings under credit facilities is estimated based on the expected cash flows discounted using the current rates
offered to the Company for debt of the same remaining maturities. As all of the borrowings under credit facilities are payable on demand, the fair
value of the borrowings is determined to approximate carrying value at December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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The table below is a summary of fair value estimates for financial instruments and the level of the fair value hierarchy (as discussed in Note 2)
within which the fair value measurements are categorized at the periods indicated:

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Carrying 
Amount

Estimated
Fair Value

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets 
Level 1

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 
Level 2

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
Level 3

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 646 $ 646 $ 646 $ – $ –
Loans 3,604 3,604 – – 3,604

Financial Liabilities
Customer interest escrow 329 329 – – 329
Notes payable unsecured 1,502 1,502 – – 1,502
Notes payable related party 1,108 1,108 – – 1,108

Commitments to extend credit – – – – –

Carrying
Amount

Estimated
Fair Value

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets 
Level 1

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 
Level 2

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
Level 3

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 50 $ 50 $ 50 $ – $ –
Loans 4,580 4,580 – – 4,580

Financial Liabilities
Customer interest escrow 450 450 – – 450
Notes payable unsecured 1,500 1,500 – – 1,500
Notes payable related party 878 878 – – 878

Commitments to extend credit – – – – –
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4. Financing Receivables 

Financing receivables are comprised of the following as of December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Roll forward of commercial loans for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Commercial Loans 

On December 30, 2011, pursuant to a credit agreement by and between us, Benjamin Marcus Homes, LLC (“BMH”), Investor’s Mark Acquisitions,
LLC (“IMA”) and Mark L. Hoskins (“Hoskins”) (collectively, the “Hoskins Group”) (the “Credit Agreement”), we originated two new loan assets, one
to BMH as borrower (the “BMH Loan”) and one to IMA as borrower (the “New IMA Loan”). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement and simultaneously
with the origination of the BMH Loan and the New IMA Loan, we also assumed the position of lender on an existing loan to IMA (the “Existing IMA
Loan”) and assumed the position of borrower on another existing loan in which IMA serves as the lender (the “SF Loan”). When we assumed the
position of the lender on the Existing IMA Loan, we purchased a loan which was originated by the borrower’s former lender, and assumed that lender’s
position in the loan and maintained the recorded collateral position in the loan. The borrower’s former lender and the seller of the BMH property are the
same party, 84 FINANCIAL, L.P., an affiliate of 84 Lumber Company. The BMH Loan, the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan are all cross-
defaulted and cross-collateralized with each other. Further, IMA and Hoskins serve as guarantors of the BMH Loan, and BMH and Hoskins serve as
guarantors of the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan. As such, we are currently reliant on a single developer and homebuilder for our revenues
and investment capital. The terms and conditions of these loans are set forth in further detail below:

BMH Loan
The BMH Loan is a revolving demand loan in the original principal amount of up to $4,164, of which $3,568 was funded at closing. We collected a fee
of $750 upon closing of the BMH Loan, which was funded from proceeds of the loan. Additionally, $450 of the loan proceeds was allocated to an
interest escrow account (the “Interest Escrow”). Interest on the BMH Loan accrues annually at 2% plus the greater of (i) 5.0% or (ii) the weighted
average price paid by us on or in connection with all of our borrowed funds (such weighted average price includes interest rates, loan fees, legal fees and
any and all other costs paid by us on our borrowed funds, and, in the case of funds borrowed by us from our affiliates, the weighted average price paid by
such affiliate on or in connection with such borrowed funds)(“COF”). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, interest payments on the BMH Loan are funded
from the Interest Escrow, with any shortfall funded by BMH. Payments of principal on the BMH Loan are due upon our demand and in accordance with
the payment schedule and other terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement obligates BMH to make payoffs to us in
varying amounts upon the sale or transfer of, or obtaining construction financing for, all or a portion of the property securing the BMH Loan. The BMH
Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty; provided, however, that prepayments will not relieve BMH of its obligation to
continue to make payments on the BMH Loan as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The BMH Loan is secured by a first priority mortgage in residential property consisting of 4 building lots, and an unimproved parcel of land of
approximately 34 acres, all located in the subdivision commonly known as the Hamlets of Springdale in Peters Township, Pennsylvania, a suburb of
Pittsburgh, as well as the Interest Escrow. The seller of the property securing the BMH Loan has retained a second mortgage in the amount of $400, with
a balance of approximately $351 and $400 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

2012 2011

Commercial loans, net $ 3,604 $ 4,580
Less:  Allowance for loan losses – –

$ 3,604 $ 4,580

2012 2011

Beginning balance $ 4,580 $ –
Additions 355 4,580
Repayments (from payoffs/sales) (1,547) –
Earned loan fee 216 –

Ending balance $ 3,604 $ 4,580
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New IMA Loan
The New IMA Loan is a demand loan in the original principal amount of up to $2,225, of which $250 was funded at closing. We collected a fee of $250
upon closing of the New IMA Loan, which was funded from proceeds of the loan. Interest on the New IMA Loan accrues annually at 2.0% plus the
greater of (i) 5.0% or (ii) the weighted average price paid by us on or in connection with all of our borrowed funds (such weighted average price includes
interest rates, loan fees, legal fees and any and all other costs paid by us on our borrowed funds, and, in the case of funds borrowed by us from our
affiliates, the weighted average price paid by such affiliate on or in connection with such borrowed funds). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, interest
payments on the New IMA Loan are funded from the Interest Escrow, with any shortfall funded by IMA. Payments of principal on the New IMA Loan
are due upon our demand and in accordance with the payment schedule and other terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement. The Credit
Agreement obligates IMA to make payoffs to us in varying amounts upon the sale or transfer of, or obtaining construction financing for, all or a portion
of the property securing the New IMA Loan. The New IMA Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty; provided, however,
that prepayments will not relieve IMA of its obligation to continue to make payments on the New IMA Loan as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The New IMA Loan is secured by a mortgage in residential property consisting of approximately 54 acres of unimproved land, all located in the
subdivision commonly known as the Tuscany Subdivision in Peters Township, Pennsylvania, a suburb of Pittsburgh. Construction of the improvements
for the Tuscany Subdivision began in December of 2012. See Note 9.

Existing IMA Loan
The Existing IMA Loan is a demand loan in the original principal amount of $1,687, of which $1,687 was outstanding as of both December 31, 2012 and
2011. Interest on the Existing IMA Loan accrues annually at a rate of 7.0%. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, interest payments on the Existing IMA
Loan are funded from the Interest Escrow, with any shortfall funded by IMA. Payments of principal on the Existing IMA Loan are due upon the earlier
of our demand or the satisfaction in full of the indebtedness related to the BMH Loan and the New IMA Loan. The Credit Agreement obligates IMA to
make payoffs to us in varying amounts upon the sale or transfer of, or obtaining construction financing for, all or a portion of the property securing the
Existing IMA Loan. The Existing IMA Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty; provided, however, that prepayments will
not relieve IMA of its obligation to continue to make payments on the Existing IMA Loan as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The Existing IMA Loan is secured by a mortgage in the residential property that also secures the New IMA Loan.

SF Loan
Concurrent with the execution of the loans above, we entered into the SF Loan with the Hoskins Group, under which we are the borrower. Management
presently has no intention to offset our payments of principal or interest against amounts due to us from the lender; therefore, this amount has been
presented on a gross basis on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2012 and 2011. The SF Loan is described in Note 5.

Interest Escrow
To the extent the balance is available in the interest escrow, interest due on the BMH Loan, New IMA Loan, and Existing IMA Loan is deducted from
the Interest Escrow on the date due. The Interest Escrow is increased by 10% of lot payoffs on the same loans, and by interest on the SF Loan. All of
these transactions are noncash to the extent that the total escrow amount does not need additional funding. The interest escrow is also used to contribute
to the reduction of the $400 subordinated mortgage upon certain lot sales of the collateral of the BMH Loan.

Initial Funding
On December 30, 2011, we purchased the Existing IMA Loan from the original lender with a cash payment of $186 and the assumption of that lender’s
obligations under the SF Loan. We also loaned our borrower $2,368 in funded cash for its purchase of the land and lots securing the BMH Loan. Our
borrower’s loan balances were increased by the $750 loan fee on the BMH Loan, the $250 loan fee on the New IMA Loan, and the $450 interest escrow,
all of which were not funded with cash.
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A detail of the financing receivables at December 31, 2012:

A detail of the financing receivables at December 31, 2011:

* These are the stated terms; however, in practice, principal will be repaid upon the sale of each developed lot.

** These are the stated terms; however, in practice, principal will be repaid upon the sale of each developed lot after the BMH loan and the New IMA
loan are satisfied.

The loans are collectively cross-collateralized and, therefore, treated as one loan for the purpose of calculating the effective interest rate and for available
remedies upon an instance of default. As lots are released, a specific release price is repaid by the borrower, with 10% of that amount being used to fund
the Interest Escrow. The customer will make cash interest payments only when the Interest Escrow is fully depleted.

Item Term Interest Rate
Funded to 
borrower

Estimated
collateral

values

BMH Loan Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor)
4 Lots and land for phases 3, 4, and 5 $ 1,095 $ 2,385
Interest Escrow 450 329
Loan Fee 750 –

Total BMH Loan 2,295 2,714
IMA Loans

New IMA Loan (loan fee) Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor) 250 –
New IMA Loan (advances) Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor) 80 –
Existing IMA Loan  Demand** 7% 1,687 1,910

Total IMA Loans 2,017 1,910

Unearned loan fee (708) –
SF Loan – 1,500

Total $ 3,604 $ 6,124

Item Term Interest Rate
Funded to 
borrower

Estimated 
collateral

values

BMH Loan Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor)
16 Lots and land for phases 3, 4, and 5 $ 2,368 $ 3,690
Interest Escrow 450 450
Loan Fee 750 –

Total BMH Loan 3,568 4,140
IMA Loans
    New IMA Loan (loan fee) Demand* COF +2%  (7% Floor) 250 –
    Existing IMA Loan  Demand** 7% 1,686 1,910

Total IMA Loans 1,936 1,910

Unearned loan fee (924) –
SF Loan – 1,500

Total $ 4,580 $ 7,550
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Of the $1,000 loan fee from the origination of our demand loans, $76 was used to offset legal expenses related to the creation of the loans. In accordance
with ASC 310-20, Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs, the remaining $924 loan fee is being recognized over the expected life of the loans using the
straight-line method. Income of $216 and $0 was recognized during 2012 and 2011, respectively. The effective annual rate on the loans at December 31,
2012 and 2011 was 11.24% and 11.81%, respectively.

The Company has a credit agreement with the customer which includes a maximum exposure on all three loans, which was $5,800 at December 31,
2011, is $4,900 at December 31, 2012, and will reduce to $4,500 in 2013, unless modified by both parties.

Credit Quality Information

The following table presents credit-related information at the “class” level in accordance with ASC 310-10-50, Disclosures about the Credit Quality of
Finance Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses. A class is generally a disaggregation of a portfolio segment. In determining the classes, the
Company considered the finance receivable characteristics and methods it applies in monitoring and assessing credit risk and performance. 

The following table summarizes finance receivables by the risk ratings that regulatory agencies utilize to classify credit exposure and which are
consistent with indicators the Company monitors. Risk ratings are reviewed on a regular basis and are adjusted as necessary for updated information
affecting the borrowers’ ability to fulfill their obligations.

The definitions of these ratings are as follows:

Finance Receivables – By Classification:

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality, past due loans, impaired loans, or loans on nonaccrual 
status.

5. Borrowings 

Affiliate Loans
In December of 2011, the Company entered into two secured revolving lines of credit with affiliates, both of whom are members. These loans have an
interest rate of the affiliates’ cost of funds, which was 3.93% and 3.73% as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. They are demand notes. The
maximum that can be borrowed under these notes is $1,500, at the discretion of the lenders. The actual amount borrowed was $1,108 and $878 as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, leaving $392 and $622, respectively, in available credit on those dates. There is no obligation of the affiliates
to lend money up to the note amount. The security for the line of credit includes all of the assets of the Company. The weighted average balance of
affiliate borrowings outstanding was $986 and $5 for 2012 and 2011, respectively, and the interest expense was $38 and $0 for the same periods,
respectively.

 Pass – finance receivables in this category do not meet the criteria for classification in one of the categories below.

 Special mention – a special mention asset exhibits potential weaknesses that deserve management’s close attention. If left uncorrected, these
potential weaknesses may, at some future date, result in the deterioration of the repayment prospects.

 Classified – a classified asset ranges from: 1) assets that are inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying capacity of the
borrower, and are characterized by the distinct possibility that some loss will be sustained if the deficiencies are not corrected to 2) assets with
weaknesses that make collection or liquidation in full unlikely on the basis of current facts, conditions, and values. Assets in this classification
can be accruing or on non-accrual depending on the evaluation of these factors.

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Pass $ 3,604 $ 4,580
Special mention – –
Classified – accruing – –
Classified – nonaccrual – –

Total $ 3,604 $ 4,580
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SF Loan
The SF Loan, under which we are the borrower, is an unsecured loan in the original principal amount of $1,500, of which $1,500 was outstanding on
both December 31, 2012 and 2011. Interest on the SF Loan accrues annually at a rate of 5.0%. Payments of interest only are due on a monthly basis,
with the principal amount due on the date that the BMH Loan and the New IMA Loan are paid in full. We may prepay the SF Loan in part or in full at
any time without penalty, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the underlying promissory note. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, payments on
the SF Loan are used to fund the interest escrow. Further, pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Commercial Pledge Agreement by and between
us, IMA and BMH, IMA has pledged its interest in the SF Loan as collateral for IMA’s obligations under the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA
Loan. Management’s intentions related to offsetting our payments of principal or interest against amounts due to us from the lender are undetermined;
therefore, this amount has been presented on a gross basis on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Notes Program
Borrowings through our public offering were $2 and $0 at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The effective interest rate on the borrowings in
2012 was 4.95%, not including the amortization of deferred financing costs. The maximum offering amount is $700,000 through October 4, 2015. There
are limited rights of early redemption. The following table shows the origination of our notes program.

The following table shows the maturity of outstanding notes as of December 31, 2012.

6. Members’ Capital 

The capital structure of the Company was changed with the adoption of the new operating agreement as of March 29, 2012. Under the new capital
structure, there is currently one share class (class A common units) with two members. All members have voting rights in proportion to their capital
account. There were 2,629 A common units outstanding at December 31, 2012. There are two additional authorized share classes: class A preferred units
and class B profit units. Once class B profit units are issued, the existing class A common units will become class A preferred units. Class A preferred
units will receive preferred treatment in terms of distributions and liquidation proceeds. The former capital structure of the Company included three unit
classes, A units, B units, and a voting member. The former ownership classes had varying rights and privileges, primarily relating to amount and order of
distributions, as well as varying allocations of profit and losses, as defined by the former operating agreement. At December 31, 2011, there were 878 A
units, 9,198 B units, and 1 voting unit outstanding.

The members’ capital balances by class at December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 2011

Notes outstanding, beginning of period $ – $ –
Notes issued 2 –
Note repayments / redemptions – –
Notes outstanding, end of period $ 2 $ –

Year Maturing
Amount

Maturing
2013 $ –
2014 2
2015 –
2016 –

Class 2012 2011
A Common Units $ 1,902 $ –
A Units – 451
B Units – 1,378
Voting Member – 1
Members’ Capital $ 1,902 $ 1,830
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7. Related Party Transactions

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared from the separate accounts maintained by the Company and may not be
indicative of the conditions that would have existed or the results of operations that would have occurred had the Company not entered into certain
related party transactions or not participated in certain transactions with its members.

84 Lumber Company

The direct financing, commercial real estate leases created in 2007 and described in Note 8 were with 84 Lumber Company. At the time, 84 Lumber
Company employed Daniel M. Wallach as its Chief Financial Officer and was therefore considered a related party. Those leases have been terminated
and settled. The Company currently has no affiliation with 84 Lumber Company or its affiliates.

Notes and Accounts Payable to Affiliates

In December of 2011, the Company entered into a loan agreement with two of our affiliates, as more fully described in Note 5 – Affiliate Loans.

In December of 2011, the Company entered into a loan agreement with the Hoskins Group, as more fully described in Note 5 – SF Loan.

8. Discontinued Operations

In accordance with the provisions of ASC Subtopic 205-20, Discontinued Operations, management of the Company determined that its commercial real
estate leases described below, which were accounted for as direct finance leases, met the definition of a component of the Company. As this asset group
met the definition of a component, management determined that presentation of the leasing operations should be presented as discontinued operations. A
more thorough description of those operations is included below.

Description of Commercial Real Estate Leasing Arrangements

In 2007, the Company purchased three tracts of commercial real estate from and leased the same property to Hardy Management Company Inc. (the
“lessee”), an affiliate of the 84 Lumber Company.

Each of the three leases included a provision that allowed the Company to require the lessee to purchase the property at any point in time for a purchase
price equal to ten times the annual rent in place at that time. Additionally, each lease contained a similar provision allowing the lessee to purchase the
property at any point in time for the same amount. These provisions were accounted for similar to residual value guarantees, and, due primarily to these
provisions, each of these three leases was accounted for as a direct financing capital lease.

The combined annual payments of the three leases totaled $1,033, which was due for a period of 20 years from the June 2007 origination date. Certain
payments were made by the lessee in advance each year and recorded by the Company as Unearned income. Each of the leases called for escalation of
the payment amounts after each five year period; however, the Company’s management determined that it was unlikely that any such escalation would
occur.

Throughout the course of the leases, the lessee was current (or paid in advance) on its payments; therefore, the financing receivables were considered
performing.

During May and September of 2011, the lessee exercised its options and purchased the leased properties from the Company, and the leases were thereby
terminated. The sales price of the leased properties totaled $10,327, which was the same as the original purchase price and investment in the commercial
real estate leases (direct financing leases); therefore, there was no gain or loss on these sales. As a part of this transaction, the lessee withheld the
Unearned income discussed above and paid off or assumed all outstanding debt (Note payable bank) related to the leased properties.
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Notes Payable Bank

The Company financed the purchase of the assets in 2007 that were then leased, as described above, via three loans with a financial institution. These
loans each had fixed interest rates of 7% for a period of five years, and then variable interest thereafter, and were due in annual installments of principal
and interest over a period of 15 years. The Company fulfilled its obligations under the loans and has been released from all future debts and liabilities by
the lender. Two of the three loans were assumed by the lessee upon the purchase of the leased property in 2011, and one was re-paid entirely. There were
no loan fees charged by the bank other than interest.

For the years 2012 and 2011, the income (loss) from discontinued operations consisted of the following:

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no assets or liabilities associated with the discontinued leases and their related borrowings reflected in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business there may be outstanding commitments to extend credit that are not included in the consolidated financial statements.
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract.
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are
expected to expire without being drawn upon and some of the funding may come from the earlier repayment of the same loan (in the case of revolving
lines), the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The financial instruments involve, to varying degrees,
elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The Company evaluates each
customer’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. Unfunded commitments to extend credit were approximately $588 and $296 at December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

The property securing the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan, as described in Note 4, is subject to a mortgage in the amount of $1,290, which is
held by an unrelated third party. In connection with the closing of the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan, the holder of this mortgage entered
into an agreement to amend, restate and further subordinate such mortgage. This subordination agreement also provides that, in the event of a foreclosure
on and liquidation of the property securing the New IMA Loan and the Existing IMA Loan, we are entitled to receive liquidation proceeds up to $2,225,
which excludes the collateral securing the BMH Loan, at which point the holder of this mortgage is entitled to receive liquidation proceeds up to the
amount necessary to satisfy its outstanding mortgage, and we are then entitled to any remainder of the liquidation proceeds. The current appraised value
of this collateral (this property began being developed in December 2012) is less than $2,225. Thus, in the event of a default, the third party would
currently only receive any of the proceeds remaining from the sale of the collateral after we have been paid in full.

2012 2011
Interest income on direct financing leases $ – $ 638
Selling, general and administrative expenses – 69
Interest expense – 260
Income from discontinued operations $ – $ 309
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10. Selected Quarterly Condensed Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudited)

Summarized unaudited quarterly condensed consolidated financial data for the four quarters of 2012 and 2011 are as follows (in
thousands):

11. Subsequent Events

On March 7, 2013, the Board of Managers, upon recommendation by the Chief Executive Officer, authorized cash distributions to the Company’s
members of 68% of net income for the fourth quarter of 2012 totaling $15, which will be distributable to the members ratably based on each member’s
respective membership interest.

Quarter 4 Quarter 3 Quarter 2 Quarter 1 Quarter 4 Quarter 3 Quarter 2 Quarter 1
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011

Net interest income $ 108 $ 112 $ 112 $ 134 $ 5 $ – $ – $ –
SG&A expense 86 78 57 123 5 – – –
Income from continuing 
operations 22 34 55 11 – – – –
Income  from discontinued 
operations – – – – – 70 92 147
Net Income $ 22 $ 34 $ 55 $ 11 $ – $ 70 $ 92 $ 147
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CROSS-REFERENCE TABLE

N.A. means not applicable.

* This Cross-Reference Table is not part of the Indenture.

Trust Indenture 
Act Section 

Indenture
Section  

 310(a)(1) 7.10
(a)(2) 7.10
(a)(3) N.A.
(a)(4) N.A.
(b) 7.8; 7.10; 11.2
(c) N.A.

311(a) 7.11
(b) 7.11 
(c) N.A.

312(a) 2.6
(b) 11.3
(c) 11.3 

313(a) 7.6
(b)(1) N.A.
(b)(2) 7.6
(c) 11.2
(d) 7.6

314(a) 4.2; 11.2
(b) N.A.
(c)(1) 11.4
(c)(3) N.A.
(d) N.A. 
(e) 11.5
(f) 4.3

315(a) 7.1(b)
(b) 7.5; 11.2
(c) 7.1(a)
(d) 7.1(c)
(e) 6.11

316(a)(last sentence) 2.10
(a)(1)(A) 6.5
(a)(1)(B) 6.4
(a)(2) N.A.
(b) 6.7

317(a)(1) 6.8
      (a)(2) 6.9
      (b) 2.5
318(a) 11.1
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INDENTURE dated as of October 4, 2012, between Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Company”), and U.S.
Bank National Association, a national banking association (“Trustee”).

Each party agrees as follows for the benefit of the other party and for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Company’s
Subordinated Demand Notes:

ARTICLE 1   

DEFINITIONS AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Section 1.1.     Definitions.

“Affiliate” means any person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with the Company.

“Agent” means any Registrar, Paying Agent or co-registrar.

“Board of Managers” means the Board of Managers of the Company or any authorized committee of the Board of Managers.

“Company” means the party named as such above until a successor replaces it and thereafter means the successor or any other obligor with
respect to the Notes.

“Company Order” means an order signed in the name of the Company by its Chief Executive Officer, President, a Vice President, its
Treasurer or Secretary, and delivered to the Trustee.

“Corporate Trust Office” shall be at the address of the Trustee specified in Section 12.02 or such other address as to which the Trustee may
give notice to the Company.

“Date of Issue” means the date that the Company receives proper documentation and the funds for the purchase of a Note if such funds are
received prior to 3:00 p.m. on a business day or the next business day if the Company receives such funds on a non-business day or after 3:00 p.m. on a
business day.  For this purpose, the Company’s business days will be deemed to be Monday through Friday, except on Pennsylvania legal holidays.

“Default” means any event which is, or after notice or passage of time would be, an Event of Default.

“Holder” or “Certificateholder” means a Person in whose name a Note is registered on the Registrar’s books.

“Indenture” means this Indenture as amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Material Subsidiary” means any majority-owned subsidiary of the Company that is material to the business of the Company, taken as a
whole.
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“Notes” means the Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes described herein issued under this Indenture.

“Officer” means the principal executive officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer of the Company.

“Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate signed by an Officer.

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion from legal counsel who is acceptable to the Trustee.  The counsel may be an employee of or
counsel to the Company or the Trustee.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or
government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

“Principal” of a debt security means the principal of the security plus the premium, if any, on the security.

“Responsible Officer” means, with respect to the Trustee, any officer of the Trustee assigned to the Corporate Trust Department (or any
successor division or unit) of the Trustee located at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, who shall have direct responsibility for the administration
of this Indenture, and for the purposes of Section 7.1 and Section 7.5 shall also include any other officer of the Trustee’s to whom any corporate trust
matter is referred because of such officer’s knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject and who shall have direct responsibility for the
administration of this Indenture.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Stated Maturity,” when used with respect to a Note, means the date specified in such Note as the fixed date on which the principal of such
Note and any accrued but unpaid interest is due and payable.

“Subsidiary” means any person of which at least a majority of capital stock having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or other
governing body of such person is owned by the Company directly or through one or more subsidiaries.

“TIA” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (15 U.S. Code 77aaa-77bbbb), as the same may be amended from time to time.

“Trustee” means the party named as such above until a successor replaces it and thereafter means the successor.

Section 1.2.     Other Definitions.
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Section 1.3.     Incorporation by Reference of TIA.

Whenever this Indenture refers to a provision of the TIA, the provision is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this Indenture.

The following TIA terms used in this Indenture have the following meanings:

“Indenture Securities” means the Notes;

“Indenture Security Holder” means a Certificateholder;

“Indenture to be Qualified” means this Indenture;

“Indenture Trustee” or “Institutional Trustee” means the Trustee; and

“Obligor” on the Notes means the Company.

All other terms used in this Indenture that are defined by the TIA, defined by TIA reference to another statute, or defined by SEC rule under the
TIA have the meanings assigned to them.

Section 1.4. Rules of Construction.

Unless the context otherwise requires:

Term
Defined in

Section

“Bankruptcy Law” 6.1
“Covenant Defeasance”
“Custodian”

8.2(c)
6.1

“Debt” 10.2
“Event of Default” 6.1
“Interest Payment Date”
“Legal Defeasance”
“Legal Holiday”

2.2(b)
8.2(b)
11.7

“Officer” 11.10
“Paying Agent”
“Registrar”
“Representative”

2.4
2.4
10.2

“Senior Debt” 10.2
“U.S. Government Obligations” 8.1

(a)  a term has the meaning assigned to it;

(b)  an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with United States generally accepted
accounting principles in effect on the date of execution of this Indenture;

(c)  “or” is not exclusive;
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   ARTICLE 2    

THE NOTES

Section 2.1. Form and Dating.

The Notes shall be substantially in the form of EXHIBIT A, with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations
required or permitted by this Indenture.  The Notes may have notations, legends or endorsements required by law, stock exchange rule or usage, and may
be issued in uncertificated or certificated form.  If issued in uncertificated form, the Company shall deliver a written or electronic confirmation of the
terms of a Note to the Certificateholder thereof.

Section 2.2. Terms.

(a) Amount Unlimited; Terms.  The aggregate principal amount of Notes which may be delivered under this Indenture is unlimited.  Notes
may be issued in one or more series.  The initial aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be delivered under this Indenture shall be
$700,000,000.  The aggregate principal amount may be increased, without the need for approval of any Holders or the Trustee by means of Company
Order, as set forth in Section 9.1.

(b) Interest.  Interest will be calculated based on the actual number of days the Note is outstanding based on a 365/366 day year.  Interest will
be earned daily and payable monthly or at maturity at the Holder’s request.  If the Holder elects to receive interest at maturity rather than monthly,
interest will be compounded monthly.  If any payment of the Note is due on a Legal Holiday, then the Holder will not be entitled to payment of the
amount due until the following day that is not a Legal Holiday, and no interest will be due as a result of such delay.  If the Holder elects to receive
interest monthly, interest will be paid on the first business day (not a Legal Holiday) of every month (each an “Interest Payment Date”).  The first
Interest Payment Date will be the month following the month of the Date of Issue, except that if a Note is issued within the last 10 days preceding an
Interest Payment Date, the first interest payment will be made on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.  No payments of interest under fifty dollars
will be made, with any interest payment under fifty dollars accruing and earning interest on a monthly compounding basis until the payment due is at
least fifty dollars on an Interest Payment Date.

(c) Subordination.  The Notes shall be subordinated and junior in right of payment to all Senior Debt of the Company as provided in Article
10.

Section 2.3.     Execution.

If the Company, pursuant to Section 9.1, provides for certificated Notes, one Officer shall sign the Notes for the Company by manual or
facsimile signature.

(d)  words in the singular include the plural, and in the plural include the singular; and

(e)  provisions apply to successive events and transactions.
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If an Officer whose signature is on a Note no longer holds that office at the time the Note is delivered, the Note shall nevertheless be valid.

Section 2.4.     Registrar and Paying Agent.

The Company shall maintain an office or agency where Certificateholders may request registration of transfer or exchange of Notes
(“Registrar”) and an office or agency where Certificateholders may demand payment of Notes (“Paying Agent”).  The Registrar shall keep a register of
the Notes and of their transfer and exchange.  The Company may appoint one or more co-registrars and one or more additional paying agents.  The
Company may change any Paying Agent, Registrar or co-registrar without notice to any Certificateholder.  The term “Paying Agent” includes any
additional paying agent.  The Company shall notify the Trustee of the name and address of any agent not a party to this Indenture.  The Company or any
of its Subsidiaries may act as Paying Agent or Registrar.  The Company initially appoints itself as Paying Agent and Registrar.

Section 2.5.     Paying Agent to Hold Money in Trust.

The Company shall require each Paying Agent other than the Trustee to agree in writing that the Paying Agent will hold in trust for the benefit
of Certificateholders or the Trustee all money held by the Paying Agent for the payment of principal or interest on the Notes, and will notify the Trustee
of any failure by the Company in making any such payment.  While any such failure continues, the Trustee may require a Paying Agent to pay all money
held by it to the Trustee.  The Company at any time may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee.  Upon payment over to the
Trustee, the Paying Agent shall have no further liability for the money.  If the Company acts as Paying Agent, it shall segregate and hold in a separate
bank account for the benefit of the Certificateholders all money held by it as Paying Agent.  The Paying Agent may charge for its expenses in issuing a
replacement interest check.

Section 2.6.     Certificateholder Lists.

The Trustee shall preserve in as current a form as is reasonably practicable the most recent list available to it of the names and addresses of
Certificateholders.  If the Trustee is not the Registrar, the Company shall timely furnish to the Trustee the changes in this list and will furnish an updated
list of the names and addresses of Certificateholders in such form and as of such date and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing.

Section 2.7.     Transfer and Exchange.

Upon a request to the Registrar or a co-registrar to register, transfer or to exchange Notes for an equal principal amount of Notes, the Registrar
shall register the transfer or make the exchange if its requirements for such transactions are met.  To permit registrations of transfer and exchanges, the
Company shall issue Notes at the Registrar’s request.  The Company may charge for its expenses in transferring or exchanging a Note.

The Company shall not be required (i) to issue, transfer or exchange any Note during a period beginning at the opening of business 15 days
before the day of the mailing of a notice of redemption of Notes selected for redemption pursuant to Section 3.3 and ending at the close of business on
the date of such redemption, or (ii) to transfer or exchange any Note selected for redemption in whole or in part.
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Each Holder of a Note agrees to indemnify the Company and the Trustee against any liability that may result from the transfer, exchange or
assignment of such Holder’s Note in violation of any provision of this Indenture and/or applicable United States Federal or state securities law.

To the extent that the Trustee elects to or somehow is deemed to be acting as the Registrar or Paying Agent, the Trustee shall have no obligation
or duty to monitor, determine or inquire as to compliance with any restrictions on transfer imposed under this Indenture or under applicable law with
respect to any transfer of any interest in any Note other than to require delivery of such certificates and other documentation or evidence as are expressly
required by, and to do so if and when expressly required by the terms of, this Indenture, and to examine the same to determine substantial compliance as
to form with the express requirements hereof.

Neither the Trustee nor any agent of the Trustee shall have any responsibility for any actions taken or not taken by the Registrar.

Section 2.8.     Replacement Notes.

If the Company, pursuant to Section 9.1, provides for certificated Notes, and if the Holder of a Note claims that the Note has been lost,
destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Company shall issue a replacement Note if the Trustee’s requirements are met.  If required by the Trustee or the
Company, an indemnity bond must be sufficient in the judgment of both the Company and the Trustee to protect the Company, the Trustee or any Agent
from any loss which any of them may suffer if a Note is replaced.  The Company may charge for its expenses in replacing a Note.

Every replacement Note is an additional obligation of the Company and shall be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture equally and
proportionately with all other Notes duly issued hereunder.

Section 2.9.     Outstanding Notes.

The Notes outstanding at any time are all of the Notes delivered by the Company pursuant to this Indenture except for those canceled by it,
those delivered to it for cancellation, and those described in this Section as not outstanding.

If a Note is replaced pursuant to Section 2.8, it ceases to be outstanding unless the Trustee receives proof satisfactory to it that the replaced Note
is held by a bona fide purchaser.

If Notes are considered paid under Section 4.1, they cease to be outstanding and interest on them ceases to accrue.

Section 2.10.     Treasury Notes.

In determining whether the Holders of the required principal amount of the Notes have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent, Notes
owned by the Company or an Affiliate shall be disregarded, except that for the purposes of determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying
on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Notes which a Responsible Officer of the Trustee actually knows are so owned shall be so disregarded.
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Section 2.11.     Cancellation.

The Company at any time may request that the Registrar cancel any Note.  The Registrar shall cancel all Notes surrendered for registration of
transfer, exchange, payment, replacement or cancellation and shall destroy canceled Notes (subject to any applicable record retention
requirements).  The Company may not issue new Notes to replace Notes that it has paid or that have been delivered to the Registrar for cancellation.

        ARTICLE 3          

REDEMPTION

Section 3.1.     Applicability of Article.

Redemption of Notes at the election of the Company, as permitted or required by any provision of this Indenture, shall be made in accordance
with such provision and this Article.

Section 3.2.     Notices to Trustee.

If the Company wants to redeem the Notes pursuant to paragraph 2 of the Notes, it shall notify the Trustee by Officer’s Certificate of the
redemption date and the principal amount of Notes to be redeemed.  The Company shall give each notice provided for in this Section at least fifty (50)
days before the redemption date (unless a shorter notice period shall be satisfactory to the Trustee).

Section 3.3.     Selection of Notes to be Redeemed.

If fewer than all the Notes are to be redeemed, the Company shall select the Notes to be redeemed, and so inform the Trustee by Officers’
Certificate, subject to the remainder of this Section.  If less than all of a grouping of Notes, as specified by Officers’ Certificate, are to be redeemed, the
portion thereof selected for redemption shall be determined ratably or by lot.  If fewer than all of such grouping of Notes as specified by Officers’
Certificate are to be redeemed, the Trustee shall then make the selection not more than fifty (50) days before the redemption date from Notes outstanding
not previously called for redemption.  Provisions of this Indenture that apply to Notes called for redemption also apply to portions of Notes called for
redemption.

Section 3.4.     Notice of Redemption.

At least thirty (30) days but not more than sixty (60) days before a redemption date, the Company shall mail a notice of redemption by first-
class mail to each Holder of Notes whose Notes are to be redeemed.

7



The notice shall identify the Notes to be redeemed and shall state:

At the Company’s request, the Trustee, if it is then the Registrar, shall give the notice of redemption in the Company’s name and at its expense;
provided, however, that the Company shall have provided to the Trustee, at least 45 days prior to the Redemption Date (unless a shorter notice period
shall be satisfactory to the Trustee), the information required by clauses (a) through (f) above.

Section 3.5      Effect of Notice of Redemption.

Once notice of redemption is mailed, Notes called for redemption become due and payable on the redemption date at the redemption price.

Section 3.6.     Deposit of Redemption Price.

On or before the redemption date, the Company shall deposit with the Paying Agent, or if the Company is acting as Paying Agent it shall
deposit into a separate bank account pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof, money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on all Notes to
be redeemed on that date.

Section 3.7.     Notes Redeemed in Part.

Upon redemption of a certificated Note in part, the Company shall issue for the Holder a new Note equal in principal amount to the unredeemed
portion of the partially-redeemed Note.

Section 3.8.     Redemption Option Upon Death of Holder.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Article 10 and this Article 3, upon the death of any Holder of one or more Notes, the Company shall be required
to redeem Notes held by a Holder of such Notes at the date of such Holder’s death, as requested in the manner, and subject to the limitations, set forth
below.   The redemption price shall be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Note plus accrued interest on a daily basis to the redemption
date.   Redemption of such Notes shall be made as soon as reasonably possible, based on the Company's then current cash position and needs, but
generally within two weeks following the receipt by the Company or the Trustee of all of the following:

(a)       the redemption date;

(b)       the redemption price, which shall be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Note, plus accrued interest on a daily basis 
to the redemption date;

(c)       the name and address of the Paying Agent;

(d)       that certificated Notes called for redemption must be surrendered to the Paying Agent to collect the redemption price; and

(e)       that interest on Notes called for redemption ceases to accrue on and after the redemption date.
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(b) The Notes held by the Holder shall not be entitled to redemption pursuant to this Section unless the Notes to be redeemed have been
registered in the Holder’s name since their Date of Issue.

(c) Authorized representatives of a Holder shall include the following: executors, administrators or other legal representatives of an estate;
trustees of a trust; joint owners of Notes owned in joint tenancy or tenancy by the entirety; attorneys-in-fact; and other persons generally recognized as
having legal authority to act on behalf of another.

Section 3.9.     Redemption Option at Request of Holder.

Beginning 180 days after the issuance date, at the written request of the Holder delivered to the Company at any time, the Company may, at its
option and subject to the restrictions in Article 10 below, but shall not be required to, redeem the Note for a redemption price equal to the principal
amount plus an amount equal to the unpaid interest thereon for the Note, as adjusted, at the stated rate to the redemption date minus an amount equal to
the interest that would be payable thereon at the rate stated above over the last 180 days immediately prior to the redemption date.

  ARTICLE 4  

COVENANTS

Section 4.1.     Payment of Notes.

The Company shall pay or cause to be paid the principal of and interest on the Notes on the dates and in the manner provided in the Notes.
Principal and interest shall be considered paid on the date due if the Paying Agent, if other than the Company or a Subsidiary, holds as of 10:00 a.m.
Eastern Time on the due date money deposited by the Company in immediately available funds and designated for and sufficient to pay all principal and
interest then due.

(1)       a written request for redemption of the Notes signed by a duly authorized representative of the Holder, which request
shall set forth the name of the Holder, the date of death of the Holder and the principal amount of the Notes to be
redeemed;

(2)       the Notes to be redeemed (if certificated); and

(3)       evidence satisfactory to the Company of the death of such Holder and the authority of the representative to such
extent as may be required by the Company.
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Section 4.2.     SEC Reports.

The Company shall file with the Trustee within fifteen (15) days after it files them with the SEC copies of the annual reports and quarterly
reports and of the information, documents, and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may by rules and regulations
prescribe) for the Notes which the Company may be required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  The Company also shall comply with the other provisions of TIA Section 314(a).

Whether or not the Company is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, to the extent not
prohibited by the Exchange Act, the Company will make available to the Holders of the Notes without cost to any Holder, the information, documents
and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may by rules and regulations prescribe) that are specified in Sections 13
and 15(d) of the Exchange Act within the time periods specified therein.

The Company shall be deemed to have furnished such reports to the Holders of the Notes if it has filed such reports with the SEC using the
EDGAR filing system or placed such reports on the Company’s website and made them publicly available.

Section 4.3.     Compliance Certificate.

(a) The Company shall deliver to the Trustee, within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company, an
Officer’s Certificate stating that a review of the activities of the Company and its Subsidiaries during the preceding fiscal year has been made under the
supervision of the signing Officers with a view to determining whether the Company has kept, observed, performed and fulfilled its obligations under
this Indenture, and further stating, as to each such Officer signing such certificate, that to the best of his or her knowledge the Company has kept,
observed, performed and fulfilled each and every covenant contained in this Indenture and is not in default in the performance or observance of any of
the terms, provisions and conditions hereof (or, if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of
which he or she may have knowledge) and that to the best of his or her knowledge no event has occurred and remains in existence by reason of which
payments on account of the principal of or interest, if any, on the Notes are prohibited.

(b) The foregoing notwithstanding, the Company shall, so long as any of the Notes are outstanding, promptly, and in any event within 30 days,
deliver to the Trustee, forthwith upon any Officer becoming aware of any Default or Event of Default, an Officer’s Certificate specifying such Default or
Event of Default and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto.

Section 4.4.     Usury Laws.

The Company will not voluntarily claim and will actively resist any attempts to claim the benefit of any usury laws against the Holders of the
Notes.
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Section 4.5.     Money for Note Payments to be Held in Trust.

Whenever the Company shall have one or more Paying Agents, it will, on or prior to each date for the payment of the principal of or interest on
the Notes, deposit with a Paying Agent a sum sufficient to pay the principal and interest so becoming due, such sum to be held in trust for the benefit of
the persons entitled to such payments; and, unless such Paying Agent is the Trustee, the Company will promptly notify the Trustee of its action or failure
so to act.

The Company will cause each Paying Agent other than the Trustee to execute and deliver to the Trustee an instrument in which such Paying
Agent shall agree with the Trustee, subject to the provisions of this Section, that such Paying Agent will:

Subject to Article 8, for the purpose of obtaining the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture or for any other purpose, the Company may at
any time pay, or direct any Paying Agent to pay, to the Trustee all sums held in trust by the Company or such Paying Agent, such sums to be held by the
Trustee upon the same terms as those upon which such sums were held by the Company or such Paying Agent; and, upon such payment by the Company
or any Paying Agent to the Trustee, the Company or such Paying Agent, as the case may be, shall be released from all further liability with respect to
such money.

Section 4.6.     Continued Existence.

Subject to Article 5, the Company shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect (i) its existence
as a limited liability company, and the corporate, partnership or other existence of each of its Material Subsidiaries, in accordance with the respective
organizational documents (as the same may be amended from time to time) of the Company or any such Material Subsidiary and (ii) the rights (charter
and statutory), licenses and franchises of the Company and its Material Subsidiaries; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to
preserve any such right, license or franchise, or the corporate, partnership or other existence of any of its Material Subsidiaries, if the Board of Managers
of the Company shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer desirable in the conduct of the business of the Company and its Material
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and that the loss thereof is not adverse in any material respect to the Holders.

(a)       hold all sums held by it for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes in trust for the benefit of the persons
entitled thereto until such sums shall be paid to such persons or otherwise disposed of as herein provided;

(b)       give the Trustee notice of any default by the Company (or any other obligor upon the Notes) in the making of any payment of
principal and interest; and

(c)       at any time during the continuance of any such default, upon the written request of the Trustee, forthwith pay to the Trustee
all sums so held in trust by such Paying Agent.
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                          ARTICLE 5                          

 SUCCESSORS

The Company shall not consolidate or merge with or into, or transfer or lease all or substantially all of its assets to, any Person unless the
corporation formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than the Company), or to which such sale or conveyance shall have been
made, assumes by supplemental indenture all the obligations of the Company under the Notes then outstanding and this Indenture.

The Company shall deliver to the Trustee prior to the proposed transaction an Officers’ Certificate to the foregoing effect and an Opinion of
Counsel stating that the proposed transaction and such supplemental indenture comply with this Indenture.

The surviving corporation shall be the successor Company, but the predecessor Company in the case of a transfer or lease shall not be released
from the obligation to pay the principal of and interest on the Notes.

                              ARTICLE 6                              

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 6.1.     Events of Default.

An “Event Of Default” occurs if:

(a)       the Company defaults in the payment of interest of any Note when the same becomes due and payable and the Default
continues for a period of thirty (30) days;

(b)       the Company defaults in the payment of the principal on any Note when the same becomes due and payable at maturity, upon
redemption or otherwise, and the Default continues for a period of thirty (30) days;

(c)       the Company fails to comply with any of its other agreements or covenants in, or provisions of, the Notes or this Indenture
and the Default continues for the period and after the notice specified below;

(d)       the Company or any material subsidiary pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law now or hereafter in effect:

(1)       commences a voluntary proceeding under any such Bankruptcy Law;

(2)       consents to the entry of an order for relief against it in an involuntary Bankruptcy proceeding;

12



The term “Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11 of the United States Code or any similar Federal or State Law for the relief of debtors. The term
“Custodian” means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator, sequestrator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.

A Default under clause (c) is not an Event of Default until the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding
Notes notify the Company of the Default and the Company does not cure the Default within sixty (60) days after receipt of the notice. The notice must
specify the Default, demand that it be remedied and state that the notice is a “Notice of Default.”

Section 6.2.     Acceleration.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee by notice to the Company, or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the
then outstanding Notes, by notice to the Company and the Trustee, may declare the principal of and accrued interest on all the Notes to be due and
payable. Upon such declaration the principal and interest owing on the then outstanding Notes shall be due and payable immediately. The Holders of a
majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes, by notice to the Trustee, may rescind an acceleration and its consequences if the rescission
would not conflict with any judgment or decree and if all existing Events of Default have been cured or waived, except nonpayment of principal or
interest that has become due solely because of the acceleration.

Section 6.3.     Other Remedies.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy to collect the payment of principal and interest on
the Notes or to enforce the performance of any provision of the Notes or this Indenture.

(3)       consents to the appointment of a Custodian of it or for all or substantially all of its property;

(4)       makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or

(5)       generally is unable to pay its debts as the same become due;

(e)       a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any Bankruptcy Law that:

(1)       is for relief against the Company or any material subsidiary in an involuntary Bankruptcy proceeding;

(2)       appoints a Custodian of the Company or any material subsidiary or for all or substantially all of its property; or

(3)       orders the winding up or liquidation of the Company or any material subsidiary, and the order or decree remains
unstayed and in effect for 60 days.
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The Trustee may maintain a proceeding even if it does not possess any of the Notes or does not produce any of them in the proceeding. A delay
or omission by the Trustee or any Holder of Notes in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon an Event of Default shall not impair the right or
remedy or constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in the Event of Default. All remedies are cumulative to the extent permitted by law.

Section 6.4.     Waiver of Past Defaults.

The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes, by notice to the Trustee, may waive an existing Default or Event
of Default and its consequences except a continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes.

Section 6.5.     Control by Majority.

The Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may direct the time, method and place of conducting
any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee. However, the Trustee may refuse to
follow any direction that conflicts with law or this Indenture, is unduly prejudicial to the rights of other Holders of the Notes, or would involve the
Trustee in personal liability.

Section 6.6.     Limitation on Suits.

The Holder of Notes may pursue a remedy with respect to this Indenture or the Notes only if:

No Holder will have any right in any manner whatever by virtue of, or by availing of, any provision of this Indenture to affect, disturb, or
prejudice the rights of any other of such Holders (it being understood that the Trustee does not have an affirmative duty to ascertain whether or not such
actions or forbearances are unduly prejudicial to such Holders).

(a)       the Holder gives to the Trustee notice of a continuing Event of Default;

(b)       the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes make a request to the Trustee to pursue the
remedy;

(c)       such Holder or Holders offer to the Trustee indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee against any loss, liability or expense;

(d)       the Trustee does not comply with the request within sixty (60) days after receipt of the request and the offer of indemnity; and

(e)       during such sixty (60)-day period the Holders of a majority of principal amount of the then outstanding Notes do not give the
Trustee a direction inconsistent with the request.
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Section 6.7.     Rights of Holders to Receive Payment.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the right of any Holder of a Note to receive payment of principal and interest on the
Note, on or after the date demand is made for payment therefor, or to bring suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such demand date,
shall not be impaired or affected without the consent of the Holder.

Section 6.8.     Collection Suit by Trustee.

If an Event of Default specified in Section 6.1(a) or Section 6.1(b) occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may recover judgment in its own name
and as trustee of an express trust against the Company for the whole amount of principal and interest and fees remaining unpaid on the Notes with
respect to which the Event of Default occurred in each case at the rate per annum borne by the Notes and such amount as shall be sufficient to cover the
costs and expenses of collection, including the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel.

Section 6.9.     Trustee May File Proofs of Claim.

The Trustee is authorized to file such proofs of claim and other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the
claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and
counsel) and the Holders allowed in any judicial proceedings relative to the Company (or any other obligor upon the Notes), its creditors or its property
and shall be entitled and empowered to collect, receive and distribute any money or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and any
custodian in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder to make such payments to the Trustee, and in the event that the Trustee
shall consent in writing to the making of such payments directly to the Holders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due to it for the reasonable
compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.7
hereof.  To the extent that the payment of any such compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any
other amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.7 hereof out of the estate in any such proceeding, shall be denied for any reason, payment of the same
shall be secured by a lien on, and shall be paid out of, any and all distributions, dividends, money, securities and other properties that the Holders may be
entitled to receive in such proceeding whether in liquidation or under any plan of reorganization or arrangement or otherwise.  Nothing herein contained
shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Holder any plan of reorganization, arrangement,
adjustment or composition affecting the Notes or the rights of any Holder, or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder in any
such proceeding.

Section 6.10.     Priorities.

If the Trustee collects any money pursuant to this Article, it shall pay out the money in the following order:

First:  to the Trustee, its agents and attorneys for amounts due under Section 7.7;
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Second:  to holders of Senior Debt to the extent required by Article 10;

Third:  to Holders of Notes for amounts due and unpaid on the Notes for principal and interest, ratably, without preference or priority of any
kind, according to the amounts due and payable on the Notes for principal and interest, respectively; and

Fourth:  to the Company or to such party as a court of competent jurisdiction shall direct.

The Trustee may fix a record date and payment date for any payment to the Certificateholders pursuant to this Section 6.10.

Section 6.11.     Undertaking for Costs.

In any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by
it as a Trustee, a court in its discretion may assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, against any party litigant in the suit, having due
regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by the party litigant.  This Section does not apply to a suit by the Trustee, a suit by a
Holder pursuant to Section 6.7, or a suit by Holders of more than 10% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes.

                            ARTICLE 7                           

TRUSTEE

Section 7.1     Duties of Trustee.

(a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and power vested in it by this Indenture,
and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his or her
own affairs.

(b) Except during the continuance of an Event of Default:

(1)       The Trustee need perform only those duties that are specifically set forth in this Indenture and no duties, covenants,
responsibilities or obligations shall be implied in this Indenture against the Trustee; and

(2)       In the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness
of the opinions expressed therein, upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of
this Indenture.  However, the Trustee shall examine the certificates and opinions to determine whether or not they conform on
their face to the requirements of this Indenture.
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(c) The Trustee may not be relieved from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act, or its own willful misconduct, 
except that:

(d) Every provision of this Indenture that in any way relates to the Trustee is subject to paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this Section and to the
provisions of the TIA.

(e) The Trustee may refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or power unless it receives indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss,
liability or expense.

(f) The Trustee shall not be liable for interest on any money received by it except as the Trustee may expressly agree with the
Company.  Money held in trust by the Trustee need not be segregated from the other funds except to the extent required by law.

(g) The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of
the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding given pursuant to Section 6.5 of this Indenture, relating to
the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the
Trustee under this Indenture.

Section 7.2.     Rights of Trustee.

(a) The Trustee may conclusively rely on any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper
person.  The Trustee need not investigate any fact or matter stated in the document.

(b) Before the Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may require an Officer’s Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel.  The Trustee shall not be
liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in reliance of the Officer’s Certificate or Opinion of Counsel.

(c) The Trustee may act through agents and shall not be responsible for the misconduct or negligence of any agent appointed with due care.

(1)       This paragraph does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this Section;

(2)       The Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer, unless it is proved that
the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts;

(3)       The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in accordance with a direction
received by it pursuant to Section 6.5; and

(4)       The Trustee shall not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of
any of its duties under this Indenture or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it has reasonable grounds to believe
repayment of the funds or adequate indemnity against the risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it.
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(d) The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith which it believes to be authorized or within its rights or
powers.

(e) In no event shall the Trustee be responsible or liable for special, indirect, punitive or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever
(including, but not limited to, loss of profit) irrespective of whether the Trustee has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless
of the form of action.

(f) The Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any Default or Event of Default unless a Responsible Officer of the Trustee has actual
knowledge thereof or unless written notice of any event which is in fact such a default is received by the Trustee at the Corporate Trust Office of the
Trustee, and such notice references the Notes and this Indenture.

(g) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the performance of its powers and duties hereunder.

(h) The Trustee may request that the Company deliver a certificate setting forth the names of individuals and/or titles of officers authorized at
such time to take specified actions pursuant to this Indenture.

(i) The Trustee will not be required to investigate any facts or matters stated in any document, but the Trustee, in its discretion, may make such
further inquiry or investigation into such facts or matters as it may see fit.  If the Trustee shall determine to make such further inquiry or investigation, it
shall be entitled to examine the books, records and premises of the Company, personally or by agent or attorney at the sole cost of the Company and
shall incur no liability or additional liability of any kind by reason of such inquiry or investigation.

Section 7.3.     Individual Rights of Trustee.

Subject to Section 7.1:

Section 7.4.     Trustee’s Disclaimer.

The Trustee makes no representation at to the validity or adequacy of this Indenture or the Notes, it shall not be accountable for the Company’s
use of the proceeds from the Notes, and it shall not be responsible for any statement in the Notes.

(a)       The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Notes and may otherwise deal with
the Company or an Affiliate with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee.  Any Agent may do the same with like
rights.

(b)       The Company shall notify the Trustee if the Notes become listed on any securities exchange or of any delisting thereof and
the Trustee shall comply with Section 313(d) of the TIA.
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Section 7.5.     Notice of Defaults.

If a Default or Event of Default occurs and is continuing and if it is known to the Trustee, the Trustee shall mail to Holders of the Notes a notice
of the Default or Event of Default within ninety (90) days after it occurs.  Except in the case of a Default or Event of Default in payment on a Note, the
Trustee may withhold the notice if and so long as a committee of its Trust Officers in good faith determines that withholding the notice is in the interests
of Holders of the Notes.

Section 7.6.     Reports by Trustee to Holders.

Within 60 days after the reporting date stated in Section 11.10, the Trustee shall mail to Certificateholders a brief report dated as of such
reporting date that complies with Section 313(a) of the TIA.  The Trustee also shall comply with Section 313(b)(2) of the TIA.

A copy of each report at the time of its mailing to Certificateholders shall be filed with the SEC and each stock exchange on which the Notes
are listed.  The Company shall notify the Trustee when the Notes are listed on any stock exchange.

Section 7.7.     Compensation and Indemnity.

The Company shall pay to the Trustee from time to time reasonable compensation for its services.  The Trustee’s compensation shall not be
limited by any law on compensation of a trustee of an express trust.  The Company shall reimburse the Trustee upon request for all reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses incurred by it.  Such expenses shall include the reasonable compensation and out-of-pocket expenses of the Trustee’s agents and
counsel.

The Company shall indemnify the Trustee or any predecessor Trustee and each of their respective officers, agents (including, for purposes of
illustration and not of limitation, any custodian and other Person employed to act hereunder by the Trustee), directors and employees for, and to hold
them harmless against any and all loss, damage, claims, liability or expense incurred by it arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or
administration of the trust or trusts hereunder, including the costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim (whether asserted by the Company,
or any Holder or any other Person) or liability in connection with the exercise or performance of any of its powers or duties hereunder, or in connection
with enforcing the provisions of this Section, except as set forth in the next two paragraphs.  The Trustee shall notify the Company promptly of any
claim for which it may seek indemnity.  The Company shall defend the claim and the Trustee shall cooperate in the defense.

The Trustee may have separate counsel, and the Company shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of such counsel.  The Company need not
pay for any settlement made without its consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

The Company need not reimburse any expense or indemnify against any loss or liability incurred by the Trustee through gross negligence,
willful misconduct or bad faith.

To secure the Company’s payment of obligations in this Section, the Trustee shall have a lien prior to the Notes on all money or property held
or collected by the Trustee, including that held in trust to pay principal and interest on the Notes.
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When the Trustee incurs expenses or renders services after an Event of Default specified in Section 6.1(d) or (e) occurs, the expenses and the
compensation for the services are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any Bankruptcy Law.

Section 7.8     Replacement of Trustee.

A resignation or removal of the Trustee and appointment of a successor Trustee shall become effective only upon the successor Trustee’s
acceptance of appointment as provided in this Section.

The Trustee may resign by so notifying the Company.  The Trustee may be removed with respect to the Notes by the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the then outstanding Demand Notes by so notifying the Trustee and the Company.  The Company may remove the Trustee if:

If the Trustee resigns or is removed or if a vacancy exists in the office of the Trustee for any reason, the Company shall promptly appoint a
successor Trustee.  Within one year after the successor Trustee takes office, a successor Trustee may be appointed by act of the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the then outstanding Notes to replace the successor Trustee appointed by the Company.

If a successor Trustee does not take office within sixty (60) days after the retiring Trustee resigns or is removed, the retiring Trustee, the
Company or the Holders of at least 10% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the
appointment of a successor Trustee.

If the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.10, any Holder of the Notes may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the
Trustee and the appointment of a successor Trustee.

A successor Trustee shall deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Trustee and to the Company.  Thereupon the resignation
or removal of the retiring Trustee shall become effective, and the successor Trustee shall have all the rights, powers and duties of the Trustee under this
Indenture.  The successor Trustee shall mail a notice of its succession to the Holders of Notes.  The retiring Trustee shall promptly transfer all property
held by it as Trustee to the successor Trustee, subject to the lien provided for in Section 7.7.

(a)       the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.10;

(b)       the Trustee is adjudged a bankrupt or an insolvent or any order for relief is entered with respect to the Trustee under any
Bankruptcy Law;

(c)       a Custodian or public officer takes charge of the Trustee or its property;

(d)       the Trustee becomes incapable of action; or

(e)       in the judgment of the Company, comparable services are available from another entity qualifying under Section 7.10 at a
materially lower cost to the Company.
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Section 7.9.     Successor Trustee by Merger, Etc.

If the Trustee consolidates, merges or converts into, or transfers all or substantially all of its corporate trust business to another corporation, the
successor corporation without any further act shall be the successor Trustee.

Section 7.10.     Eligibility; Disqualification.

This Indenture shall always have a Trustee who satisfies the requirements of Sections 310(a)(1), 310(a)(2) and 310(a)(5) of the TIA.  The
Trustee shall always have a combined capital and surplus as stated in the TIA.  The Trustee is subject to Section 310(b) of the TIA.  Section 11.10 lists
any excluded indenture or trust agreement.

Section 7.11.     Preferential Collection of Claims Against Company.

The Trustee is subject to Section 311(a) of the TIA, excluding any creditor relationship described in Section 311(b) of the TIA.  A Trustee who
has resigned or been removed shall be subject to Section 311(a) of the TIA to the extent indicated therein.

                              ARTICLE 8                                

DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE; DEFEASANCE

Section 8.1.     Termination of Company’s Obligations.

This Indenture shall cease to be of further effect (except that the Company’s obligations under Sections 7.7 and 8.5 shall survive) when all
outstanding Notes theretofore issued have been identified to the Trustee for cancellation.  In addition, the Company may terminate its obligations under
this Indenture if:

However, the Company’s obligations in Sections 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8, 4.1, 6.7, 6.8 and 8.5, and in Article 10, shall survive until no Notes are
outstanding.  Thereafter, only the Company’s obligations in Sections 7.7 and 8.5 shall survive.

(a)      the Notes then outstanding are to be called for redemption within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for giving the
notice of redemption; and

(b)       the Company irrevocably deposits with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders, money or U.S. Government Obligations, or
a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient (without reinvestment) to pay the principal and interest on the Notes on
the stated date for payment or on the redemption date.  The Company may make the deposit only during the one-year period and only
if Article 11 permits it.
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If a deposit is made pursuant to this Section 8.1, the Trustee, upon request, shall acknowledge in writing the discharge of the Company’s
obligations under this Indenture, except for those surviving obligations specified above.

In order to have money available on a payment date to pay principal and interest on the Notes, the U.S. Government Obligations shall be
payable as to principal and interest on or before such payment date in such amounts as will provide the necessary money.  U.S. Government Obligations
shall not be callable at the issuer’s option.

“U.S. Government Obligations” means direct obligations of the United States of America for the payment of which the full faith and credit of
the United States of America is pledged.

Section 8.2.     Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance.

(a) The Company may, at its option and at any time, elect to have either paragraph (b) or (c) below be applied to all outstanding Notes upon 
compliance with the conditions set forth in Section 8.3.

(b) Upon the Company’s exercise under Section 8.2(a) hereof of the option applicable to this Section 8.2(b), the Company shall, subject to the
satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.3, be deemed to have been discharged from their obligations with respect to all outstanding Notes on
the date the conditions set forth below are satisfied (hereinafter, “Legal Defeasance”).  For this purpose, Legal Defeasance means that the Company
shall be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire Debt represented by the outstanding Notes, which shall thereafter be deemed to be “outstanding”
only for the purposes of Section 8.4 hereof and the other Sections of this Indenture referred to in (i) and (ii) below, and to have satisfied all its other
obligations under such Notes and this Indenture (and the Trustee, on demand of and at the expense of the Company, shall execute proper instruments
acknowledging the same), except for the following provisions which shall survive until otherwise terminated or discharged hereunder:

Subject to compliance with this Article 8, the Company may exercise its option under this Section 8.2(b) notwithstanding the prior exercise of its option
under Section 8.2(c) hereof.

 (1) the rights of Holders of outstanding Notes to receive, solely from the trust fund described in Section 8.4  hereof, and as more fully set 
forth in such Section 8.4, payments in respect of the principal of and
intereston such Demand Notes when such payments are due;

 (2) the Company’s obligations with respect to such Notes under Article 2 and Section 4.1 hereof;

 (3) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustee hereunder and the Company’s obligations in connection therewith; 
and

 (4) the provisions of this Article 8 applicable to Legal Defeasance.
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(c) Upon the Company’s exercise under paragraph (a) hereof of the option applicable to this paragraph (c), the Company shall, subject to the
satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.3 hereof, be released from their respective obligations under the covenants contained in Sections 4.2
and 4.4 hereof with respect to the outstanding Notes on and after the date the conditions set forth in Section 8.3 are satisfied (hereinafter, “Covenant
Defeasance”), and the Notes shall thereafter be deemed not “outstanding” for the purposes of any direction, waiver, consent or declaration or act of
Holders (and the consequences of any thereof) in connection with such covenants, but shall continue to be deemed “outstanding” for all other purposes
hereunder (it being understood that such Notes shall not be deemed outstanding for accounting purposes).  For this purpose, Covenant Defeasance means
that, with respect to the outstanding Notes, the Company may omit to comply with and shall have no liability in respect of any term, condition or
limitation set forth in any such covenant, whether directly or indirectly, by reason of any reference elsewhere herein to any such covenant or by reason of
any reference in any such covenant to any other provision herein or in any other document and such omission to comply shall not constitute an Event of
Default under Section 6.1 hereof, but, except as specified above, the remainder of this Indenture and such Notes shall be unaffected thereby.  In addition,
upon the Company’s exercise under paragraph (a) hereof of the option applicable to this paragraph (c), subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set
forth in Section 8.3 hereof, clause (3) of Section 6.1 hereof shall not constitute an Event of Default.

Section 8.3.     Conditions to Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance.

The following shall be the conditions to the application of either Section 8.2(b) or 8.2(c) hereof to the outstanding Notes:

in either case to the effect that, and based thereon, the Holders will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income
tax purposes as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same amounts, in the
same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;

(a)       the Company must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders, money or U.S. Government
Obligations, or a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient (without reinvestment), in the opinion of a
nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants selected by the Company, to pay the principal and interest on
the Notes on the stated date for payment or on the redemption date;

(b)       in the case of Legal Defeasance, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the United States
confirming that:

(a)       the Company has received from, or there has been published by the Internal Revenue Service, a ruling, or

(b)       since the date of this Indenture, there has been a change in the applicable U.S. federal income tax law,
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Section 8.4.     Application of Trust Money.

The Trustee shall hold in trust money or U.S. Government Obligations deposited with it pursuant to Section 8.1.  It shall apply the deposited
money and the money from U.S. Government Obligations through the Paying Agent and in accordance with this Indenture to the payment of principal
and interest on the Notes.  Money and Notes so held in trust are not subject to Article 10.

Section 8.5.     Repayment to the Company.

The Trustee and the Paying Agent shall promptly pay to the Company upon request any money or Notes held by them at any time in excess of
amounts required to be so held hereunder.

The Trustee and the Paying Agent shall pay to the Company upon request any money held by them for the payment of principal and interest
that remains unclaimed for two years.  After payment to the Company, Certificateholders entitled to the money must look to the Company for payment
as general creditors unless an applicable abandoned property law designates another person.

(c)       in the case of Covenant Defeasance, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the United
States reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that the Holders will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S.
federal income tax purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the
same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not
occurred;

(d)       no Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit;

(e)       the Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a Default under, this
Indenture or a default under any other material agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a
party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound;

(f)       the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate stating that the deposit was not made by it with the
intent of preferring the Holders over any other creditors of the Company or with the intent of defeating, hindering, delaying or
defrauding any other of its creditors; and

(g)       the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that the
conditions provided for in clauses (a) through (f) of this Section 8.3 (in the case of the Officers’ Certificate), as applicable,
and clauses (b), if applicable, and/or (c) and (e) of this Section 8.3 (in the case of the Opinion of Counsel) have been complied
with.
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                             ARTICLE 9                                

AMENDMENTS

Section 9.1.     Without Consent of Holders.

The Company and the Trustee may amend this Indenture or the Notes without the consent of the Holders of the Notes by Company Order:

After an amendment under this Section becomes effective, the Company shall mail to the Holders of the Notes affected by such amendment a 
notice briefly describing the amendment.

Section 9.2.     With Consent of Holders.

The Company and the Trustee may amend this Indenture or the Notes with the written consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal
amount of the then outstanding Notes.  However, without the consent of each Certificateholder affected, an amendment under this Section may not:

An amendment under this Section may not make any change that adversely affects the rights under Article 10 of any holder of an issue of
Senior Debt unless the holders of the issue pursuant to its terms consent to the change or the change is otherwise permissible.

(a)       to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency;

(b)       to comply with Section 5.1;

(c)       to provide for certificated Notes in addition to uncertificated Notes;

(d)       to increase the aggregate principal amount of Notes which may be delivered under this Indenture;

(e)       to make any change that does not adversely affect the legal rights hereunder of the Holders of the Notes; or

(f)       to comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of this Indenture with the TIA.

(a)       reduce the amount of Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment;

(b)       reduce the principal of or change the demand payment nature of any Note;

(c)       make any Note payable in money other than that stated in such Note;

(d)       make any change in Section 6.4, Section 6.7 or Section 9.2(2); or

(e)       make any change in Article 10 that adversely affects the rights of any Certificateholder.
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The Company may, but shall not be obligated to, fix a record date for the purpose of determining the Persons entitled to consent to any
indenture supplemental hereto.  If a record date is fixed, the Holders on such record date, or their duly designated proxies, and only such Persons, shall
be entitled to consent to such supplemental indenture, whether or not such Holders remain Holders after such record date; provided, that unless such
consent shall have become effective by virtue of the requisite percentage having been obtained prior to the date which is 90 days after such record date,
any such consent previously given shall automatically and without further action by any Holder be cancelled and of no further effect.

After an amendment under this Section becomes effective, the Company shall mail to the Holders of the Notes affected by such amendment a
notice briefly describing the amendment.

Section 9.3.     Compliance with Trust Indenture Act.

Every amendment to this Indenture or the Notes shall be set forth in a supplemental indenture that complies with the TIA as then in effect.

Section 9.4.     Revocation and Effect of Consents.

Until an amendment or waiver becomes effective, a consent to it by a Holder of a Note is a continuing consent by the Holder and every
subsequent Holder of a Note or portion of a Note that evidences the same debt as the consenting Holder’s Note, even if notification of the consent is not
made on any Note.  However, any such Holder or subsequent Holder may revoke the consent as to his or her Note or portion of a Note if the Trustee
receives the notice of revocation before the date the amendment or waiver becomes effective.  An amendment or waiver becomes effective in accordance
with its terms and thereafter binds every Holder of the Notes.

Section 9.5.     Notation on or Exchange of Notes.

The Company may place an appropriate notation about an amendment or waiver on any Note (or confirmation thereof) thereafter
authenticated.  The Company in exchange for all Notes may issue and the Trustee shall authenticate, if the Trustee is acting as Registrar, new Notes that
reflect the amendment or waiver.

Section 9.6.     Trustee Protected.

The Trustee shall sign all supplemental indentures and shall be fully protected in doing so, except that the Trustee need not sign any
supplemental indenture that adversely affects its rights.  The Trustee shall be entitled to receive, and shall be fully protected in relying on, an Opinion of
Counsel and an Officers’ Certificate, which shall be provided at the expense of the Company.
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                                         ARTICLE 10                                           

SUBORDINATION

Section 10.1.     Agreement to Subordinate.

The Company agrees, and each Certificateholder by accepting a Note agrees, that the indebtedness evidenced by the Note is subordinated in
right of payment, to the extent and in the manner provided in this Article, to the prior payment in full of all Senior Debt, and that the subordination is for
the benefit of the holders of Senior Debt.

Section 10.2.     Certain Definitions.

“Debt” means any indebtedness, contingent or otherwise, in respect of borrowed money (whether or not the recourse of the lender is to the
whole of the assets of the Company or only to a portion thereof), or evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit, or
representing the balance deferred and unpaid on the purchase price of any property or interest therein, except any such balance that constitutes a trade
payable, and shall include any guarantee of any indebtedness described above.

“Representative” means the indenture trustee or other trustee, agent or representative for an issue of Senior Debt.

“Senior Debt” means all Debt (present or future) created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed by the Company (and all renewals, extensions or
refundings thereof), except such Debt that by its terms expressly provides that such Debt is not senior or superior in right of payment to the
Notes.  Senior Debt shall include without limitation (i) the guarantee by the Company of any Debt of any other person (including, without limitation,
subordinated Debt of another person), unless such Debt is expressly subordinated to any other Debt of the Company, (ii) all Debt of the Company
maintained with banks and finance companies and any line of credit to be obtained by the Company in the future and (iii) all Debt of the Company
obtained from Affiliates.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Senior Debt shall not include Debt of the Company to any of its subsidiaries
or under the Notes.

Section 10.3.     Liquidation; Dissolution; Bankruptcy.

Upon any distribution to creditors of the Company in a liquidation or dissolution of the Company or in a bankruptcy, reorganization,
insolvency, receivership or similar proceeding relating to the Company or its property:

(a)       holders of Senior Debt shall be entitled to receive payment in full in cash of the principal and interest (including interest
accruing after the commencement of any such proceeding) to the date of payment, on the Senior Debt before
Certificateholders shall be entitled to receive any payment of principal and interest on Notes; and

(b)       until the Senior Debt is paid in full in cash, any distribution to which Certificateholders would be entitled but for this Article
shall be made to holders of Senior Debt as their interest may appear, except that Holders of Notes may receive Notes that are
subordinated to Senior Debt to at least the same extent as such Notes.
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Section 10.4.     Default on Senior Debt.

Upon the maturity of any Senior Debt by lapse of time, acceleration or otherwise, all such Senior Debt shall first be paid in full, or such
payment duly provided for in cash or in a manner satisfactory to the holders of such Senior Debt, before any payment is made by the Company or any
person acting on behalf of the Company on account of the principal and interest on the Notes.

The Company may not pay principal and interest on the Notes and may not acquire Notes for cash or property other than capital stock of the
Company if:

The Company may resume payments on the Notes and may acquire them when:

Section 10.5.     Acceleration of Notes.

If payment of the Notes is accelerated because of an Event of Default, the Company shall promptly notify holders of Senior Debt of the
acceleration.  The Company may pay Holders of the Notes when one hundred twenty (120) days pass after the acceleration occurs if this Article permits
the payment at that time.

Section 10.6.     When Distribution Must Be Paid Over.

In the event that, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 10.4, the Company shall make any payment to the Trustee on account of the
principal and interest on the Notes, two (2) business days after the happening of a default in payment of the principal or interest on Senior Debt, or two
(2) business days after receipt by the Company and the Trustee of written notice as provided in Sections 10.4 and 10.12 of an Event of Default or an
event which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute an Event of Default with respect to any Senior Debt, then, unless
and until such Default or Event of Default shall have been cured or waived or shall have ceased to exist, such payment shall be held by the Trustee, in
trust for the benefit of, and shall be paid forthwith over and delivered to, the holders of Senior Debt (pro rata as to each of such holders on the basis of
the respective amounts of Senior Debt held by them) or their representative or the trustee under the indenture or other agreement (if any) pursuant to
which Senior Debt may have been issued, as their respective interests may appear, for application to the payment of all Senior Debt remaining unpaid to
the extent necessary to pay all Senior Debt in full in accordance with its terms, after giving effect to any concurrent payment or distribution to or for the
holders of Senior Debt.

(a)       a default on Senior Debt occurs and is continuing that permits holders of such Senior Debt to accelerate its maturity, and

(b)       the default is the subject of judicial proceedings or the Company receives a notice of the default from a person who may give
it pursuant to Section 10.12.  If the Company receives any such notice, a similar notice received within nine (9) months
thereafter relating to the same default on the same issue of Senior Debt shall not be effective for purposes of this Section.

(a)       the default is cured or waived, or

(b)       one hundred twenty (120) days pass after the notice is given if the default is not the subject of judicial proceedings, if this
Article otherwise permits the payment or acquisition at that time.
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If a distribution is made to the Holders of Notes that because of this Article should not have been made to them, the Holders who receive the
distribution shall hold it in trust for holders of Senior Debt and pay it over to them as their interests may appear.

Section 10.7.     Notice by Company.

The Company shall promptly notify the Trustee and the Paying Agent of any facts known to the Company that would cause a payment of
principal and interest on the Notes to violate this Article, but failure to give such notice shall not affect the subordination of the Notes to the Senior Debt
provided in this Article.  Nothing in this Article 10 shall apply to claims of, or payments to, the Trustee under or pursuant to Section 6.7.

Section 10.8.     Subrogation.

After all Senior Debt is paid in full and until the Notes are paid in full, Holders of the then outstanding Notes shall be subrogated to the rights of
holders of Senior Debt to receive distributions applicable to Senior Debt to the extent distributions otherwise payable to such Holders have been applied
to the payment of Senior Debt.  A distribution made under this Article to holders of Senior Debt which otherwise would  have been made to
Certificateholders is not, as between the Company and Certificateholders, a payment by the Company on Senior Debt.

Section 10.9.     Relative Rights.

This Article defines the relative rights of Certificateholders and holders of Senior Debt.  Nothing said in this indenture shall:

(a)       impair, as between the Company and Certificateholders, the obligation of the Company, which is absolute and unconditional,
to pay principal of and interest on the Notes in accordance with their terms;

(b)       affect the relative rights of Certificateholders and creditors of the Company other than holders of Senior Debt; or

(c)       prevent the Trustee or any Certificateholder from exercising its available remedies upon a Default or Event of Default, subject
to the rights of holders of Senior Debt to receive distributions otherwise payable to Certificateholders.
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If the Company fails because of this Article to pay principal and interest on a Note on the due date, the failure is still a Default or Event of
Default.

Section 10.10.     Subordination may not be Impaired by Company.

No right of any holder of Senior Debt to enforce the subordination of the indebtedness evidenced by the Notes shall be impaired by any act or
failure to act by the Company or by its failure to comply with this Indenture.

Section 10.11.     Distribution or Notice to Representative.

Whenever a distribution is to be made or a notice given to holders of Senior Debt, the distribution may be made and the notice given to their
Representative.

Section 10.12.     Rights of Trustee and Paying Agent.

The Trustee or Paying Agent may continue to make payments on the Notes until it receives notice of facts that would cause a payment of
principal and interest on the Notes to violate this Article.  Only the Company, a Representative or a holder of an issue of Senior Debt that has no
Representative may give the notice.

The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may hold Senior Debt with same rights it would have if it were not Trustee.  Any Agent may
do the same with like rights.

Section 10.13.     Trust Moneys Not Subordinated.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, payments from money or the proceeds of U.S. Government Obligations held in trust
under Article 8 by the Trustee for the payment of principal of and interest on the Notes shall not be subordinated to the prior payment of any Senior Debt
or subject to the restrictions set forth in this Article 10, and none of the Holders of the Notes shall be obligated to pay over any such amount to the
Company or any holder of Senior Debt of the Company or any other creditor of the Company.

Section 10.14.     Trustee Not Fiduciary for Holders of Senior Debt.

The Trustee shall not be deemed to owe any fiduciary duty to the holders of Senior Debt and shall not be liable to any such holders if it shall
mistakenly pay over or distribute to Holders of the Notes or the Company or any other person, money or assets to which any holders of Senior Debt of
the Company shall be entitled by virtue of this Article 10 or otherwise.
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                                          ARTICLE 11                                           

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1.     TIA Controls.

If any provision of this Indenture limits, qualifies, or conflicts with another provision which is required to be included in this Indenture by the
TIA, the required provision shall control.

Section 11.2.     Notices.

Any notice by the Company or the Trustee to the other is duly given if in writing and delivered in person or mailed by first-class mail to the
other’s address stated in Section 11.10.  The Company or the Trustee by notice to the other may designate additional or different addresses for
subsequent notices or communications.

Any notice to a Certificateholder shall be mailed by first-class mail to the address shown on the register kept by the Registrar or such other
name and addresses as provided to the Trustee pursuant to Sections 313(c)(2) and (3) of the TIA.  Failure to mail a notice or communication to a
Certificateholder or any defect in it shall not affect its sufficiency with respect to other Certificateholders.

If a notice is mailed in the manner provided above within the time prescribed, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee receives it.

If the Company mails a notice to Certificateholders, it shall mail a copy to the Trustee and each Agent at the same time.

All other notices shall be in writing.

Section 11.3.     Communication by Holders With Other Holders.

Certificateholders may communicate pursuant to Section 312(b) of the TIA with other Certificateholders with respect to their rights under this
Indenture or the Notes.  The Company, the Trustee, the Registrar and anyone else shall have the protection of Section 312(c) of the TIA.

Section 11.4.     Certificate and Opinion as to Conditions Precedent.

Upon any request or application by the Company to the Trustee to take any action under this Indenture, the Company shall furnish to the
Trustee:

(a)       an Officer’s Certificate stating that, in the opinion of the signers, all conditions precedent, if any, provided for in this
Indenture relating to the proposed action and the other items detailed in Section 11.5 have been complied with; and
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Section 11.5.     Statements Required in Certificate or Opinion.

Each certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a condition or covenant provided for in this Indenture shall include:

Section 11.6.     Rules by Trustee and Agents.

The Trustee may make reasonable rules for action by or a meeting of Certificateholders.  The Registrar or Paying Agent may make reasonable
rules and set reasonable requirements for its functions.

Section 11.7.     Legal Holidays.

A “Legal Holiday” is a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions are not required to be open.  If a payment date is a Legal
Holiday at a place of payment, payment may be made at that place on the next succeeding day that is not a Legal Holiday, and no interest shall accrue
for the intervening period.

Section 11.8.     No Recourse Against Others.

All liability described in the Notes of any member, manager, director, officer, employee or stockholder, as such, of the Company and the
Trustee is waived and released. Each Holder by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the
consideration for issuance of the Notes.

Section 11.9.     Duplicate Originals.

The parties may sign any number of copies of this Indenture.  One signed copy is enough to prove this Indenture.

(b)       an Opinion of Counsel stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all such conditions precedent and the other items detailed
in Section 11.5 have been complied with.

(a)       a statement that the person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition;

(b)       a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions
contained in such certificate or opinion are based;

(c)       a statement that, in the opinion of such person, he or she has made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable
him or her to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been complied with; and

(d)       a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such person, such condition or covenant has been complied with.
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Section 11.10.     Variable Provisions.

The Company initially appoints itself as Paying Agent and Registrar.

The first Officer's Certificate pursuant to Section 4.3 shall be for the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2012.

The reporting date for Section 7.6 is May 15 of each year.  The first reporting date is May 15, 2013.

The Company’s address is:

12276 San Jose Boulevard
Building 100, Suite 108
Jacksonville, Florida 32223
Attention:  Dan Wallach

The Trustee’s address is:

U.S. Bank National Association
Global Corporate Trust Services
1349 West Peachtree Street, Suite 1050
Atlanta, Georgia 30309
Attention: Account Manager - Shepherd’s Finance, LLC

Section 11.11.     Governing Law.

The internal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania shall govern this Indenture and the Notes.

Section 11.12.     No Adverse Interpretation of Other Agreements.

This Indenture may not be used to interpret another indenture, loan or debt agreement of the Company or a Subsidiary.  Any such indenture,
loan or debt agreement may not be used to interpret this Indenture.

Section 11.13.     Successors.

All agreements of the Company in this Indenture and the Notes shall bind its successor.  All agreements of the Trustee in this Indenture shall
bind its successor.

Section 11.14.     Severability.

In case any provision in this Indenture or the Notes shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto hereby execute this Indenture as of the date first written.

COMPANY:

SHEPHERD’S FINANCE, LLC
By: /s/  Dan Wallach
Its: CEO

TRUSTEE:

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By: /s/ William B. Echols
Its: Vice President
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EXHIBIT A

FORM OF FIXED RATE SUBORDINATED NOTE

OF

SHEPHERD’S FINANCE, LLC



Fixed Rate Subordinated Note

___________ __, 2012

Subject to the restrictions in Section 6 below, ___________________________________from the date hereof, Shepherd’s Finance, LLC (the
“Company”) promises to pay ___________________________ DOLLARS at the main office of the Company, 3508 Washington Road, McMurray,
Pennsylvania, 15317, and to pay interest thereon at the rate of  ____% (percent) per annum, in accordance with Section 1 below.

This is one of a duly authorized issue of Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes of the Company (the “Notes”) issued under and subject in all respects
to the terms of an Indenture dated as of October 4, 2012 (the “Indenture”), between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the
“Trustee”).  Reference is hereby made to the Indenture and all supplemental indentures for a statement of the respective rights of the Company, the
Trustee, the agents of the Company and the Trustee and the holders of the Notes.  All capitalized terms used, but not defined, in this Note have the
meanings assigned to them in the Indenture.  No reference herein to the Indenture and no provision of this Note or of the Indenture shall alter or impair
the obligation of the Company, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of and interest on this Note in the manner herein prescribed.

1.           Interest.  Interest will be calculated based on the actual number of days the Note is outstanding based on a 365/366 day year.  Interest
will be earned daily and payable monthly or at maturity at the holder’s request.  If the holder elects to receive interest at maturity rather than monthly,
interest will be compounded monthly.  If any payment of the Note is due on a Legal Holiday, then the holder will not be entitled to payment of the
amount due until the following day that is not a Legal Holiday, and no interest will be due as a result of such delay.  If the holder elects to receive
interest monthly, interest will be paid on the first business day (not a Legal Holiday) of every month (each an “Interest Payment Date”).  The first
Interest Payment Date will be the month following the month of the Date of Issue, except that if a Note is issued within the last 10 days preceding an
Interest Payment Date, the first interest payment will be made on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.  No payments of interest under fifty dollars
will be made, with any interest payment under fifty dollars accruing and earning interest on a monthly compounding basis until the payment due is at
least fifty dollars on an Interest Payment Date.

2.           Redemption by Company.  Subject to the restrictions of Section 6 below and in accordance with the procedures set forth in Article 3 of
the Indenture, this Note may be redeemed by the Company prior to maturity for a redemption price equal to the principal amount, plus any unpaid
interest thereon to the date of redemption.  Notice of redemption shall be given by mail to the holder of this Note (the “Noteholder”) at his last address as
it appears on the records of the Company not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption.  Once notice of redemption is
mailed, Notes called for redemption become due and payable on the date of redemption set forth in the notice of redemption at the redemption price.  On
or before the redemption date, the Company shall set aside money sufficient to pay the redemption price of all Notes to be redeemed on that date.

No. ____  McMurray, Pennsylvania



3.           Redemption at Request of Noteholder.  BEGINNING 180 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUANCE DATE, AT THE WRITTEN REQUEST
OF THE NOTEHOLDER DELIVERED TO THE COMPANY, THE COMPANY MAY, AT ITS OPTION AND SUBJECT TO THE RESTRICTIONS
OF SECTION 6 BELOW, BUT SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED TO, REDEEM THIS NOTE for a redemption price equal to the principal amount plus an
amount equal to the unpaid interest thereon for this Note, as adjusted, at the stated rate to the redemption date minus an amount equal to the interest that
would be payable thereon at the rate stated above for a 180-day period.

4.           Redemption Upon Death of Noteholder.  Upon the death of the Noteholder, the Company shall be required to redeem this Note at the
date of the Noteholder’s death, as requested in the manner, and subject to the limitations, set forth below.   The redemption price shall be equal to 100%
of the principal amount of the Note plus accrued interest on a daily basis to the redemption date.   Redemption of this Note shall be made as soon as
reasonably possible, based on the Company's then current case position and needs, but generally within two weeks following the receipt by the Company
or the Trustee of all of the following:

This Note shall not be entitled to redemption pursuant to this Section 4 unless the Note has been registered in the Noteholder’s name since its
Date of Issue.

Authorized representatives of the Noteholder shall include the following: executors, administrators or other legal representatives of an estate;
trustees of a trust; joint owner of the Note owned in joint tenancy or tenancy by the entirety; attorneys-in-fact; and other persons generally recognized as
having legal authority to act on behalf of another.

5.           Renewal Option at Maturity.  Between 30 and 60 days prior to the maturity date of this Note, the Company will deliver a notice of the
maturity date to the Noteholder and, if the Company is offering any renewal options and has an effective offering available, a renewal form containing
the renewal options.  The renewal form will contain the terms of Notes being offered at that time and the Noteholder may select one of the renewal
options offered.  If the Noteholder properly completes, executes and returns the renewal form at least 5 business days prior to the maturity date, the Note
will be deemed renewed under the renewal terms selected and a new Note will be issued by the Company within 5 business days after the original
maturity date.  If the Noteholder does not return a properly completed renewal form within the time period prescribed herein or there are no renewal
options offered by the Company, then the Company will pay the principal amount plus any unpaid interest to the Noteholder at maturity.

(a)       a written request for redemption signed by a duly authorized representative of the Noteholder, which request shall set forth the name of
the Noteholder, the date of death of the Noteholder and the principal amount of this Note;

(b)       evidence satisfactory to the Trustee and the Company of the death of the Noteholder and the authority of the representative to such
extent as may be required by the Trustee or Company.



6.           Subordination.  This Note is subordinated, in all rights to payment and in all other respects, to Senior Debt.  Senior Debt means all
Debt (present or future) created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed by the Company (and all renewals, extensions or refundings thereof), except such Debt
that by its terms expressly provides that such Debt is not senior or superior in right of payment to the Notes.  Senior Debt shall include without limitation
(i) the guarantee by the Company of any Debt of any other person (including, without limitation, subordinated Debt of another person), unless such Debt
is expressly subordinated to any other Debt of the Company, (ii) all Debt of the Company maintained with banks and finance companies and any line of
credit to be obtained by the Company in the future and (iii) all Debt of the Company obtained from Affiliates.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, Senior Debt shall not include Debt of the Company to any of its subsidiaries or under the Notes.  Any other Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes
issued by the Company pursuant to a public or private offering thereof shall be pari passu with this Note and shall not constitute Senior Debt.  Debt
means any indebtedness, contingent or otherwise, in respect of borrowed money (whether or not the recourse of the lender is to the whole of the assets of
the Company or only to a portion thereof), or evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit, or representing the
balance deferred and unpaid on the purchase price of any property or interest therein, except any such balance that constitutes a trade payable, and shall
include any guarantee of any indebtedness described above.  The Company agrees, and the Noteholder by accepting this Note agrees, to the
subordination provisions set forth in Article 10 of the Indenture.

7.           Amendments and Waivers.  As permitted in the Indenture, the Indenture, other than the subordination provisions, may be amended and
the rights and obligations of the Company and the rights of the holders of the Notes under the Indenture modified at any time by the Company with the
consent of the Trustee and holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes. The Company and the Trustee may not modify the
Indenture without the consent of each holder affected if the modification (i) affects the terms of payment of, the principal of, or any interest on, any
Note; (ii) changes the percentage of Noteholders who consent to a waiver or modification as required; (iii) affects the subordination provisions of the
Indenture in a manner that adversely affects the right of any holder; or (iv) waives any Event of Default in the payment of principal of, or interest on, any
Note.  As permitted by the Indenture, the Trustee and holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes, on behalf of the holders of
all Notes, may waive compliance by the Company with certain provisions of the Indenture and certain past defaults under the Indenture and their
consequences, except an Event of Default in the payment of principal or of interest on the Notes.

8.           Defaults and Remedies.  If an Event of Default, as defined in the Indenture, occurs and is continuing, the principal of and accrued
interest on all Notes may be declared due and payable in the manner and with the effect provided in the Indenture. The Indenture generally provides that
an Event of Default occurs if: (i) the Company fails to pay any installment of interest on a Note when the same becomes due and payable and the failure
to pay continues for a period of thirty (30) days; (ii) the Company fails to pay the principal of any Note when the same becomes due and payable at
maturity, upon redemption or otherwise, and the failure to pay continues for a period of thirty (30) days; (iii) the Company fails to comply with any of its
other agreements in, or the provisions of, the Note or the Indenture and such failure is not cured or waived within sixty (60) days after receipt by the
Company of a specific written notice from the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes; and (iv) the
Company becomes subject to certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency.



9.           Transfer.  As provided in the Indenture, this Note is transferable only on the Note register maintained by the Registrar, upon surrender
of this Note for transfer at the office of the Registrar, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in a form satisfactory to the
Company and the Registrar duly executed by, the registered holder hereof or his attorney duly authorized in writing, a copy of which authorization must
be delivered with any such instrument of transfer, and thereupon one or more new Notes, of authorized denominations and for the same aggregate
principal amount, will be issued to the designated transferee or transferees. A service fee may be charged to replace a lost or stolen Note, to transfer this
Note or to issue a replacement payment check. The Company, the Trustee and any agent of the Company or the Trustee may treat the person in whose
name this Note is registered as the owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment as herein provided and for all other purposes, and neither the
Company, the Trustee nor any such agent shall be affected by notice to the contrary.  The Company currently serves as the Registrar and Paying Agent
for the Notes.

10.           Owners.  The registered Noteholder shall be treated as the owner of the Note for all purposes.

11.           No Recourse.  A member, manager, director, officer, employee or stockholder, as such, of the Company shall not have any liability
for any obligations of the Company under this Note or for any claim based on, or in respect of such obligations or their creation.  The Noteholder by
accepting this Note waives and releases all such liability.  The waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issue of this Note.

THIS NOTE IS NOT A BANK DEPOSIT NOR A BANK OBLIGATION AND IS NOT INSURED BY THE FDIC.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Note to be signed in its company name by an Officer at McMurray, Pennsylvania, on
the date first written above.

SHEPHERD’S FINANCE, LLC

By: 
Name 
Title 



Exhibit 10.15

First Amendment to Credit Agreement

This First Amendment to Credit Agreement (“First Amendment”), dated as of the 26th day of December 2012, by and between BENJAMIN MARCUS 
HOMES, L.L.C., a Pennsylvania limited liability company (“BMH”), INVESTOR’S MARK ACQUISITIONS, LLC (“IMA”), a Delaware limited 
liability company (each a “Borrower Party” and collectively, the “Borrower Parties”), and Mark L. Hoskins, an individual residing in the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“Hoskins”),

AND

SHEPHERD’S FINANCE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Lender”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the parties entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated December 30, 2011 (the “Credit Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the parties wish to amend the Credit Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as 
follows:

1. Defined Terms.  Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

2. Modifications.

A.    The definition of “Agreement” contained in Section 1.01 is hereby replaced with the following:  “Agreement” shall mean this Credit
Agreement, as modified by the First Amendment and any future amendments, modifications, or supplements from time to time.”

B.    The chart in Section 2.05(f) is hereby replaced with the following:

Closing Date – February 28, 2012 $5,800,000.00
March 1, 2012 – March 31, 2012 $5,700,000.00
April 1, 2012 – April 30, 2012 $5,600,000.00
May 1, 2012 – May 31, 2012 $5,500,000.00
June 1, 2012 – June 30, 2012 $5,400,000.00
July 1, 2012 – July 31, 2012 $5,300,000.00
August 1, 2012 – August 31, 2012 $5,200,000.00
September 1, 2012 – September 30, 2012 $5,100,000.00
October 1, 2012 – October 31, 2012 $5,000,000.00
November 1, 2012 – June 30, 2013 $4,900,000.00
July 1, 2013 – November 30, 2013 $4,700,000.00
December 1, 2013 – thereafter $4,500,000.00

C.    Effective as of the date of this First Amendment, there shall be no management fee associated with the development of the Tuscany
Land as contemplated by Section 2.08(b) of the Credit Agreement.  All references to a management fee and method of calculation of
same are hereby deleted from Section 2.08(b) of the Credit Agreement.



“Release Prices for lots on Tuscany Land

The Release Price for each lot, as used in section 2.05(b), shall be the higher of 1) the proceeds from the lot closing (gross selling price minus 
seller’s portion of the following: real estate commissions, title costs, recording costs and stamps), or 2) the following amounts for each lot 
number:

3. Miscellaneous.  This First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, and all other terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement not specifically 
amended by this First Amendment shall continue and remain in full force and effect.  No variation, modification or amendment to this First Amendment 
shall be deemed valid or effective unless and until it is signed by the parties hereto.  This First Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of 
which once so executed shall be deemed to be original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

D.    Section 2.08(b) is hereby further amended to acknowledge that the Lender has approved the final development budget for the
development of the Tuscany Land, which approved budget is attached as EXHIBIT A to this First Amendment.

E.    EXHIBIT D is hereby amended as follows:

1.  “Release Prices” is hereby replaced with “Release Prices for lots on Hamlets Land”.

2.  The following is hereby added to the end of EXHIBIT D:

Lot 1 $      297,500.00
Lot 2 $      233,750.00
Lot 3 $      488,750.00
Lot 4 $      340,000.00
Lot 5 $      233,750.00
Lot 6 $      233,750.00
Lot 7 $      233,750.00
Lot 8 $      250,750.00
Lot 9 $      233,750.00
Lot 10 $      276,250.00
Lot 11 $      318,750.00
Lot 12 $      382,500.00
Lot 13 $      488,750.00
Lot 14 $      187,000.00
Lot 15 $      199,750.00
Lot 16 $      212,500.00
Lot 17 $      233,750.00
Lot 18 $      170,000.00
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this First Amendment to be duly and properly executed as of the date first above written.

THE BORROWER PARTIES:

BENJAMIN MARCUS HOMES, L.L.C.

By: /s/  Mark L. Hoskins
Name: Mark L. Hoskins
Title: Manager

INVESTOR’S MARK ACQUISITIONS, LLC

By: /s/  Mark L. Hoskins
Name: Mark L. Hoskins
Title: Manager

MARK L. HOSKINS INDIVIDUALLY:

/s/  Mark L. Hoskins
Mark L. Hoskins

LENDER:

SHEPHERD’S FINANCE, LLC

By: /s/  Dan Wallach
Name: Dan Wallach
Title: Chief Executive Officer



The Guarantors join in the execution of this First Amendment to evidence their agreement to the applicable provisions of this First Amendment.

GUARANTORS:

BENJAMIN MARCUS HOMES, L.L.C.

By: /s/  Mark L. Hoskins
Name: Mark L. Hoskins
Title: Manager

INVESTOR’S MARK ACQUISITIONS, LLC

By: /s/  Mark L. Hoskins
Name: Mark L. Hoskins
Title: Manager

/s/  Mark L. Hoskins
Mark L. Hoskins



EXHIBIT A

Tuscany Budget
$ 270,000 paving (prior to final course)
$ 130,000 paving (final course
$ 1,216,000 Sopko excavation
$ (110,000) contribution from neighbor
$ 140,000 water
$ 15,000 hydrants
$ 38,500 landscaping
$ 76,000 bonding
$ 89,000 contingency
$ 41,000 permitting fees (paid)
$ 37,500 township engineering fees (outstanding)
$ 1,943,000 Budget Total

Source of Funds
$ 1,291,000 Shepherd's Finance prior to lot sales in Tuscany, assuming all lots are sold in Hamlets 1 and 2
$ 130,000 Shepherd's Finance final paving (from lot sale proceeds in Tuscany)
$ 121,000 Sopko Retainage, to be paid after third lot sale in Tuscany
$ 41,000 permitting fees (paid)
$ 26,000 Water Company Funds
$ 27,000 Retainage on Amity first course (paid after second lot sale)
$ 201,000 Sopko final payment prior to retainage won't happen until first and second lot sale
$ 38,500 No landscaping bills paid until 2nd lot sells
$ 67,500 From Mark on the initial paving bill
$ 1,943,000 Total



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

84 REPA, LLC



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Daniel M. Wallach, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiary, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit 
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 8, 2013 By: /s/ Daniel M. Wallach     
Daniel M. Wallach

Chief Executive Officer and Manager
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Shepherd’s Finance, LLC, 
(the “Company”), in connection with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2012 (the “Report”) hereby 
certifies, to his knowledge, that:

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Company.

Dated: March 8, 2013 By: /s/ Daniel M. Wallach     
Daniel M. Wallach

Chief Executive Officer and Manager
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)


